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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

Business Review and Management Discussion and
Analysis

During the year ended 31st March 2023, the Company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) recorded a consolidated
revenue of HK$75,570,000 (2022: HK$78,218,000), gross
profit of HK$16,304,000 (2022: HK$38,573,000) and loss
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$48,915,000
(2022: HK$39,232,000). The drop in gross profit was mainly
attributable to the theatrical results of a new film title released
during the year and the provision for impairment of films and
program rights, films in progress and deposits for films and
program rights amounting to approximately HK$17.5 million
(2022: HK$3.6 million). The adjusted loss excluding the losses
on revaluation of investment properties and financial assets at
fair value through profit and loss of HK$18,252,000 (2022: net
gain of HK$9,305,000) was improved from HK$48,537,000 in
2022 to HK$30,663,000 in 2023.

The contribution of revenues from the Group’s channel
operations segment for the year dropped from approximately
HK$41.3 million to approximately HK$33.7 million, which was
mainly attributable to the completion of the exclusive content
supply contract with HBO Asia in June 2021 and accordingly
the revenues of last year accounted for 3 months’ results of
which, and the channel operations segment is still the major
revenue generating segment of the Group.

Quality media content is the key for both traditional and new
media companies to compete with their rivals for viewership
and revenue. The Group, making use of its film library content,
has well positioned itself as an important content provider of
Chinese movies and drama contents to companies in both the
traditional and new media industries.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In Hong Kong, we provide a Chinese movie channel and video
on demand (“VOD”) service with hundreds of movies to TVB’s
new media platform, namely myTV SUPER, as well as its OTT
APP in PRC. In Taiwan, we provide a Chinese movie/drama
channel and VOD service to viewers through the telecom/OTT
platform of Chung Hwa Telecom Company Limited.

The media industry was facing tremendous challenge due to
the industry transformation. Despite this, our media businesses
in Hong Kong and Taiwan remained stable in terms of both
viewership and revenues during the year. We offered channels
as well as on demand services in these two markets. Viewers
could view our movies and drama series with their TV sets,
PCs, mobile phones and tablets.

In November 2021, we started to provide movie contents to
viewers via Youtube, which is one of the largest new media
platforms in the world. The results were satisfactory and we
are offering more local movies with Cantonese and Mandarin
languages to our Youtube viewers. As of March 2023, we had
over 525,000 subscribers in our Youtube services.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to explore other
opportunities to increase contributions from its channel
operations.

The contribution of revenues from the Group’s film exhibition
and film rights licensing and sublicensing segment increased
from approximately HK$12.3 million to HK$24.8 million. During
the year, two new film titles, namely “The Sparring Partner”
and “Where the Wind Blows” were theatrically released. Both
of which received a number of awards in different film festivals
and events and out of which “The Sparring Partner” received
welcoming and encouraging responses from the market.
After taking into account the theatrical results, current market
conditions and the estimated future recoverable amounts, the
Group made provision for impairment in respect of certain
of its film rights amounting to approximately HK$17.5 million
(2022: HK$3.6 million) during the year. Looking forward,
certain other titles which shootings have been completed will
also be planned to release in the forthcoming year.

ERHRE

EEE  RMBEEKBRENFERYT
AmyTV SUPERM & EIHOTTIE 12
N RERREH—REZEXHE B
HEBNE (AR B DR RBAREE
T RS AEBBBPESERMD
BERARZENOTTES @ BETRIE
HERE R B ERISAE MG AR E R
ﬁ% o

HRERITEBERE  KETXHER
EXE - BEW - FA > BHAES
B aENREXFH PR R RIEAS
MRIBE - RFIEZMETSRHEESR
RENHERY - BRAEEERK -
fEAERE - F 5 Ko F 4k B B B T AP Y

BERXLEBERE -

—E—F1+—H BMRABBEABEIX
X AMFTEEE T & 2 —YoutubeR B R 1R
HEFANR - HBERSARE - BtT;M
—EMYoutube B RIBME L EBE KL
FAMEY BE_T-_=F=8 %
&Y Youtube R 7 E # A H#8525,0004
FIBE -

REARK AEESEERESBEM
e BRHZERBEIRMAR -

REASBEZHBMEEZRERLD R
RS &2 W 5 BB £912,300,000%
TCI % 24,800,000 7T © FA + MEDET
B AKEEBR) R(EBRR)EF
bt it - EMHBEXHETRBERLE
NEBTER T ZERE - AP (ERE
BRY TS R ER - FEF I o LA RE
B -BAEMAKMGEARRAKESE -
FAAKBEREE TEZMRETIRAE
B 417,500,000 T (ZE = —4F
3,600,000 7T) « RERK « FMHEME
SERX B E R IR RT EITE 2R LBk -

Annual Report 2023 %k



6

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

Since 2018, the Group started to authorise and broadcast its
film library content through new media platforms in the PRC
and other territories, including iQiyi, Youku, Ixigua, Bilibili,
Tencent and Disneyplus to broadcast its film library content.
These cooperations further confirm the Group’s important
expansion strategy, as a content provider, of entering into
the new media market and also release the worth of our film
library. The Group will continue to seek cooperations with
other major new media platforms in order to further cultivate
the vast media market.

Besides self producing and investing, the Group also makes
use of its wide distribution network developed for years for its
business of film distribution agency. Equipped by the Group’s
film library and through the Group’s experience and network in
program sourcing, the Group is confident that it will continue
to provide high quality and customised programs to its
audiences.

The Group has started to penetrate into the China theatrical
market and established its first cinema in Tianjin since 2011.
In 2019, the Group’s cinema in Guangzhou and another 20%
equity investment in a Beijing cinema commenced operations.
The Group’s cinema are all digital and equipped with 3-D
movie broadcasting functions. Operations in cinemas,
as affected by COVID-19, were suspended time to time
during the year and accordingly revenues contributed from
this segment during the year dropped from approximately
HK$23.8 million to HK$17.1 million. During the year, provisions
for impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets amounting to approximately HK$1.5 million (2022:
HK$5.8 million) and HK$3.9 million (2022: HK$14.0 million)
were made against the cinema operation segment after taking
into account the operation scale.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In February 2022, the Group reached an agreement pursuant
to which the Group ceased to implement control on a wholly
controlled entity namely 1t AE£Z NS BT RIS B R A 7
(“dZZX”) and accordingly de-consolidated JZZX in the Group’s
accounts. JZZX also proposed a settlement plan against the
Group’s accumulated advances previously granted to JZZX.
Under the settlement plan, the accumulated advances are
to be settled by instalments and as at 31st March 2023, all
conditions in respect of the completion of the settlement plan
were fulfilled and accordingly the Group recognised an income
of approximately HK$42.5 million in respect of the amount
recovered.

As affected by COVID-19, the operating segment of concert
performance and event organisation was suspended and
did not generate revenue during the year. The segment is
expected to be re-activated and generate rewarding revenues
to the Group in the forthcoming financial year.

During the year, following the changes in the investment
market conditions, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss recorded a fair value loss of
approximately HK$3.0 million (2022: gains of HK$0.2 million).
The investment properties portfolio of the Group contributed
a loss on revaluation of approximately HK$15.3 million (2022:
gains of HK$9.2 million). Such unrealised surpluses/losses
have no effect on the Group’s cash flow.

During the past few years, COVID-19 posted unprecedented
challenges to worldwide economy, and the entertainment
industry was one of the worst hit segments. Taking into
account the recent development, the pandemic situation has
been recovered and the Group’s operations will gradually
restore to normal. Looking forward, the Group will continue to
actively seek investment opportunities that are related and/or
creating synergies to the Group’s existing and potential new
businesses and generate greatest returns for its shareholders
and reward their long-term support.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

Liquidity and financial resources

At 31st March 2023, the Group has available banking facilities
of approximately HK$38.6 million, of which approximately
HK$31.1 million were utilised. Corporate guarantees executed
by the Company and certain of the Group’s deposits and
properties with aggregate net book values of approximately
HK$93.2 million were pledged to banks to secure banking
facilities. The Group’s gearing ratio of 38.1% as at 31st March
2023 was based on the total of bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$126.1 million (of which HK$24.4 million,
HK$97.2 million and HK$4.5 million are repayable within
one year, in the second year and in the third to fifth year
respectively) and the shareholders’ funds of approximately
HK$331.2 million. The Group’s bank balances and borrowings
are primarily denominated in HK$, RMB and NTD. The Group
will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely. During the
year ended 31st March 2023, the Group did not engage in
any derivatives activities and did not commit to any financial
instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency.

At 31st March 2023, the Group had commitments in respect
of films and program rights amounting to approximately
HK$48.3 million. The commitments will be financed by the
Group’s internal resources and banking and other available
facilities.

Employees

At 31st March 2023, the Group employed 94 full time staff.
Remuneration is reviewed periodically based on market trend
and individual staff’'s performance. In addition to the basic
salaries, staff benefits include discretionary bonus, medical
insurance scheme and contributory provident fund. The Group
also has a share option scheme whereby qualified participants
may be granted options to acquire shares of the Company.
Employee benefit expenses of approximately HK$33.8 million
(2022: HK$38.5 million) were charged to the profit or loss
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE
EERGEEBEAEZEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing, aged 64, is the founder, Chairman and
a major shareholder of the Group which was established
in 1984, and a recognised leader of the Hong Kong
entertainment industry. With years of experience in the home
video and media entertainment industry, he is responsible for
the corporate strategy and development of the Group. Mr.
Li has been appointed as the member of the 13th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference since 2018. He is also the Vice Chairman of the
Federation of Motion Film Producers of Hong Kong Limited
since 1998. He is the father of Mr. Li Tang Yuk, an executive
director of the Company.

Mr. Li Tang Yuk, aged 38, joined the Group in 2008 and
appointed as an executive director of the Company in May
2014. He has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company with effective from 31st March 2020. He holds
a Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) from Chu Hai
College of Higher Education. He is the eldest son of Mr. Li Kuo
Hsing, the Chairman of the Company.

Dr. Dong Ming, aged 65, has been appointed as an executive
director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company with
effect from 1st September 2014. He held master and doctor
degrees from the London School of Economics and Political
Science and has over 25 years’ experience in investment
banking, asset management and corporate management. Prior
to joining the Company, Dr. Dong had been a Senior Managing
Director of Bear Stearns and Director of Merrill Lynch, and
responsible for China marketing and corporate financing.
He also worked as an executive director of China Taiping
Insurance Holdings Company Limited and Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited (both shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) and
responsible for investment management, strategic planning
and merger and acquisition.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EERSEEEABEZEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lam Lee G., aged 64, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 1st February
2007. Dr. Lam has extensive international experience in
general management, strategy consulting, policy advocacy,
corporate governance, direct investment, investment banking
and asset management. He served as Chairman of Hong
Kong Cyberport, a member of the Committee on Innovation,
Technology and Re-Industrialization and the Sir Murray
MacLehose Trust Fund Investment Advisory Committee, and
a Part-time Member of the Central Policy Unit of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) Government. Dr.
Lam is a member of the Chief Executive’s Policy Unit Expert
Group, the Governance Committee of the Hong Kong Growth
Portfolio, the Green Technology and Finance Development
Committee and the Development Bureau Common Spatial
Data Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government, and
Convenor of the Panel of Advisors on Building Management
Disputes of the HKSAR Government Home Affairs Department.
He is also a member of the Belt and Road and Greater Bay
Area Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council
and the Court of the City University of Hong Kong, Chair of
the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia
and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business Network
(ESBN), Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic Council,
and a member of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the
Permanent Commission on Economic and Financial Issues of
the World Union of Small and Medium Enterprises.

Dr. Lam also serves directorships in certain other listed
companies. Other than those disclosed previously and since
the date of the last annual report, Dr. Lam was appointed
as an independent non-executive of New Huo Technology
Holdings Limited on 21st April 2023. Dr. Lam resigned/retired
from the directorships of (i) National Arts Group Holdings
Limited with effect from 25th July 2022; (ii) Beverly JCG Ltd.
on 28th April 2023 and (iii) TMC Life Sciences Berhad on 31st
May 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE
EEREEBEEABZEHN

Mr. Guo Yan Jun, aged 69, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in February 2013 has
extensive entrepreneurship experiences and experience of
corporate operation and management. Mr. Guo graduated
from China People’s University with a Diploma in Law in 1984.
Mr. Guo is presently an independent non-executive director
of MIE Holdings Corporation (company listed on the Stock
Exchange). He is also the Chairman of CNHK Media Limited.

Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic, aged 67, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company on
1st March 2016, is a seasoned executive in the information
and communication technologies industry. He has served
Hong Kong Telecommunications (“HKT”) for 34 years and
has held many senior management positions in his tenure of
service. Prior to his retirement at HKT, he was the Managing
Director of Business Processes and responsible for reviewing
and overhauling HKT’s business processes and related
systems. Mr. Leung had also been the Managing Director
of TV & New Media, where he was responsible for now TV,
MOOQV and now. com.hk, as well as business development of
IPTV opportunities internationally. Mr. Leung joined Cable &
Wireless HKT’s multimedia business unit in 1994. His previous
appointments also included the Executive Vice President
of Consumer Marketing & Business, and responsible for
marketing, product development and management of PCCW'’s
consumer telephone and broadband services.

Mr. Leung had served the Communication Association of
Hong Kong as a member of the Executive Committee from
2006 to 2010. He was also a member of the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council’s Entertainment Industry Advisory
Committee member between 2008 to 2010.

Mr. Leung graduated from the University of Toronto with a
Bachelor of Arts degree in 1979, and from Canada’s University
of Windsor with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in 1980.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EERSEBEEBAEZEN

Mr. Ma Fung Kwok, aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 1st October 2021. Mr. Ma is a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong. Mr. Ma has extensive experience in
the film industry and culture, and has been keen to participate
in Hong Kong’s cultural and artistic affairs. He is a former
chairman of the Hong Kong Film Development Council and
the Hong Kong Arts Development Council. In 2020 and 2004,
Mr. Ma was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and the Silver
Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong SAR Government respectively
in recognition of his outstanding performance in public and
social services. Mr. Ma is currently a Hong Kong deputy to the
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Xu Lin, aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect from 1st
December 2022. Mr. Xu is currently the Chairman of Yunnan
Jinggu Forestry Co., Ltd. (a company listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange). Mr. Xu has extensive working experiences and
extensive experiences in policy making. He was a Director
of Business Development of CITIC Limited, Vice-President
of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited and Chairman of Kaisa
Financial Group, President of Zhaobangji Financial Group
and Zhaobangji Properties Group, an Executive Director
and Executive Vice-Chairman of DTXS Silk Road Investment
Holdings Company Limited, a Senior Vice-President and
President of China of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited and
General Manager of Chow Tai Fook Investment Limited. With
the exposure to several positions, Mr. Xu has solid foundation
in economic theory and rich experience in management.
Also, he is Vice-Chairman of Enterprise Directors Association
of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area and a
member of the Social Development Export Group of the Hong
Kong Chief Executive’s Policy Unit.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED XS REEAKEHR A F

BRERELE 685 R_FT-_—F1AH
—HEZTRARRBUIFNTES -
SRERBAELEIEZE - ELLAHE
FRAMXEARELELR  b—EHR

REBEBEXCEMNEL - hEEFR
; E?ﬁ?@z%i}*&iﬁ BREMERBE
}ﬁfﬂ —EFER-_TTNF - FEE

%'Ji’éiﬁ/%*ﬁliﬂlﬁﬁﬁ#é%iﬁ%i&
REFEE  URBBERKXRE SR
BIENHERE - FELERRIEPE
ARZAMBEZEAARRKRASHEER
= o

WAL 62 RZTEZ_F+=
A—BEZEAARRRBIIIENTE
EoTAEBRIEEMSAMERNDER
RAN(—RRLEBRGFAEMZRAGNE
ER CTEAEBEENIIELBRMBUR
K BEFRBEFPEROERARERS
BREE  EREEEZERER A AE
THEFRCHEEETE  KBECHEE
MESBEEY  KEAMARKKRERE
BRERAGIMITEEZREBRIERE - A
AELEBRAFRSRBETZREHZ
BRELKAABREBERARBLESE
i o *fFf‘ﬁE%«LyflmuJ_iﬁi RS
ENEEERDENMEENERLR -
EBBRANE Em%%Tﬁ%ADHEFﬁf&%
BREBRRAEALEBERERANKE -



DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE
EERGEEBEAEZEN

Mr. Xu currently also serves as a non-executive director of
Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited
and had been an independent non-executive director of China
United Venture Investment Limited up to 29th December 2022
(both are companies listed on the Stock Exchange).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Lun Ho, aged 53, is the Company Secretary of the
Company and Group’s financial controller and is responsible
for all financial and accounting matters of the Group. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 30 years of auditing and accounting
experience. He joined the Group in July 2002.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBHRE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and the code provisions (the “Code”) as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
The principles adopted by the Company emphasise a quality
board, transparency and accountability to shareholders. In
the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
Code for the year ended 31st March 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such
code of conduct and the required standard of dealings and
its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors for the year ended 31st March 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is responsible for formulating the
Group’s long-term strategy, determining and approving
the Group’s significant transactions and supervising the
management to ensure thorough implementation of the
Group’s policies and effective performance of their duties.
The Board also conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group. Other decisions are
delegated to management. As at 31st March 2023, the Board
comprised eight Directors, including three executive Directors

= Mr. Li Kuo Hsing (the Chairman), Mr. Li Tang Yuk (the Chief
Executive Officer) and Dr. Dong Ming, and five independent
non-executive Directors — Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Guo Yan Jun,
Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic, Mr. Ma Fung Kwok and Mr. Xu
Lin. Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 9 to 13.

There is specific term of appointment of the non-executive
directors of the Company. They are subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

There is no non-compliance with rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the
Listing Rules. Other than Mr. Li Tang Yuk who is the eldest
son of Mr. Li Kuo Hsing, the Chairman of the Company, there
is no relationship among members of the Board and the
independent non-executive directors.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBHRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The attendance of the Directors in the four board meetings
and one general meeting held during the year are set out
below:

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing TR 4
Mr. Li Tang Yuk FRBEE
Dr. Dong Ming EREL

Dr. Lam Lee G. MREFT
Mr. Guo Yan Jun PHEELRE
Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic RiEALAE
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok FERLAE

Mr. Xu Lin (appointed on 1st December 2022)

Note:

(@  The Directors were unable to attend the general meeting due to their
respective engagements.

During the year, all directors were provided with regular
updates on the Group’s business and operations. All current
Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by engaging in business activities beneficial
to the Group in their respective fields, including attending
seminar, workshops, conference and courses and self-
studying, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
so as to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company will also update the
Directors of any material changes in the Listing Rules and
corporate governance practices from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the code provision of the Code relating to board
diversity, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. The Company will ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills and knowledge.

As at 31st March 2023, the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

The Board has a total of 8 Directors

Executive Directors WiITESE
Independent Non-executive Directors BN IFITES
Gender 4 B

Male B

Female pegca

The Company will appoint at least one new director with
different gender within the transition period on or before 31st
December 2024.

Age Group

The number of Directors falling within the following age groups
are:

30-40
60-70
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBHRE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY Continued)

Years of directorship with the Group

1-5 years 125%
6-10 years 6E104F
Over 10 years 10F A £

The background of each member of the Board are disclosed
in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management’s
Profile on pages 9 to 13 of this annual report.

The Directors have very diversified background, ranging from
management; finance and accounting; investment; legal and
regulatory; media and entertainment; which fit well with the
Company’s business objectives. The Nomination Committee
considers that this board structure to be optimal for the
Company and for its future development.

GENDER DIVERSITY AT WORKFORCE

As at 31st March 2023, the ratio of men to women in
the workforce (excluding directors of the Company) was
approximately 3:2. The Company is aiming to achieve a more
balanced gender ratio in the workforce in the future and will
continue to monitor and evaluate the diversity policy from time
to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer are separate and are not performed
by the same individual. The Chairman is responsible for
overseeing the function of the Board and formulating overall
strategies and policies of the Company. The Chief Executive
Officer, supported by the senior management, is responsible
for managing the Group’s businesses and responsibilities,
implementing major strategies, making day-to-day decisions
and coordinating overall business operations.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in discharge of its duties, the Board is
supported by three board committees. Each committee has
its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
committee members are empowered to make decisions on
matters within the terms of reference of each committee.

(1) Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21
to 3.23 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
audit committee are (a) to review the Group’s financial
statements and accounts, and annual and interim
report; (b) to discuss and review with the auditors of the
Company on the scope and findings of the audit and the
external auditor’s management letter; and (c) to review
the financial and accounting policies and practices,
financial controls, internal controls and risk management
systems of the Group. The audit committee consists
of three independent non-executive directors of the
Company, namely Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Guo Yan Jun
and Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic. The chairman of the
committee is Dr. Lam Lee G..

TRERBHRE
EERTRAR

BESFAEXA 21 EFETHRER
WAeEAERS - WAEHR— ARKR
F-TFREEEREES ZRELHIET
ARR7 2 BEREENMER - (THASRE
EREEEXRHTAREEARE 2R
BRBE  RITETERE  (FHAEER
E RS EBEBRITEE

EEXZET
RSB EFERITRE  EFEm=
EXZBexK - BRBEHAELAHR
EXBASRENBESRE MEZEEK
BERENSZEGCRELBEANCE
HIFHRE °

(1) BXZEES

RAREERBEMBAAFEI21E
323G EEEBEEE FZ
ZEE BTZZEGIZIFERER
QFEHNAEE 2B HRE - KB
FHREPHRS - DEARR 2%
Al ERNEZEERER
ARAINEZERI B E R E it - &
CRNARE B RS FTHEK K
BHl - BISESTE - AEPESIE R AR
BIEGE BEZZEEHARR=
BEIIENTEETNRBIEL - 56
MEEERREALEMEAK - ZB
FEXFEAMREBL -

Annual Report 2023 %k

19



20

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXER®/E

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(1)

@)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The audit committee held two meetings with the
Company’s auditor during the year. All of the members
attended the meetings.

The Group’s unaudited interim results, annual audited
results and the system of internal controls during the
year ended 31st March 2023 have been reviewed by the
audit committee, which is of opinion that the preparation
of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosure have been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee
according to the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules
with written terms of reference. Its primary duties are to (a)
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of directors
and senior management and the remuneration of non-
executive directors; (b) establish formal and transparent
procedures for developing remuneration policy; (c) review
and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (d) make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management.

The remuneration committee consists of three
independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Guo Yan Jun and Mr. Leung
Tak Sing, Dominic. The chairman of the committee is Dr.
Lam Lee G..
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

@)

@)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year, the remuneration committee met once
to discuss remuneration related matters. All of the
members attended the meeting. During the meeting, the
performance and remuneration of the executive directors
were assessed and the policy for which was discussed
and approved.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and senior
management are set out in Notes 11 and 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee
according to the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules
with written terms of reference. Its primary duties are to
(a) review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy; (b) identify individuals
suitably qualified to become board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c)
assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and (d) make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the
Chairman and the chief executive.

The nomination committee consists of five members,
including three independent non-executive directors of
the Company, namely Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Guo Yan Jun
and Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic, and two executive
directors of the Company, namely Mr. Li Kuo Hsing and
Mr. Li Tang Yuk. The chairman of the committee is Mr.
Guo Yan Jun. The nomination committee determined the
policy for the nomination of directors and the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria adopted to
select and recommend candidates for directorship during
the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXER®/E

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

@)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the year, the nomination committee met once, all
of the members attended the meeting.

Under the Company’s policy concerning diversity of
Board members, the nomination committee reviews and
assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board and
recommends the appointment of new director when
necessary.

In designing the Board’s composition, the nomination
committee has considered a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The nomination
committee will also consider factors based on the
Company’s business model and specific needs from time
to time in determining the optimum composition of the
Board.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Details of the basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements. The statement of the external auditor
of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 44 to 58.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement by the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities is set out in the independent
auditor’s report on pages 44 to 58. Amount of approximately
HK$1,868,000 and HK$20,000 were charged to the Group’s
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31st March
2023 in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor of the Company respectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for developing and reviewing the
policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group
and making recommendations to the Board; reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and reviewing the Group’s compliance with the
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of
the Company. During the year, the policy for the corporate
governance of the Group was received and determined.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of risk
management and internal controls and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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TRERBHRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continuea)

Management of the Company has monitored the strategic plan
and performance, established ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
Group, and set up a set of comprehensive policies, standards
and procedures in areas of operational, financial and risk
controls for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition; for maintaining proper accounting records; and
for ensuring the reliability of financial information to achieve
a satisfactory level of assurance against the likelihood of the
occurrence of fraud and errors.

The following procedures have been established in connection
with the risk management and internal controls within the
Group:—

1. Control environment including organisation structure, limit
of authority, reporting lines and responsibilities;

2. Risk management self-assessment and internal controls
review conducted from time to time by the internal audit
function and external auditor of the Group;

3. Appropriate risk management measures such as written
policies and procedures;

4.  Effective information platforms to facilitate internal and
external information flow; and

5. Any material internal control defects will be reported to
and discussed by the Audit Committee and the Board,
and management to investigate and take appropriate
measures to respond to and migrate the defects.

The Board has performed an annual review on the
effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal
controls of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31st March 2023 with no material issues noted and the
Board considers them effective and adequate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
heading and dissemination of inside information, the Company:

° is required to disclose inside information as soon as
reasonably practicable in accordance with the Securities
and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules;

e conducts affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission; and

o regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information to ensure inside information remains
confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the inside information can
be disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner
in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations

POLICY ON THE RECOMMENDATION AND
DECLARATION OF DIVIDEND

The Board may propose the payment of dividends for a
financial year. The recommendation of dividends is subject to
the discretion of the Board. The Board will take into account
the following factors when considering the proposal of any
dividend payment:

()  the Group’s operation and financial performance;

(i) the Group’s liquidity conditions;

(i) the Group’s capital requirements and future funding
needs;

(iv)  the Group’s contractual restrictions, if any;
(v) the Company’s and the Group’s availability of reserves;
(vi)y  the prevailing economic climate; and

(vii) any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBHRE

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum of association and the Bye-laws of
the Company are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively. Details of change to
Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended
31st March 2023 were set out in the Company’s circular dated
30th August 2022.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Lun Ho is the Company Secretary of the Company.
His biographies are set out on page 13.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair
disclosure and comprehensive and transparent reporting of
its performance and activities. Enquiries and suggestions from
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) or investors
are welcomed, and enquiries from Shareholders may be put
through the following channels:

1. by mail to the Company’s head office at 5/F, Mei Ah
Centre, 28 Chun Choi Street, Tsueng Kwan O Industrial
Estate, Kowloon;

2. by telephone at telephone number (852) 2751 3388;

3. by fax at fax number (852) 2799 3643; or

4. by email at webmaster@meiah.com.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (Continued)

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any two or more
members holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up
capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such
requisition must state the objects of the meeting and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office.
If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene a special
general meeting, the requisitionists themselves or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them may convene the special general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Directors.

If a Shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting not being the person to be proposed, wishes to
propose a person (the “Candidate”) for election as a Director
at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written notice (the
“Notice”) at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong. The
Notice (i) shall give his intention to propose the Candidate for
election as a Director; (i) must include the personal information
of the Candidate as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules and his/her contact details; and (iii) must be signed
by the Shareholder concerned including the information/
documents to verify the identity of the Shareholder and
signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be
elected and consent of publication of his/her personal data.
The minimum length of the period, during which the Notice
are given, shall be at least 7 days and that (if the Notice is
submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment
of the Notice shall commence on the day after the dispatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

TERELARSE
ST 2 BB R R AR a0

BREARARBZARMAR - BRRAEAH
AR A A EBRR(NERFKE B#F
BEARABRAG LEARERZD
BERREHT IR+ Z2)EBE
HEMMBRAR - ZFKAJAARK
SZEN YHABRARBREZIMSE
BE o MEFRBENAERFRE BEF
“tT-HALEABRERFERIAE - 8
BRARGHRKRELRBREE— #LA
EREMALARSEOEEERAE
ZHEREABRERER RS

W—ZEEHERGYLNE LRER
3Eﬁéh%}\izﬂx%ﬁﬁk%—u}\i
(MEREADRBERARE F2EHEES -
AIRBRARNRBIZ BB EMERIERE
EL%DUL%DJ) BA)VEEE EEZRR
ABEEZZEM ()W AFA LD
%EE'J%13.51( JERFTREREAZBAE

ﬂ&ﬁﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ’\% D R (i) BB R R

Zl&%* BREAHZEZBRRS
Zéfﬂ/x# N B fRE A %%ﬁﬁ?ﬂ

fﬁ‘iﬂ BLRBEER Faﬂﬁﬂ)\ﬁﬂ

L%DZHHF'E%*J AREAER - mE
A2 HAFE AR R B B KR TE LB éﬁéé"&
TzRe2BMEMARTE  AIZHAR
TRENEHRITRHATCRER ©

Annual Report 2023 %k

27



28

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

The Directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31st
March 2023 is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 4 to 8 to this annual report. Description
of the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are disclosed
in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 59.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties of the
Group are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of those principal investment properties
are set out on pages 215 to 216.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31st March 2023, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HK$52,067,000, comprising contributed
surplus of HK$235,020,000 less accumulated losses of
HK$182,953,000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus shall not be distributable if there are
reasonable grounds for believing that:

(i)  the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium account.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 214.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the
year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the
year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme of the Company was adopted by the
shareholders of the Company in the annual general meeting
held on 1st September 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The principal terms are set out as follows:

(@) Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to attract
and retain the best quality personnel for the development
of the Group’s businesses; and to provide additional
incentives to directors and employees, consultants,
agents, advisers, customers, suppliers, business and
joint venture partners or any employee thereof, of the
Company, its subsidiaries and its associated companies
and to promote the long term financial success of
the Group by aligning the interest of option holders to
shareholders of the Company.

(b) Participants

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the board of directors (the
“Board”) may offer to grant share options (the “Options”)
to any director and employee, consultant, agent, advisor,
customer, supplier, business and joint venture partner or
any employee thereof, of the Company, its subsidiaries
and its associated companies (“Qualifying Grantee”) as
the Board may in its absolute discretion select.

(c) Administration

The Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board. Subject to the provisions of
the Listing Rules and applicable law and other regulations
from time to time in force, the Board’s administrative
powers include the authority, in its discretion:—

()  to select Qualifying Grantees to whom Options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c) Administration (Continued)

(i)

(i)

to determine, subject to the requirements of the
Listing Rules and the law, the time of the grant of
Options;

to determine the number of shares to be covered
by each Option granted under the Share Option
Scheme;

to approve forms of option agreements;

to determine the terms and conditions of any
Option. Such terms and conditions may include:

the subscription price;

the Option Period, which shall be not greater
than the period prescribed by the Listing Rules
from time to time (which is, as at the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, a
period of 10 years from the date of grant);

the minimum period, if any, for which an
Option must be held before it vests or
becomes exercisable in whole or in part (the
Share Option Scheme itself does not specify
any minimum holding period);

the performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved before the Option can be exercised
(the Share Option Scheme itself does not
specify any performance target);

the amount, if any, payable on application or
acceptance of the Option and the period within
which payments must be made;
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c) Administration (Continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

(Continued)

e the period, if any, during which shares allotted
and issued upon exercise of the Option shall
be subject to restrictions on dealings, and the
terms of such restrictions;

to construe and interpret the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and Options granted pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme;

to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and
regulations relating to the Share Option Scheme,
including rules and regulations relating to
subschemes established for the purpose of
qualifying for preferred treatment under foreign laws
and for benefits intended solely for any particular
type of Qualifying Grantees; and

subject to the provisions relating to grant to
substantial shareholders and independent non-
executive directors and their respective associates
in the Share Option Scheme, to vary the terms and
conditions of any option agreement (provided that
such variation is not inconsistent with the terms of
the Listing Rules and the Share Option Scheme).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(d)

(e)

)

Life of the Share Option Scheme and grant of
Options

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption.

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board shall
be entitled at any time within 10 years commencing on
the date of adoption to make an offer for the grant of an
Option to any Qualifying Grantee as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select.

Acceptance and payment on acceptance of Option
offer

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Qualifying Grantee concerned for
a period of 28 days from the date of the offer (or such
longer period as the Board may specify in writing).

HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the Option offer.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular
Option shall be such price as the Board may in its
absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the
relevant Option but the subscription price shall not be
less than whichever is the higher of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the Subscription Price Reference
Date; (ii) the average closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five Business Days immediately preceding the
Subscription Price Reference Date; and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(g) Option Period

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an Option shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion at the time of grant, but such period
must not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant Option.

(h) Maximum number of shares available under the
Share Option Scheme

(i) Overriding Limit

The limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted
under any schemes of the Company if this will result
in the limit being exceeded.

(i) Mandate Limit

In addition to the limit set out in sub-paragraph (h)
(i) above and prior to the approval of a Refreshed
Mandate Limit as referred to in sub-paragraph (h)
(i) below, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, being
563,303,452 Shares (the “Initial Mandate Limit”),
based on 5,633,034,525 issued shares as at the
date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme or any other schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10%
limit.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(h) Maximum number of shares available under the
Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Refreshing of Mandate Limit

The Company may by ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders refresh the Mandate Limit provided
the Company shall issue a circular containing such
information as required by the Listing Rules to
the Shareholders before such approval is sought.
However, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under all of the schemes of the Company under the
limit as refreshed (the “Refreshed Mandate Limit”)
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of approval of the Refreshed Mandate
Limit. Options previously granted under the
schemes (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed in accordance with any of the schemes
or exercised options) will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed.

Grant to specifically identified Qualifying
Grantees

Specifically identified Qualifying Grantees may be
granted Options beyond the Mandate Limit. The
Company may in addition seek separate approval
by its Shareholders in general meeting for granting
Options beyond the Mandate Limit provided that
the Options in excess of the limit are granted only
to Qualifying Grantees specifically identified by the
Company and a circular containing such information
as required by the Listing Rules is issued to the
Shareholders before such approval is sought.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(h) Maximum number of shares available under the
Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(v) Limit for each Qualifying Grantee

The number of Options that can be granted to any
Qualifying Grantee during any 12-month period shall
be subject to the restriction that the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
Options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted
in such 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue. Where any further grant of Options
to a Qualifying Grantee would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant representing in aggregate over 1%
of the shares in issue, such further grant shall be
subject to separate approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting with the relevant Qualifying Grantee
and his associates abstaining from voting. Prior to
seeking such approval, the Company shall issue a
circular containing such information as required by
the Listing Rules to the Shareholders.

As at 31st March 2023, the number of securities
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 592,311,452, having approximately 9.99% of
5,923,738,525, being the number of issued shares of the
Company at 31st March 2023 and the date of the annual
report respectively.

As at 31st March 2023, there was no outstanding option
granted under the Mandate Limit.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing (Chairman)
Mr. Li Tang Yuk
Dr. Dong Ming

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Lam Lee G.
Mr. Guo Yan Jun
Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok
Mr. Xu Lin
(appointed on 1st December 2022)

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERS

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its
subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 9 to 13.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

At 31st March 2023, the interests and short positions of
each director and chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each in the Company

EEERE

EERBEESTRAERAAT -
AABEMBEERREMEM
HEEE 2R - HERDRE
EECERER KRB @

(a) EBREE0.02EBTZAATHER

% of the
issued share
capital of the
Company as

Number of shares beneficially held at 31st March
— Long position 2023
ExEzROHBE —H& R=2=Z=
Personal Family Corporate =H=+—H
Name of director interests interests interests LA T2 #&1T
EEHE B AR REER ZEER REzBESH
Mr. Li Kuo Hsing 576,687,500 189,843,750 2,540,177,550 55.82%
TEHE LA Note (i) Note (ii)
B EE() B 2 i)
Mr. Li Tang Yuk 1,940,000 - - 0.03%
FEBRE
Dr. Dong Ming 5,000,000 - - 0.08%
ERBLT
Notes: B 5E

(i) These shares are held by Ms. Li Pik Lin, the spouse of Mr. Li Kuo
Hsing.

(i) These shares are held by Kuo Hsing Holdings Limited, a
company beneficially controlled by Mr. Li Kuo Hsing.

0 ZEROBFEREAEEZRBFEDE
LA -

(i) ZEROMBFTHELEFIERZEHN A
FlKuo Hsing Holdings Limited#4 -
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EEGHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(b) Interests in subsidiaries of the Company

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing personally holds non-voting deferred
shares of HK$1 each in the following subsidiaries:

EERBESTRAERAAT -
AABEMBEERREMEM
A EEZ2RE - HERDRE
EECERR KRB @

(b) ARDTFMERRER
FERBTEFEARE TIIHERQR
FREE1VET CEBRERELTK
(K

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

FEERRE

EERMD 8B

Personal interests

Name =g EPN
Mei Ah Investment Company Limited ETMEREBRAA 500,000
Mei Ah Press Limited ELDREBRAF 100,000
Mei Ah Video Production Company Limited EDHTEEBR AR 10,000

Save as aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations.

Save as aforesaid, at no time during the year, the directors
and chief executives (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) had any interest in, or had been granted, or
exercised, any rights to subscribe for shares (or warrants or
debentures, if applicable) of the Company and its associated
corporations required to be disclosed pursuant to the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS FERRREAQATRZRGD KRAEER
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES Bz REER, K

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept BB FEH & AR & B SEXVER S 33615k /BT
under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31st ECEERREREMET R ==
March 2023, the Company had been notified of the following F=A=1+—8 XAREEBMIUT
substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions, being FERRHEBLHARA S BITRAS5%K
5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital. These N EZEERRARR - 25w A AT
interests are in addition of those disclosed above in respect of FEEHEEEREEITBRABENINZ
the directors and chief executives. R o

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each in the Company BREME0.02B T ZANAEBR

Number of shares —
Long position
ROEHE -F-
% of the issued
share capital of
the Company as

Corporate at 31st March
Note interests 2023
HR=-T=—=
=A=+-—H
AR RARE #IT
BT EEER & NA=E e
Ho Chi Sing Al &A% (a) 398,840,000 6.73%
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund Associates L.P. (b) 370,205,516 6.25%
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP Associates Ltd. (b) 370,205,516 6.25%
Zhou Quan F 2 (b) 370,205,516 6.25%
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund L.P. 307,385,666 5.19%
Li Guolin Z=E Ak 296,195,000 5.00%
Notes: BiaE -
(@)  Included the 370,205,516 shares as set out in Note (o). @@  BIEMFE(O)FTHE 2 370,205,516/ 81D °
(o)  Referred to the same parcel of shares and included the 307,385,666 (o) fER—#E% D KB FEIDG-Accel China Growth
shares held by IDG-Accel China Growth Fund L.P. Fund L.P.#5% 2 307,385,666/ %17 °
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EEGHRE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are
as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 21%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 55%
Sales

— the largest customer 33%
— five largest customers in aggregate 51%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major
suppliers or customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31st March 2023 is set out in
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public float of
at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of
this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate Governance Report of the Company is set out on
pages 14 to 27.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors, management or shareholders of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules) has an interest in a
business which competes or may compete with the business
of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of
this Report of the Directors, there was or is, any permitted
indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the
Directors of the Company (whether made by the Company
or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the
Company).

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Li Kuo Hsing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30th June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B %A ®E

-
pwec

To the Shareholders of Mei Ah Entertainment Group
Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Mei Ah Entertainment
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 59 to 213, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st March 2023;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

e  the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

o R K B

BEDRYLEFNEEERATKRR

(REREZMALE)BRF])

=z
=

RACHETHAR

ENREETNEEBER AR (LA THE
[ERAREMBARUATHEIES
B DHENRFELIE213E A MK

B

e RIF_=F-A=1+—HHEA
BERER:
s HEZALFENGAKRESR

e HEZHLEFEMHRSE
=
. @iﬁﬁtiﬁmﬁéf

4

L h=

m

@%

%Etﬁfmi AR Em
&= K

GA!
B R R 8. -

W
5
—
Bk

@

=

fBim

Wi mAME BRERES



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st March 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

° Impairment of film and program rights and films in
progress

° Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland China
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

8 M % BED | E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEREITEE

BRETTEEH®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matters
BMNETFTNAEEERETEE

Impairment of film and program rights and films in progress

EXREARERBRA EZHE

Refer to Notes 2.9, 2.10, 4(a) and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
B2 AUBERERNT2.9 - 210~ 4@ K15

As at 31st March 2023, the carrying amount of film
and program rights and films in progress, before
impairment provision, was HK$110,384,000.
HE_Z-_=F=A=+—0 EXKHERER
BEPEYEDSRECRUERER)R110,384,000%8
i

In view of the box office of film rights distribution,
which performed below management’s expectation
during the year, and the requirement to perform an
annual impairment assessment for intangible assets
not available for use, management performed an
impairment assessment for film rights as at 31st March
2023 and the carrying values were written down to
their recoverable amounts, which were measured
at the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value-in-use.

ERFRNETREEZTEERRENEEEES
M ARAIERANETLEEETFERENGEOR
o EREHBE_ZT__F-A=1T—HHEX
MR FEHETT TORERT L - M BRE(E S MU ZE H ATl
HEEALEREEXNRRERBENESE T

£)-

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on the impairment of film and program
rights and films in progress include the following:
B EREHET LA REANBRPER
BRI ERHEETO RS EFERATRR

We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and impairment assessment process
of film and program rights and films in progress and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud.
BMTHEBEEEXREGERERBRPER
FHEE AR RORERGRF - WE R MG
W M VAR E N B B A R B (R 3= K P (b an#E R
M- BN FHLITEBERITEEETX
HEE) - RHEERKERM A E AR



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEREITEE

B AR E
BRETTEEH®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matters
RN ETT M EEEAEETSE

Impairment of film and program rights and films in progress (Continued)

EXRE A IRERBRA EZ)FE(E)

Management determined the recoverable value by
using a value-in-use model, which was calculated
based on the present value of future cash flows
directly generated by the film and program rights and
films in progress. The forecast of future cash flows
involved judgments regarding the types of revenue
streams that the film and program rights and films
in progress could be distributed, the number of and
duration of planned circulations and expected cash
outflows for the costs for these circulations and
distributions. Impairment of film and program rights
and films in progress recognised for the year ended
31st March 2023 amounted to HK$17,500,000.

ERERAFCHAEERANEETREESE  mA
WoerRARELXNBERENERTETEEE
EHARKRERERETE - Bt RKBERRED
NREBATEIENSE THE - S8 NE0E RERE
P EZ A HITHWRARIREAR - 5t EBUR B
FERE - AR FHRBITRANTEHRES D -
BE_T_="F=A=+t—HILFE CHEIANE
7 M B0 B i N B B RME &17,500,000/8 7T °

We consider the impairment assessment of film
and program rights and films in progress as a key
audit matter due to the high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the
impairment assessment is considered significant
due to significant judgments and estimates made
by management on the recoverability of the film and
program rights and films in progress.
ERSENME TN RMRREL LETE R
EERBETPEZRENGBARESFE - AR
EFfEtNEERRRASEXN  DARETEEHER
NETERERBRAPELHAIREMEMEHANERXR
HIEr R A5t e

We assessed the methodology used by
management in determining the recoverable value
with reference to the industry practice.
BAEAHERBERETXENEEAIREE®
RS FTER AN 705 ©

We evaluated and challenged management’s
assessment on the expected revenue to be
generated by the film and program rights and
films in progress based on historical data and our
knowledge on the market and industry. We tested
the expected revenue from the circulation and
distribution of the film and program rights and films
in progress by comparing with market information
(including box office income) of other similar types
of films in the market.
BPRBELBELRBMAMEENT S RITEE
B HEREAEETNHERENBRTER
TR AN ETA R IR D E R - HPVAHE
TrEMEREYREGEMELRBREPELEITHRE
HWs - HzEmis FHMRABREZHNTISER
(BREEWARE)EITLHE

We also evaluated and challenged management’s
assumptions of the estimated circulation and
distribution costs to be incurred by comparing the
ratio of these budgeted costs to the budgeted
revenue with other comparable films based on
historical data of similar films and industry research.
BPTREBEEUEZHELEERTRRAE - &
TEE A ARBETEE WA R EE A Al L E
ThE  HERERBASELENGT L RE
TR R BRI TRT AR IR H &R -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B %A ®E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BRETTEE®
Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit
BRETSEE Matters

BMWETNAREARETER

Impairment of film and program rights and films in progress (Continued)
Er R EDE MRER BRI E 2 p (8 (E)

We performed sensitivity analysis around the key
assumptions for forecast revenue and estimated
circulation and distribution costs and considered
the extent of change in those assumptions that
would result in impairment.

B TR R W e DA R 5T IR R BTN E 2
BERETHERESN  UEEZERIEFHUAN
HERRERNZE -

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the impairment assessment of film and
program rights and films in progress in the context
of the applicable financial reporting framework.
BMETHEEANYBREERT  HEX R
BEREMBEPEZHENGEENEERSS
e

We also considered whether the judgments made
in selecting the methods, assumptions used in
the calculation of value-in-use would give rise to
indicators of possible management bias.

BT ERNERET L HEERBEERMES
WBREMEENHEBESERERBEEERRE
IR °

Based on the procedures performed, we found
that the significant judgments and estimates made
by management on the recoverability of the film
and program rights and films in progress to be
supportable based on available evidence.
ERDETHERF  ZMARSERBHEZLE
B iR M s R B A U B 1 BY B K T K
et ABBIBEXF -

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEREITEE

B AR E
BRETTEEH®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matters

BMWETNAREARETER

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland China

FE A EL T T K B KRR A RAE A& E R (E

Refer to Notes 2.10, 4(d), 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
B2 AVERERME2.10 ~ 4(d) ~ 1213 °

As at 31st March 2023, the Group had property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
before impairment provision, of approximately
HK$10,024,000 and HK$44,913,000, respectively,
representing cinemas located in Mainland China. In
view of the loss incurred by the cinemas in recent
years and the inability to meet the management’s
budget, management considered there were
impairment indicators and performed impairment
assessments on these assets.
RZEZ=F=A=+—H XEENFERHBE
ERYE - MsRREUARERAEEE(RERE
A1) 9 7l14910,024,00078 7T }2 44,913,000/ 7T © #7
FFEEEEFNBAUREEZREEREENTESR -
ERERRLEEERERENR  WHZEEE
EITRERHE -

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on the recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the cinema operations in Mainland China
include the following:
BMRERBEHPBEANME BB 2 - #a8

A K AR ERE 2 P E 25 A E
EITHESEFBRE

We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and impairment assessment
process of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud.

BPTHERBEMER KISNRBRERESR
EHENAEEE R EREEF - WE R
THEE B2 E I B A [E A &L B BB =K P (BLandg
M- FEMN EPLRSGREBEEBERUITERE
SHREE) - R ERKER M EF R
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B % B RS
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEREITEE

BRETTEEH®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matters
RN ETT M EEEAEETSE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland China

(Continued)

B A BT RIS 2 3 BEES KRG RAEFH i EE R (E ()

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash
generating unit (“CGU”) is the higher of its value-in-use
and fair value less costs of disposal. The impairment
assessment prepared by management uses the value-
in-use model to determine the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which these assets are allocated.

EESHReELEM(REEABEM)NAKLEESRE
REAEERAABREENAZREE - EBE
MACEHEREXRRRBEN G  UETHSFEE
SEMBNAELR BRI KEISEE -

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A

We understood and assessed the appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies used by
management.

B TREFLEEEMABETERERE

We checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considered the
reasonableness of these budgets by comparing the
budgets to historical results and market data.
BMmtERER ASR REFER(BIW - AR
B)Z2ERMREEN  UARBERAKEEBENER
ERENMTSEMMELE  EEAEREZARE
M o

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the
underlying value-in-use calculation.
HPRAAERNEREETE BB EERER
J_g o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEREITEE

B AR E
BRETTEEH®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matters
RN ETT M EEEAEETSE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland China

(Continued)

B A BT RIS 2 3 BEES KRG RAEFH i EE R (E ()

Significant judgment was required in relation to the
key assumptions made in the cash flow forecast
including revenue growth rate and discount rate.
Provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of HK$1,479,000
and HK$3,868,000, respectively, were recognised in
the consolidated income statement for the year ended
31st March 2023.
EREARTERERATIELNBEREBR(BEK
RIERERMRF)VELERAL - W3 - LR
HARAE AR ERE 2 RERE D R /1,479,000
HBITIA K 3,868,000 TERHBE_T_=F=H=
T—HIEFEZGAWRRER -

We assessed the appropriateness of cash flows
projections in calculation of the recoverable amount,
challenged the reasonableness of management’s
assumptions based on our knowledge of
the business and industry by comparing the
assumptions to historical results and published
market and industry data and compared the current
year’s actual results with the prior year forecast,
where applicable.

BRI EReREFBANGTE AT KBS ﬁ%mA
B ERBRMEEBEGRITENTE B
%ﬁ“ﬁfi %&E%%mﬁ%&ﬁ%%ﬁt
TR BEREBERINESIEN - ARBEERF
F%ﬁﬁiifﬁwﬁmEMI%)

We performed sensitivity analysis in consideration
of potential impact of reasonably possible downside
changes in the key assumptions.
BMRBEETEBRRAURSBHBE 2 AN EE 2
BETE  ETBREDN

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in
the context of the applicable financial reporting
framework.

B EEERNSEREERT - BY% -

HERBREUARGEAEEERBENGEBANKE
El:l 5 e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B % B RS
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEREITEE

BRETTEEH®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matters
RN ETT M EEEAEETSE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland China

(Continued)

B A BT RIS 2 3 BEES KRG RAEFH i EE R (E ()

We consider the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as
key audit matter as it is subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to
the impairment assessment is considered significant
due to significant judgments involved in assumptions
used in the calculation of value-in-use of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
BPRAME WS RBEAREAEEERET
TEEARESFE ARAESKSETHEL A
FAREFENEARRE/SER - THRFAEY
¥ OBMBNRBUAREREEEZEREEMER
BV RER P Sk B A I -

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A

We also considered whether the judgments made
in selecting the methods, assumptions used in the
calculation of value-in-use of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets would give rise
to indicators of possible management bias.

BT ERNERET L SHEWE - B NRB
AR A i B E M R EE RSP B RER AT E
HH S SERHRBELEERRENTR -

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that the methods and assumptions
used in the calculation of value-in-use for the
impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the cinema
operations in Mainland China were supportable by
available evidence.

ERPTAITHRF - BAPIRE T B R BB X 55
R -~ WE MREUAREREEENRERN R
IR EERBEN T EARBRABEREX

5 o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

18 M BED |

Hf&%!%\
EATEEAHAMELAE - HibR
BREFARNNMAREE BT aEE

EUBRR RN ZBE RS

RFHEA B RENE R TREL
fiEe  RMTTERE LG R RR
A ANEB &R -

EEBMBEA M BRRNES - HA
METRABELMES  FlLBREF
ZEEMENEEBEA P HRAHIK
MEBRTEBRETM THNBRAFEEXN
BB BEUTFEEERERRLNE

ERZEMERTHNIE  REMBEA
HitEMGFEERERBML - HAFR
BEZFE - HETHE - RFVLBEER

W o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

8 M % BED | E

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

EENBREEENGRESUBR
REARFEWEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

18 M BED |

BB EF AR S M B RR AR
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8 M % BED | E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

18 M BED |

RE BB RS M RRASE
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8 M % BED | E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Kong Ling Yin, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30th June 2023

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
e W&

For the year ended 31st March 2023 #EZ —ZT —=F=A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E__F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HtaF FET FEIT
Revenue Was 5 75,570 78,218
Cost of sales SHE R A 6 (59,266) (39,645)
Gross profit ER 16,304 38,573
Other income H YA 5 9,906 10,034
Other (losses)/gains — net Htb (E8), M= - F58 7 (18,252) 8,248
Selling, distribution and marketing expenses $5% ~ /TR M HHEEM S 6 (11,331) (5,248)
Administrative expenses TEFEX 6 (67,953) (87,656)
Net reversal of impairment losses on B EERMERSE
financial assets B EFEE 3.1(b) 27,458 450
Operating loss REEE (43,868) (35,599)
Finance income BRI A 8 315 319
Finance costs BB A AR 8 (8,256) (9,897)
Finance costs — net BB - FEE (7,941) (9,578)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates FEALER & R R (B518) 5f) 16 (1,293) 2,606
Loss before income tax BREFBHATEE (53,102) (42,571)
Income tax credit PrSTiE e 9 3,946 3,238
Loss for the year FRER (49,156) (39,333)
Loss attributable to: T5IE B E{LEE -
Owners of the Company PiN/NEIEZZEN (48,915) (39,232)
Non-controlling interests FEERR A A (241) (101)
(49,156) (39,333)
HK cents HK cents
AL P
Loss per share attributable to owners of ARQ T HEE AELERER
the Company
Basic and diluted loss per share EREARANEEEIR 10 (0.83) (0.66)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in il 4R A U R FE B BE B BT 5 — BF R
conjunction with accompanying notes. i o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEEWER

For the year ended 31st March 2023 HEZ —E—=F=A=+—HIFE

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Iltems that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Surplus on revaluation of buildings
Deferred taxation arising from revaluation
surplus of buildings
Currency translation differences

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences

Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive loss for the year

ERER
Hit 2 E WK - HBRBIE
TEEN B ERm K BEH

BT E[AR

BFEMBRELLZ
EREFRIA
BB EEE

A EH B ERmA L BH
ERBREER

FREMEEKE
HERBLIE

FAZHEBEAHE
THEEEEEZEBRAE :
ARAHERA
IR

FAZHEBRAE

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income
should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

Note
Kt

12(a)

28

iUk
BIE -

2023 2022
—E-= —EoF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(49,156) (39,333)
20,526 29,238
(3,449) (4,729)
(755) -
3,662 (55)
19,984 24,454
(29,172) (14,879)
(28,176) (15,176)
(996) 297
(29,172) (14,879)

2 T R 2 AR R B Y B A — O



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HEEERMER

As at 31st March 2028 R=—ZE—=F=HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —EB__F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
K FET FHETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - IR REE 12 214,489 206,445
Investment properties REM* 14 209,271 226,943
Right-of-use assets REEE 13 62,823 74,859
Film and program rights, films in progress B REBRE  BEPE
and deposits for film and program rights T REBYNEERELZS 15 93,348 153,377
Interests in associates NN - Ty 16 9,168 10,513
Interests in joint ventures REETE R 17(a) - =
Prepayments and deposits BAFIEREZS 21 2,040 4,029
591,139 676,166
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 224 331
Prepayments, deposits, trade and other BNHIE &k BHK
receivables H A FE YR IE 21 38,009 36,373
Financial assets at fair value through profitor ~ E AR EFF AEBZE 2
loss MBEE 19 2,895 5,893
Restricted bank balance X BRI ERTT AE B 22(b) 881 =
Pledged bank deposits EHIFRITER 27(a)(ii) 13,500 23,500
Short-term bank deposits R ERITIF K 22(a) 3,924 3,309
Cash and bank balances R RIRTTEEH 22(a) 37,528 11,624
96,961 81,030
Total assets HWEE 688,100 757,196
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners KARFEEAELES
of the Company
Share capital A A 23 118,475 118,475
Share premium B m B 23 407,428 407,428
Reserves e 25 (194,710) (166,534)
Shareholders’ funds RERE 331,193 359,369
Non-controlling interests FE1E A M o 8,513 9,509
Total equity MRS 339,706 368,878
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEERESR

As at 31st March 2028 R=ZE=—=F=H=+—H

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other borrowings
Accrued liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Amounts due to associates
Bank overdrafts
Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities
Current income tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

&

FRBAEE
HitEE
At aE

EREMSHAE

RBAE

B 5 REAMEN TR
AHARE
B = R B 50R
RITEX

RITIEE

MEARE
EHRERAR

REE

HEEREE

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 30th June 2023 and were signed on its

behalf.

Li Kuo Hsing
EE
Director

EF

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in

conjunction with accompanying notes.

62 MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED  EEr iR & &R EE AR A F

2023 2022

—E-= —E-__F

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE FAET FET
27 94,948 96,068
987 -

118 94,296 102,674
28 25,487 26,431
215,718 225,173

26 70,808 73,277
5(f 10,250 13,374
31(e) 8,780 13,710
27 10,420 23,056
27 20,737 24,216
1 7,380 11,438
4,301 4,074

132,676 163,145

348,394 388,318

688,100 757,196
GAMBERRNR -_E-_=F,A=1+H

BE=edE  WRERE -

Li Tang Yuk

By}

Director

EF

EaltER A B E B E R FE BB MY Y A — O

BIE -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERRBERX
For the year ended 31st March 2023 #EZ —ZT —=F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN PN A
Share Buidings Non-
Share Share redemption Other  Contributed Exchange revaluation  Accumulated  controling Total
capital premium reserve reserve surplus difference feserve osses interests equity

BE  RbER ROEORE  EpRE  HABR  EREE BTERER  HER  ERES Ll
HKSOD  HKSOOO  HKSOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  MKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSUOOD  HKSOOD

FAT FAT AT AT AT AT AT FAT FAT AT
Balance at 1st April 2021 RoBZ-EMA-Az&t 118,475 407,428 12 (6,380) 189,009 (8,206) 82,605 (408,398) 9212 383,757
Comprehensive loss 2EFE
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (39,239) (101) (39,333
Other comprehensive income Rt 2ERE
Surplus on revaluation of buildings (Note 12 BFEERBW12H) = = S = = S 29238 = = 29238
Deferred taxation arising from revaluation suplus BT EHBREL ZETHE
of buldngs Ve 29 (#3229) - - - - - - 4729 - - 4729
Currency translation differences ERHEER
~Grow -1£8 - - - - - BT - - 3% 8579
- Associates (Note 16) -BanA W6 - . = = = 4 = = = 4
- Release of exchange reseve pon disposal - HE-HKBAAR
of a subsiciary (Nots 7) EHONER - - = = = 3474 = = = 3474
Total other comprehensive income Rt 2ENELH - - - - - (453 24,500 = 398 24,454
Total comprehensive loss 2EFRAE - - - - = 453) 24,500 39,239) 27 (14,879)
Balance at 3t March 2022 WoRosEZRSt-R2EE 145 4R B0 1809 BEY  OLI4 @6 950 3688
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZSBR

For the year ended 31st March 2023 &}

Balance at 1t April 2022

Comprehensive loss
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Surplus on revaluation of buildings (Note 12)

Deferred taxation arising from revaluation surplus
of buildings (Note 28)

Currency translation differences

- Group

- Associates (Note 16)

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at 31st March 2023

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should
be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

WIB-ZEMA-AZER

2EKR
EnER

Afb2mbki
BFEERAIE126)
BTERRRELZETHE

{
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At2EUELAE

EREAE

R-B-ZE=p=t-RA2&H

E=F=

=

SE=A=t+—AILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRFAEEARE
Share Buildings Non-

Share Share  redemption Other Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated  controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve surplus  difference reserve losses interests equity
BA RHRE ROWERE  HERE  GARR  EXEE BTEERE  ZRER  FoRER L
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn FEn FEn FEn FET FEn 7 77 77 77
118,475 407,428 12 (6,380) 189,009 (8,659) 107,114 (447,630) 9,509 368,878
- - - - - - - (48,915) (241) 49,156)
- - - - - - 20,526 - - 20,526
- - - - - - (3.449) - - (3449)
- - - - - 3,714 - - (755) 2,959
- - - - - (52) - - - (52
- - - - - 3,662 17017 - (755) 19,984
- - - - - 3,662 17,017 (48,915) (996) (29,172)
118,475 407,428 12 6,380) 189,009 (4,997) 124,191 (496,545) 8,513 339,706
b AR S R 5 B K B RE R B 5 —OF

BIRE -

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

For the year ended 31st March 2023 #EZ —ZT —=F=A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= —EB__F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HizE FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities REXBZHERE
Cash generated from operations LEMFRE 29(a) 53,742 4,485
Income tax paid BNz IKG L (41) (450)
Net cash generated from REXBEMBESTFE
operating activities 53,701 4,035
Cash flows from investing activities RETH2HERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME MEREE (1,922) (8,931)
Purchase of film and program rights, films BEEY R MmE B
in progress and deposits for film and B NERKE B ik
program rights Re (7,004) (4,980)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at ~ HER AR Bt ABR 2Bt
fair value through profit or loss BB E 2SR 23 =
Cash and cash equivalents derecognised & —REM B R AR EUS fE
upon disposal of a subsidiary RAe RERBEESEE - (192)
Change in short-term bank deposits REIRI T R B (848) (1,010)
Interest received B IRAILE 8 315 319
Net cash used in investing activities KEEBFTAR©F5E (9,436) (14,794)
Cash flows from financing activities METBH 2HERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITEE ZFTEIE 29(b) 22,000 15,646
Repayments of bank borrowings BEEITEE 29(b) (25,377) (6,723)
Interest paid on bank borrowings BTIRITEER & 29(b) (856) (1,104)
Interest paid on bank overdrafts MIBTEI ZHRF S 29(b) (298) (457)
Increase in restricted bank balance SR FIRITAE SR 2 380 (878) =
Release of pledged bank deposits BRE BRI TR 10,000 =
Repayments of principal and interest BEHEZARER
elements of leases 2= 29(b) (9,745) (11,930)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEBAR ST (5,154) (4,568)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash HERZEEHRLER KM,
equivalents (R4) e 39,111 (15,327)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

For the year ended 31st March 2023 HEZ —E—=F=A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-__F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HizE F#ET FET
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#23R & K ERIIREIER (11,432) 3,352
Exchange differences P A E (571) 543
Cash and cash equivalents FRZESRERHAELER
at the end of year 27,108 (11,432)
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRERBESER 2484
cash equivalents iRy
Cash and bank balances in the consolidated ~ RGEAEEAGBR 2 S MR
balance sheet 1THEER 22 37,528 11,624
Bank overdrafts RITEX 27 (10,420) (23,056)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated R4FAIRERERZIRE N
cash flow statement ZRIELEE 27,108 (11,432)
The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in LR ERERERE AN TE— O
conjunction with accompanying notes. BIE o

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in channel operations, film exhibition and film
rights licensing and sub-licensing, cinema operations,
concert performance and events organisation,
applications and video online, and property investment.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda.

The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise
stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the
Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

B B SRR Y R

—REHR
XRREGAEEBERAR (AR
ADREMBAR(GREIAER])E
RRFREBEXER  EXIRKLRER
IRER L R ER - B X5 - B8
ehEWLRY  EREANERSR
BIARMERE -

RARRARIBRBREGMN YL ZE
RAor - HFfM;wEsE it s
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °

ARRRNEBHMERHABER DA
£

FRIEX B - BRIAKER S R
BERABTTETDEN > AR
BMEONBERROZTR(TE
7Tl °

EESTTBREE

LM EREREZ T HRA M H K
BEBZEBEABR -KFERE
S BRIZEBREMZI P
EFERNERER - UHEHBR /AN
SE(BREARANEWNERF) R
B o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include the applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of buildings, investment
properties and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation
2.1.1 Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$49,156,000 for
the year ended 31st March 2023, while the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$35,715,000 as at 31st March 2023. The
improvement in liquidity position as at 31st March
2023 as compared to that of 31st March 2022,
of which the net current liabilities reduced from
HK$82,115,000 to HK$35,715,000, was mainly
contributed by the recovery of an amount due from
a former subsidiary of HK$42,500,000 during the
year. In addition, included in the Group’s current
liabilities were contract liabilities of HK$10,250,000
which represent non-refundable customer
prepayments that will be recognised as revenue
over the next twelve months through the provision of
film rights licensing and cinema operations services.

In preparing the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st March 2023,
the directors have taken into account all available
information. In particular, the directors of the
Company have prepared a cash flow projection of
the Group covering a period of not less than twelve
months from 31st March 2023 taking into account
the following:

(i)  The Group will continue to generate net cash
inflows from its core operations, including
but not limited to the channel operations, film
exhibition and film rights licensing and sub-
licensing operations, and cinema operations;

2.1
2.1.1

HREE

AEERBEE-_ZT-_=F=A
T HILFEELEEBEEF
49,156,000/ 7T * M ALK E
N—ZZE-_=F=ZA=+—H
ZABBEBLHERSEE
35,715,000 - R=ZZT ==
FZAZ=Z+—HORBHESHN
MER-—_ZE-_—_#F=/F=++
—BERE  EFRHE
f&/F 58 082,115,000/ i
%£35,715,00087C ' TEHR
F Yz [E FE Uy Al BT B A Bl
1H42,500,000/8 7T ° tEoh » A
SENRBAGEREGNARG
10,250,000/ 7T + HATAR
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B ARBEBIREEZRER
% B BT 2 1 R 1S R A K

N2
S o
T
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WRE EETEERMAAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

(i) The directors believe that the Group’s banking
facilities will continue to be available given
the good track records and relationships the
Group has with the banks, all the existing bank
facilities granted to the Group were pledged
with the Group’s assets, and the Group is able
to secure new bank borrowings as and when
needed; and

(i) The controlling shareholder of the Company
has agreed to provide the Group with financial
support for a period of twelve months from the
approval date of these consolidated financial
statements to enable the Group to meet its
liabilities as and when they fall due and to carry
on its business without a significant curtailment
of operations.

The directors are of the opinion that, having taken
into account the anticipated cash inflows generated
from the Group’s operations, as well as the possible
changes in its operating performance and the
availability of bank facilities, the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities
as and when they fall due in the coming twelve
months from the balance sheet date. Accordingly,
the directors believe that the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern; and thus have
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New and amended standards and
interpretation

@

New and amended standards and
interpretation adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS issued by HKICPA for
the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1st April 2022:

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions Beyond 2021

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

(amendments)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment =
Proceeds before Intended
Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts =~ Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract

Amendments to Accounting
Guideline 5

Annual improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020 cycle

Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 and
HKAS 41

The amendments listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised in prior
period and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

212 New and amended standards and
interpretation (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards
that have been issued but not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group
Certain new and amended standards,
interpretation and accounting guidance have
been published that are not mandatory for
31st March 2023 reporting periods and have
not been early adopted by the Group.

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 (Amendments)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

2 EESHHEXEE®

21 mEEEE)
212 FETRAEMESTERRBE (&)

(b) EAEMEERAERN AL E
BIARGIEFERAZFETE
Rl R EBIEET
BT REIEFTEAR] -
“EREFTESIE 8
MR —_EBE-_=F=A=+
—BZREBEMARES
£ AREAREERE

Effective for accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RUTBHRHz2#%
BimzartHEER

1st January 2023

—E-=%—H—H

BREEERE 1R RBBUBERS
A EBREFE25(EFTA)

HKAS 8 (Amendments)
B GERIEHR (IEFTA)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

BB GTERE 1258 (BF] )

HKFRS 17
BRMBHRERAEITH

HKFRS 17

BB BREERETH

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BB EAEIRIEFTA)

SRR ZNE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

RifE 2 S

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities
Arising from a Single Transaction
HE-QRFIEANEERABEH  ELEFRIE

Insurance Contracts

REREH

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 -
Comparative Information

BREREERBREEANFEITHR
BEEMBRELAFENR — LREH

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

BERENBRREIIERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

212 New and amended standards and
interpretation (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards
that have been issued but not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group
(Continued)

e MBERRME
EEESTBRREEw

21 mEEEE)
212 FETRAEMESTERRBRE (&)

(b) EHEMEE AR LN AKE
B R EHIEERAZ T E
B R ERIEET (48)

Effective for accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RUTB#Rz2#%
BmzEt HEEN

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
BB ERE 1R (EFTAR)

Amendments to HKFRS 16
ERUBREERNF165 2185

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)

BERBELR (EER])

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

BB BRELAEI0%R
BEARERBBRETA)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

MR IE R B A

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

EREERZPNEEAE

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

FBHERZ 25 — BERAHBENERE
BEZGFNTHERNSE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

1st January 2024
—E-mE—H—H

1st January 2024

—Z-F—HF—H

1st January 2024

—ET-NF—-HA—H

To be determined

The Group has commenced, but not yet
completed, an assessment of the impact
of the new standards and amendments to
standards on its results of operations and
financial position. The Group is not yet in a
position to state whether these new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations
would have any significant impact on its results
of operations and financial positions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated income statement, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and balance sheet respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

2.22 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, after initially being
recognised at cost.

2.2.3 Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor, rather than the legal structure of
the joint arrangement. The Group has both joint
operations and joint ventures.

(a) Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of
joint operations and its share of any jointly held
or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses. These have been incorporated in
the consolidated financial statements under
the appropriate headings.

(b)  Joint ventures
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method, after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated balance
sheet.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.24

Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and joint
ventures are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

2.2.4 Equity accounting (Continued)

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.10.

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

mEMBEHRRHE
2 EESTHHEEE®
22 HARAREREHE®)

224 BBFHHZEE)

BERSTEARZREZER
ﬁﬁﬁmﬁmﬁzm% i 7
#EIT /)3@15 /EJJ EJE

225 HEREZEE)

AEEGEIEERER 2 BT
EYREESIE 2 X FHINE
BHAEERSERAZH IR
SR HEREREZHSE
B AR B IR R A 25 2 A 2 BR
EEAE  URBERKBA
Al R ER o IEERER 2
ARBERIMSMHERKE
ZEZEMEBEESNARD A%
BEABGERSANEB S HET

TR o

EASERKXEZESIRE -
%%&iﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁTﬁ%
REREANERNIREZE;
EREANERE REBZE
MRBEZSENFEEER
1A - %EEH@AEE & 7%
RHER - WARBEEKRVSA
REE MEHEZBRBER
ABRIERBE NG BEDE
STEEE o I - BAERZK
TRREMEZEKREER2E
MeETHRMNAEEEHEE
HEMRBEEEXBECARA
BR o IWERATRERKRBAREAM
THREBRCCESETS
HEEnX  EEBZERASR
I ISR AERIIERR, AR
HsEzan o

Annual Report 2023 F%§

77



78

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

225 Changes in ownership interests (Continued)

2.3

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where appropriate.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group
e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from

a contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in
the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired
entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the
° consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either as
equity or a financial liability. Amount classified as a
financial liability is subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss.

e MBERRME
EEESTBRREEw

2.3 EHREHE

Bk D BBISMERSN - RFE A GBI P
WA BB EERMAEZBE
ERRAEANFREERR A
REE - ARBZAIAELIRIF
ZREm N RRBE R A BB E
FEZ L BIEIE 2 D8 - RERMK
BEE BRACHWEEERZIW
FEFERR S

U B AR B R A B S -
f
o FIEEZRME

o (EfFERBEENHKEER
FEThERE - &

s BEFRAREBERZEMAK
BRBBEHcARE

HBH P E 2 AT BRI B EFEZ A
ffE - RBERE  c E%FEH
DR RS 2 Al BB E EF
B AZREERBEERAERR
=EREE -

IAREBERIEREZXIMBE
B WO BRYBFRABEZEHEER
EMFEERRE MAREZE
BN BRAR TR ©

Annual Report 2023 F%§

79



80

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6
(a

(b)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Group that makes
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

(c)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at FVPL are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equities classified as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETHRBE®

POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.6 HEBEE)
(c) Group companies (Continued) (c) FERFE)

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

@iy all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in foreign
entities, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold, the
associated exchange differences are reclassified to
profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associated company that includes a
foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associated companies or
jointly controlled entities that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETHRBE®

POLICIES (Continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment 2.7 I - WBRZE
Buildings comprise mainly offices. Buildings are BFFEQERAE - BFR

recognised at fair value, based on annual valuations
by external independent valuers, less subsequent
depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and
the net amount is restated to the revalued amount
of the asset.

Freehold land is not depreciated. All other property,
plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 2.7

2 EESHHEXEE®

Increases in the carrying amount arising on
revaluation of buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income. However, the increase
shall be recognised in the consolidated income
statement to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously recognised
in the consolidated income statement. Decreases
that offset previous increases of the same asset are
charged against other comprehensive income; all
other decreases are charged to the consolidated
income statement.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings Over the remaining term of the
lease, or 50 years, whichever is
shorter

Leasehold Over the lease term, or 7—-13

improvements years, whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures 10% to 25%
and equipment
Motor vehicles 25%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. When revalued assets are sold, the
amounts included in buildings revaluation reserve
are transferred to retained earnings.

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, are held for long-term
rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and
that are not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they
are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values are
presented in profit or loss as part of “other (losses)/
gains — net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Film and program rights, films in progress and

(a

(b)

deposit for film and program rights
Film and program rights and films in progress

Film and program rights and films in progress
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Films in progress are not
amortised. The cost of film rights is apportioned
between film exhibition and licensing, and is
expensed on first public exhibition or at a systematic
basis with reference to the underlying license
periods. The cost of program rights is expensed at
a systematic basis with reference to the underlying
license periods, which are subject to annual review
by Executive Directors. Provisions are made for
costs which are in excess of the expected future
revenues generated by these films.

Deposits for film and program rights

License fees paid in advance by installments under
licensing agreements for distribution of audio visual
products and sub-licensing of film and program
titles, in specified geographical areas and time
periods, are accounted for as deposits for film and
program rights. Deposits for film and program rights
are recognised when payment was made and the
balance payable under the licensing agreements
is disclosed as a commitment. Upon receipt of
the audio visual products and the materials, the
deposits would be transferred to film and program
rights and the remaining payable balances will be
recorded as a liability. Provision for impairment
loss is made against deposits to the extent that the
deposit is not recoverable in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 HESHHEER#E®
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Film and program rights, films in progress and 29 EXKHENRE BHEPE

deposit for film and program rights (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, both internal
and external market information are considered to
assess whether there is any indication that film and
program rights and deposits for film and program
rights are impaired. If any such indication exists, the
carrying amount of such asset is assessed. Films in
progress, being intangible assets not ready to use,
are tested annually for impairment. Where relevant,
an impairment loss is recognised to reduce the
asset to its recoverable amount. Such impairment
loss is recognised in the profit or loss.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have indefinite useful life
or intangible assets not ready to use are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Financial assets
2.11.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and

only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETHRBE®

POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued) 2.11 IBEE#®E)
2.11.2 Recognition and derecognition 2112 BEER#IETERE

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.11.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

(a) Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group
classified its debt instruments as financial
assets at amortised cost.
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92

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)
2.11.3 Measurement (Continued)

(a) Debt instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are assets
that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
“finance income” using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in “other (losses)/gains —
net” together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.

(b)  Equity instruments
The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as “other income” when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in “other (losses)/gains —
net” in the consolidated income statement as
applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETHRBE®

POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued) 2.11 IBEE#®E)
2.11.4 Impairment 2114 BH

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.

For other financial assets at amortised cost (including
cash and bank balances, short-term bank deposits,
pledged bank deposits, restricted bank balance
and other receivables and deposits), the Group
measures the impairment as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of
these assets has occurred since initial recognition,
then impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit losses.
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POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has
also entered into arrangements that do not meet
the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related
amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such
as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade and other receivables
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

2.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.
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A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Borrowings
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

(a

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company, its subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entity operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely
through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETHRBE®

POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 220 EHIRIEEFTBHR (4
(b) Deferred income tax (Continued) (b) EIEFFiFIE)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the consolidated balance sheet
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

Group companies operate various pension
schemes.

The group companies in Hong Kong participate in
a mandatory provident fund scheme and another
defined contribution plan. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior
periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

2 EESHHEXEE®

221 EERF

(a

(b)

EREZERY

BEZEFHRIENEREE
FERER AERBER/BER
ERERARBCRMH ZIRIS AT
EEFR<EFEEFELR
ffg o

BEZRBMRERNERER -
BEEREBNRRE T SR

B LEE

AREEE TR REEZERIK
E&TE

AREEETNEFBRARZERH
HREEE ks —REHRK
ArEl - REHRFETE R —EXN
SEN—EBVEBXNEE
R BRREFE - WZES
TESBEERNEERMBESR
st ETE & B K DA B 2 AR 7%
SAREA - RIARKBIEEE
SR ETE— P -

REE ARSI - SHENKE
BT AR AFAMAETELZ
BARSREBEEIHZK - AEH
TR FRIR - BIEE — SR
Bif - HRERNERRSE
SRR X - AMNHFIRRI
S 3R BB AT OB A 2R 2R A R i FE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Pension obligations (Continued)

(c)

The group companies in Mainland China participate
in defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by relevant government authorities for
its employees in Mainland China and contribute
to these plans based on certain percentage of the
salaries of the employees on a monthly basis, up to
a maximum fixed monetary amount, as stipulated
by the relevant government authorities. The
government authorities undertake to assume the
retirement benefit obligations payable to all existing
and future retired employees under these plans. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due.

Other employee benefit obligations

The liabilities for long service payment that are not
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service. These obligations
are therefore measured as the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect
of services provided by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheet if the entity does
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement
for at least twelve months after the reporting
period, regardless of when the actual settlement is
expected to occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in
respect of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as other payables in the
consolidated balance sheet.

2.22 Share-based payments

(a

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in the profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (and share premium).

Share-based payment transactions among
Group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETHRBE®

POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Provisions and contingent liabilities 223 BERIAEE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a EXRSERBESHMEAR
present legal or constructive obligation as a result B2 EESNETEMT Al
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of FEBERINRABREE
resources will be required to settle the obligation; N e Bl EH(hFHAF - BDAR
and the amount has been reliably estimated. R -  BEBELERRELE
Provisions are not recognised for future operating E R miER o
losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, WBEZEBAUSHE  BIFE
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in HEENEZ N2 KER
settlement is determined by considering the class BRETERMETE - B
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised FA—¥EEFAFMBREZEM—
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect EEERLERZAGELEE
to any one item included in the same class of 1K - DB TR o

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the BERBEITREARHRER
expenditures expected to be required to settle the S BERE - ZBRERE
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current RMmiSEHEERBEBEE
market assessments of the time value of money and HRZEEZEFERR 2B A
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in MEYTIR - BEE R R A MY
the provision due to passage of time is recognised Mz BEBIFERRBNEX WL -

as interest expense.

Provision for an onerous contract is recognised ERITEREMENTAE 2K
when the unavoidable costs of meeting the NEBBBEHESHLCEN =
obligations under the contract exceed the economic RERBES RRE - SR
benefits expected to be received. The unavoidable A R PN B ERBR B KV R B
costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of ERAEEE - BNEITE AKX
exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the NELE L FTE A E (B E
cost of fulfiling the contract and any compensation Se 2 BREH ©

or penalties arising from failure to fulfil the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 HESHHEER#E®
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued) 223 BERIAREESE)

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

2.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of
the good or service is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the good
or service may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a

Control of the good or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over
time, revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of
the good or service. Specific criteria where revenue
is recognised are described below.

Revenues from channel operations

Revenues from channel operations mainly comprise
channel supply revenues arranged under fixed-price
contracts. Revenues are recognised on a straight-
line basis over the contract periods which generally
coincide with when the relevant channels are
broadcasted. The customer pays the fixed amount
based on a payment schedule. If the services
rendered exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Film exhibition income

Film exhibition income is recognised when the film is
exhibited.

Revenues from licensing and sub-licensing of
film rights

Revenues from the licensing and sub-licensing of
film rights is recognised upon delivery of the master
materials of films in accordance with the terms of
the underlying contracts. The customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. A
contract liability is recognised for the payments
made by customers before control of the film rights
is transferred to the customer.

Revenues from cinema operations

Revenues from cinema operations mainly comprise
income from box office takings, which is recognised
when the services are rendered to the buyers. A
contract liability is recognised for the payments
made in advance by customers until the customers
utilise the amounts paid for services.

Revenues from applications and video online

Revenues from launching mobile application is
generated from the provision of digital marketing
services. Revenues are recognised when the
related production and publicity services have been
rendered.

2.24 W (E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

()

(9)

(h)

0]

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Management fee

Management fee income is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised
cost calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in the profit or loss as part of other
income. Interest income is presented as “finance
income” where it is earned from financial assets that
are held for cash management purposes.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets the effective interest rate
is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

0)

Accounting for significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer.

In those circumstances, the contract contains
a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated
in the contract or implied by the payment terms
agreed to by the parties to the contract.

2.25 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the
company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

° by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETHRBE®

POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Earnings per share (Continued) 2.25 GREF| &)

(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) ERETFBRF
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used BREERNARTEGRE
in the determination of basic earnings per share to REMATANEIE @ 5T A

take into account:

e the after-income tax effect of interest and o HETHEEELAERMELN
other financing costs associated with dilutive FE &H\{ﬁ%ﬂ§&$ﬁﬁ|§%‘
potential ordinary shares, and FRSTERE -

e the weighted average number of additional e HEMBAEBETEEELERE
ordinary shares that would have been ERWERLT @ FTEITE
outstanding assuming the conversion of all HNE AR B0 N 9 8 -

dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.26 Leases 2.26 HE

(a) The Group as the lessee (a) FHRBEBAREA
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and METHEEENHASERE
a corresponding liability at the date at which the Rz BERRERAESE KN
leased asset is available for use by the Group. JERTE -
Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease BB SHERIFHER
components. The Group has elected not to separate KED - AREHRERERKEE
lease and non-lease components and instead NMIEHEEAK T D ARBE—
accounts for these as a single lease component. MEAEMKED  WEBRE R

ﬁ\ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Leases (Continued)
(a) The Group as the lessee (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Leases (Continued)
(a) The Group as the lessee (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted
to reflect changes in financing conditions since
third party financing was received, and makes
adjustments specific to the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

2 EESTHHEEE®

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Leases (Continued)

(a

(b)

The Group as the lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

° any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
properties are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

The Group as the lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor is recognised in “other income” on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to non-current assets
are deducted from the carrying value of the related
assets. The grant is recognised in a profit or loss
over the life of a depreciable asset.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, price risk and cash flow interest
rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Executive
Directors of the Group. The Executive Directors
identify and evaluate financial risks in close co-
operation with the operating units of the Group.
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A B R R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HKREBERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥EBMEZREE)
(a) Market risk (a) mHiEmEE

() Foreign exchange risk () SIMNEE Sz

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and the Republic of China
(“Taiwan”) and is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to Renminbi (“RMB”) and
New Taiwan dollar (“NTD”). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities denominated
in a currency that is not the functional currency
of the individual group company and net
investments in foreign operations.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk arising
primarily with respect to RMB and NTD.
Currency exposure arising from the net
assets of the Group’s foreign operations is
managed primarily through sourcing suppliers
denominated in the same foreign currencies.
Management considers the foreign currency
exposure with respect to RMB and NTD is not
significant as the functional currency of the
respective foreign operations are also RMB
and NTD respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March 2023, if HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2022: 5%) against RMB
with all other variables held constant, pre-tax
loss for the year would have been HK$809,000
lower/higher (2022: HK$1,108,000 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of payables
denominated in either HK$ or RMB that is not
the functional currency of the individual group
companies.

The Group minimised its other foreign
exchange risk by denominating majority of its
foreign currency transactions in the United
States dollar (“USD”), which is pegged with
HK$ at a designated range such that the
exposure on fluctuation of foreign currency
rate is limited.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk because of the investments held by
the Group and classified in the consolidated
balance sheet as financial assets at FVPL.
The Group is not exposed to commodity price
risk. To manage its price risk arising from
investments in equity securities, the investment
portfolio is continuously reviewed, carefully
monitored, and diversified in accordance with
the limits set by the Executive Directors of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HKREBERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥EBMEZREE)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) mEREEE)

(i) Price risk (Continued) (i) B1&E R (&)

(ii)

The Group’s equity securities interests are
publicly traded. At 31st March 20283, if the
share prices of the equity securities of the
Group had increased/decreased by 5% (2022:
5%), the pre-tax loss for the year would have
been HK$145,000 (2022: HK$295,000) lower/
higher.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group has cash balances placed with
reputable banks and financial institutions,
which generate interest income for the Group.
The Group manages its interest rate risk by
placing cash balances in these institutions with
various maturities and interest rate terms.

Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially
offset by cash held at variable rates. Details of
the Group’s borrowings have been disclosed
in Note 27.

At 31st March 2023, if the interest rate had
been 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis points)
higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, pre-tax loss for the year would
have been HK$33,000 lower/higher (2022:
HK$45,000 higher/lower).

(ii)

REBRARELERZH A
HEE M ZE_=F=
A=+—8 - WAEEK
AEHZBELEATK
5%(—FE——4F : 5%) -

BIJ 4 9 Br % A &5 18 18 R
4/ H#A1145,000% 7T (=
T -4 :295,000/8

JT) e

Jt_///bg %/2_/7/;”“
AEBEEFRNBERIT
ZRITRG BB RS
B RASEEANS
WA o REBFBIZTR
55| 57 A R % 1 R R 2%
SRR S RBRAE
78 £ FIE R o

FREBEESCAEEmEHR
EE//lLEﬂTH ﬁﬁﬁf‘%
2\ Bea B 10 12 1R T BY A R %
BZHeHEE - AEEE
B2 FBERME27 A

==
B °

#fz:—izﬂz+f

AR EF N B
5OT%S(Z§::
S0MEEE:) - MFATA E At
BHEHFETE  AFR
Bk B AT S B R L 18
AM33,0008 T(Z T ==
F #0824 45,0007
JT) °

Annual Report 2023 F%§

117



118

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
restricted bank balance, pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits, cash and bank balances,
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits.
The carrying amounts of each financial asset
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets.

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.
Credit risk arises from restricted bank balance,
pledged bank deposits, short-term bank
deposits and cash and bank balances as well
as credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding receivables and committed
transactions, and other debtors. The Group
only places deposits in reputable banks and
financial institutions and manages its credit risk
associated with trade receivables through the
application of credit approvals, credit ratings
and monitoring procedures. Advances to
other debtors will only be made to those with
appropriate credit histories.

Credit sales are only made to customers
with appropriate credit history or high credit
standing while sales to new customers or
customers of low credit standing are usually
made on cash on delivery basis. Loss of
receivables will be made in light of existing
evidence of uncollectibility.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HKREBERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥EBMEZREE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREEE)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) BB EERE

The Group has the following assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model:

e trade receivables from the provision of
services

° other financial assets at amortised cost

While restricted bank balance, pledged bank
deposits, short-term bank deposits and cash
and bank balances are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit loss, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. The Group measures
the expected credit losses on a combination
of both individual and collective basis. Trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics. Management
also considers the default rates and loss given
default from external rating agency report and
forward-looking information that may impact
the customer’s ability to repay the outstanding
balances.

Trade receivables with known insolvencies
are assessed individually for impairment
allowances and are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
of insolvencies include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and customers were in
delinguency of payments. As at 31st March
2023, the balance of loss allowance in respect
of these individually assessed receivables
was approximately HK$19,868,000 (2022:
HK$19,868,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HXEREKREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 B¥EBREE®E
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) BB EREE)
Trade receivables (Continued) B ZEWIE (&
Trade receivables without known insolvencies WAREEHNEENE S IE

are assessed on a collective basis based on
shared credit risk characteristic. Based on the
Group’s assessment, expected credit loss rate
of these trade receivables is close to zero. The
impact of the expected loss is assessed to
be immaterial and no further loss allowance is
needed under the expected credit loss model.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating loss. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously provided for or written off
are credited against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group applies a 12-month expected credit
loss on other financial assets at amortised cost.
Management considered among other factors,
analysed historical pattern and concluded
that except for an other receivable amounting
to HK$15,042,000 (2022: HK$56,096,000
included in Note 7), the expected credit loss
for other financial assets at amortised cost to
be immaterial as the credit risk is assessed as
low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HX¥EREKREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 B¥EBREZE#E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) BB ERE B
Other financial assets at amortised cost R g At 2.2 81
(Continued) BEEE(E)
During the year, the following provision/ FHN U TNBEAVBEE
(reversal) were recognised in profit or loss in WA Bt (B E) R E
relation to impaired financial assets: mRMER
2023 2022
—EZ=F —EF o=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Impairment losses on amounts due from  J& B & A 7] 718 2 R (&
associates B8 - 550
Impairment losses on other receivables — E b & KT8 2 R EE 18 15,042 =
Reversal of previous impairment losses on 1 [0 4t 5 & 5 e W 718
trade receivables ZREEE - (1,000)
Reversal of previous impairment losses on  #[8] 4 &l £ /b & Y 7108 ~
other receivables BIEEE (42,500) =
Net reversal of impairment losses on W% E ERABEREE
financial assets FRE (27,458) (450)

A provision for impairment of an other
receivable of HK$56,096,000 was made
during the year ended 31st March 2022 and
included in “loss on disposal of a subsidiary”
in Note 7 during the year ended 31st March
2022. During the year ended 31st March
2023, the Group was notified that the former
subsidiary has procured sufficient investment
into the company to repay the agreed amount
of HK$42,500,000. A reversal of impairment
of HK$42,500,000 was thus recorded in the
profit or loss during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of non-availability of funds to
meet all contractual financial commitments as they
fall due. The Group’s objectives are to maintain a
prudent financial policy, to monitor liquidity ratios
against risk limits and to maintain a contingency
plan for funding to ensure that the Group maintains
sufficient cash to meet its liquidity requirement.

The Group meets its day to day working capital
requirements, capital expenditure and financial
obligations through cash inflow from operating
activities and the facilities obtained from banks. Due
to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
management maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

The directors closely monitor the Group’s liquidity
position and financial performance to ensure it
has sufficient cash flow to meet the operational
need. These measures include raising additional
capital, extending existing loan facilities, obtaining
additional financing from banks and/or shareholder
and realising certain financial assets or investment
properties held by the Group through disposal, if
considered necessary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 831st March 2023, the Group held cash
and bank balances of HK$37,528,000 (2022:
HK$11,624,000). Except for cash and bank
balances, the Group also has short-term bank
deposits of HK$3,924,000 (2022: HK$3,309,000)
and financial assets at FVPL of HK$2,895,000
(2022: HK$5,893,000) that are expected to readily
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.
The Group is expected to be able to generate
sufficient cash flows to cover its operating costs
and meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due in the coming twelve months from the date
of these financial statements.

Further details on the Group’s liquidity position are
set out in Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HKEKREE®

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 B¥EBREE®E

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) REIELEEEE)
The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative T?E?«:%E TRBHEGEHEERSE
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings BRHHE 2 FHRHES D 2
based on the remaining period at the consolidated AR AR - NEEZIET
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity ERBEEEINT - RRNEFEZ
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the PRABEHNRTBEZHEER
contractual undiscounted cash flows. £

On demand Between Between

or less than 1and2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
RERKZ

—fh  -ERF WERF BFNL fast
HK$000  HKS0O0  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000
TAT TET TET TET TR

Group vy
At 31st March 2023 R=2-=%¥=A=+-H
Trade and other payables (excluding B REMERNTIR

accrued employee benefits) (IR EsHES %Eﬂ) 70,118 - - - 70,118
Amounts due to associates ERBEAFR 8,780 - - - 8,780
Lease liabilities Heat 11,609 11,941 36,790 66,050 126,390
Bank and other borrowings BAREMEE 32,216 99,001 - - 131,217
At 31st March 2022 R-E-ZF=ZR=1-H
Trade and other payables (excluding B REMERTIR

accrued employee benefits) (kR EsES %% i) 72,39 - - - 72,39
Amounts due to associates ERBEAFR 13,170 = = = 13,170
Lease liabilities HERE 12,884 12,634 39,329 78,504 143,351
Bank and other borrowings RIOREMEE 48,215 100,594 = = 148,809
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 H¥EREBREE®
32 EXER

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or convertible notes and derivative
financial instruments, or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided
by shareholders’ funds.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2023 and 2022
were as follows:

Bank and other borrowings (Note 27)

Lease liabilities (Note 13) HERBMWZ13)
Total borrowings BEE

Total equity HArEE

Debt to equity ratio BTG B 7 b 3
Gearing ratio* BEAENLE

*

Gearing ratio was calculated based on the Group’s bank
and other borrowings to its total equity as at 31st March
2023 and 2022.
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It B R AR B AR AR AR B
TRTHE o

R_BE-_=ZFR_FT-__F=
A=+—BzaBEEELRERMN
—F :

2023 2022
—E-= —E- %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
126,105 143,340
101,676 114,112
227,781 257,452
331,193 359,369
68.8% 71.6%
38.1% 39.9%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 B¥RREE®E
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AREMEE

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

e  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The carrying amount of the financial instrument of
the Group is as follows. See Note 12 for disclosure
relating to the property, plant and equipment which
are measured under revaluation model and Note 14
for investment properties which are measured at fair
value.

The following table presents the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value and included
in level 1 at 31st March 2023 and 2022.

Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BARBEFABRZTH
==
— Equity securities (Note 19) - RARFESH (M iE19)

TRABETEDNIEAAE
FEZMBIE - TREFRZ
EFMN

e FBEBEENABEBEEER
M5 L2 RECREHE)
(B—4R) -

o HZ(BMEMR) KM (A
BRITE)ERE KT
BEUSINZ ATEREES
BEBEG R -

e EMFEERAEREMS
BIEZEERREIE
(AIrAEBR#E) (=
%)

AEB B ITAEREEN
T BlREGEXGFENY
o KBINREBHOEE  F2
BHE12 MBEBZEARE
ENREYE  F2HME
14 o

TREVWRZZEZ=FK=ZF
T —F=ZA=+—HBE—#&
WIZ AR B E2 NS BB
BE -

2023 2022
—E=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
2,895 5,893
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The Group does not have any financial assets/
liabilities that are subject to offsetting, enforceable
master netting arrangement and similar agreements
during the year.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the consolidated balance sheet date. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily
equity investments listed in Hong Kong classified as
financial assets at FVPL.

The carrying values less loss allowance of deposits,
trade and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, short-term bank deposits, pledged
bank deposits, restricted bank balance, trade and
other payables, amounts due to associates, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities approximate their fair
values due to their short maturities.

During the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022,
there were no transfers of financial instruments
between levels 1, 2 and 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below:

(a)

Impairment of film and program rights, films
in progress and deposits for film and program
rights

As set out in Note 2.9, impairment assessment
on film and program rights, films in progress and
deposits for film and program rights are performed
at the end of each reporting period where there
is indication of impairment with reference to
both internal and external market information,
for example, sales forecast based on expected
popularity of the respective titles, the expected
production, sales and distribution costs budget and
the general economic conditions of the relevant
markets. Based on the assessment, impairment
losses on film and program rights, films in progress
and deposits for film and program rights amounting
to HK$17,500,000 (2022: HK$3,586,000) were
recognised in the consolidated income statement
during the year ended 31st March 2023. Changes
in assumptions used in this assessment, including
the forecasted revenue, may result in additional
provision being made in the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

(b) Valuation of investment properties and

(c)

buildings

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar leases and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, the Group
determines the amount within a range of reasonable
fair values estimated. In making its estimates,
the Group considers the information from the
valuations of investment properties and buildings
performed by external professional valuers by using
the open market value approach and depreciated
replacement cost. Had the Group used different
valuation techniques, the fair value of the investment
properties and buildings would be different and thus
may have an impact to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of other receivables

The Group makes provision for other receivables
based on an estimate of the recoverability of
these receivables. Provisions are applied to
other receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of impairment of
other receivables requires the use of estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of receivables and the provision for
impairment in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

The 12-month expected credit loss was applied.
The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default. The Group
uses judgment in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of other receivables (Continued)

Based on the assessment, impairment losses of
other receivables amounting to HK$15,042,000
(2022: HK$56,096,000) were recognised in the
consolidated income statement during the year
ended 31st March 2023.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based
on the higher of value-in-use calculations or fair
value less costs of disposal. The calculations require
the use of judgments and estimates. Management
judgment is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset
values may not be recoverable; (i) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
affect the net present value used in the impairment
test and as a result affect the Group’s financial
position and results of operations.

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WHkoIBEFR
2023 2022
—EB-= —ZF——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue W 2
Channel operations LR EEY 33,715 41,264
Film exhibition and film rights licensing and sub- ER G P E RIS
licensing N R 24,762 12,322
Cinema operations B P ZE 7 17,093 23,781
Applications and video online FE AR REFRIA - 851
75,570 78,218
Other income Hilr A
Rental income from investment properties wEMERS A
(Note 14) (B1aF14) 7,133 7,389
Management fee income EEEIWA 276 276
Dividend income A B A 9 18
Government grants (Note) 5 T 4 Bh (B 32) 690 50
Others HAth 1,798 2,301
9,906 10,034
85,476 88,252
Note: Bfet -

It mainly represents government subsidies from the Anti-epidemic Fund
granted by the HKSAR Government to provide time limited financial
support to eligible entities due to the adverse situation of COVID-19 in
Hong Kong. As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, there were no unfulfilled
conditions or other contingencies attached to the receipts of those

grants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The chief operating decision makers have been identified
as the Executive Directors of the Group. The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order
to assess performance, allocate resources and make
strategic decisions. The Executive Directors have
determined the operating segments based on the
Group’s internal reporting.

For the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022,
the Group mainly operates in the following business
segments:

o Channel operations

e  Film exhibition and film rights licensing and sub-
licensing

o Cinema operations
° Concert performance and events organisation
e  Applications and video online

° Property investment

5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

134

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WamkosHER =
(Continued)
The segment information for the year ended 31st March BEEFEEHEADCHE_T =
2023 by each principal activity is as follows: FZA=T—HILEFEHFER
T
Film
exhibition
and film
rights Concert
licensing performance  Applications
Channel and sub- Cinema and events and video Property
operations licensing operations  organisation online investment Others Group
EYHMR
EYME REER EREAR
fEgE RERER BRER EhEn ERRA NERE Bt e |
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz:23 FEn FEr FEn FEn TEx FEn FEn
Segment revenue AHkE 33,715 24,762 17,093 - - - - 75,510
Reportable segment profit/oss) AZRAHHE/ (BE) 5,160 (55,035) (18432) (305) (496) (9,563) 1,712 (76,959)
Reportable sagment assets A2RATHEE 14,547 130,289 53,825 10,126 111 21493 16,778 40,611
Reportable segment ialtes T283BEE (8,504) (38,821) (163439) (10,417) - (2908) (1575) (225,358)
Depreciation of property, plant and % BERJENE
equipment (249) (39) (4,140) - (19) - (103) (4,550)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE - - (45TM) - - - - (45M)
Fair value losses on revaluation of EfRENELARE
investment properties B8 - - - - - (15,217) - (15,277)
Amortsation of fim and program rights SYREE RESEE (2,685) (22,932) - - - - - (25,617)
Provision for impairment of fim and EYRMERERELY
program rights and fims in progress EYREZEE - (17,500) - - - - - (17,500)
Provision for impairment of property, 0% ERREERE
plant and equipment LEE - - (1,479 - - - - (1,479)
Provision for impairment of right-of- RRBEERBERE
Use assets - - (3,868) - - - - (3,868)
Provision for impairment of other receivables  E-ff1fE L& JERE R - (15,042) - - - - - (15,042)
Finance costs - - (7,724) - - - - (7,724)
Additions to property, plant and equipment 16 - - - - 3,683 54 3,753
Additions to fim and program rights,
fims in progress and deposits for
fim and program rights 992 7,198 - - - - - 8,190
Disaggregation of revenue from HEPRNZABRA
contracts with customers
Timing of revenue recognition:
At apoint in time % - 24,762 17,098 - - - - 41,855
Over time R-BEEA 33,715 - - - - - - 33,715
3,115 24,762 17,003 - - - - 75510
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WakosHFER@®E
(Continued)
The segment information for the year ended 31st March BEEXEEHEHCEE_T
2022 by each principal activity is as follows: F=ZRA=T—HIEFESFBERDN
N
Film
exhibition
and fim
rights Concert
ficensing performance Applications
Channel and sub- Cinema and events and video Property
operations ficensing operations organisation onling investment Others Group
BYHBR
EME EEER ERERR
JREEE RERER BREH £iEy ERRR NERE Efh L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
AT AT TAL TAT TAT TAL TAT AT
Segment revenue AdlE 41,264 12,322 23781 = 851 = = 78218
Reportable segment proft/oss) AZRAFHE/ (BE) 7,508 (11,789) (29,506) (259) (6,5%2) 12,429 (161) (28,297)
Reportable sagment assets AERHFEE 16,375 166,755 69,056 11,566 150 234,522 26875 525,299
Reportable segment liabilties T2RAHER (10,853) 40,770) (146,241) (8,636) - (3814) (20,669) (230,983)
Depreciation of property, plant and 0% BEREEINE
equipment (330) (14) (4,457) - (12) - (201) (5,014)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEE NG - = (6,243) = = = = (6,243)
Fair value gains on revaluation of EEREMEZDAE
investment properties e - - - - - 9,152 - 9,152
Amortisation of fim and program rights EYRMARERS (11,353 (2,520) = = = = = (13873
Provision for impairment of fim and BYROANE Kb
program rights, fims in progress EYNERE = (3.586) = = = = = (3,586)
Provision for impairment of property, 0% BEREERE
plant and equipment BB = = (5,839) = = = = (5,833
Provision for impairment of right-of- FREAERNECRE
Use assets - - (14,005) - - - - (14,005)
Impaiment losses on amounts due FUHERTRELAE
from assoclates BE - ) - - 366) - (179 (550)
Reversal of previous impairment BEAHESENFEL
losses on trade receivables HEEE S = = = = = 1,000 1,000
Loss on disposal of a subsidlary LE-BHBARZER - - - = (1,067) = = (1,067)
Finance costs BEUA - - (8,617) - - - - (8617)
Addtions to property, plant and equipment  FE/E - EBRR%E - k3 194 = % 11560 = 11,885
Addtions to fim and program rights, FESYRHEMRE
fims in progress and deposits for REREYRETR
fim and program rights EEl2 3,060 2,363 = = = = = 5423
Disaggregation of revenue from HEPENZABRA
contracts with customers
Timing of revenue recognition: Lt
Ata point in time RE-BY - 12,322 23,781 - 851 - - 36,954
Over time R-BEER 41,264 = = = = = = 41,064
4,264 12322 2781 - 8f - - 78218

Annual Report 2023 3¢ 135



136

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(@)

Others include the artiste management segment
and sales and distribution of films and programs
audio visual product format.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies.
Performance is measured based on segment profit/
(loss) that is used by the chief operating decision
makers for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance. Income tax
expense is not allocated to reportable segments.
Information provided to the Executive Directors of
the Group is measured in a manner consistent with
that of the consolidated financial statements.

The revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities of
the Group are allocated based on the operations of
the segments.

The revenue of HK$7,409,000 (2022:
HK$7,665,000) attributable to the segment
“property investment” has been included in other
income.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WamkosHER @@
(Continued)
(d) Reconciliation of the reportable segment profit (d TE2HoLiEE - EEREE

or loss, assets and liabilities

Reportable segment profit or loss, assets and
liabilities are reconciled to loss before income tax
and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as

follows:
Profit or loss B
Reportable segment loss ﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂféﬂﬁ
Unallocated amounts: KA BLFRIE
Unallocated other income Kok Eﬁﬂ&)\
Unallocated other (losses)/gains — net KO EM(EE),
Wzs - 558
Unallocated finance costs R BL & B AR
Unallocated reversal of previous impairment RO E SR EAMA
losses on other receivables FEWRIE 2 R EE 1R
Unallocated depreciation of property, plant ROBLZE - #es
and equipment B TE
Unallocated depreciation of right-of-use ROBEREEE Y
assets e
Unallocated share of (losses)/profits of ROME(EHE R T
associates (&18) /FH
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EZERE
Loss before income tax per consolidated ReWmEmeZ
income statement KR Er ST A B 18

ZH R

AE#RyAiEs EERAE
BEASEGRAETAIEE - 2
BENBABBHERNT

2023 2022
—EC=F S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(76,959) (28,297)
9 18
(2,975) 153
(532) (1,280)
42,500 -
(7,704) (6,830)
(788) (788)
(1,293) 2,606
(5,360) (8,153)
(53,102) (42,571)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WakoBER @
(Continued)
(d) Reconciliation of the reportable segment profit (d) TE2{KIBER  BEEREE
or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) ZEERE)
Assets BE
2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Reportable segment assets AIEMOHEE 440,611 525,299
Unallocated assets: AOBEE :
Unallocated property, plant and equipment ROBLZE - e
and right-of-use assets REAREREEE 227,453 213,231
Unallocated other receivables R Bt Eo b fE W 5k IE 5,784 =
Unallocated financial assets at FVPL *ﬁ@ﬁﬁ’&u@d‘k
BRseMEE 2,895 5,893
Unallocated cash and bank balances AOBLIRE RIRTTEES 187 63
Unallocated interests in associates PN N Al/NE]|
X 9,168 10,513
Unallocated corporate assets ROMBEEE 2,002 2,192
Total assets per consolidated balance sheet mEBEABRRMIZ
BEE 688,100 757,196
Liabilities afE
2023 2022
—E-= S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Reportable segment liabilities AERoEaE 225,358 230,983
Unallocated liabilities: RAOBLEE -
Unallocated bank and other borrowings ADERITREMES 80,682 97,184
Unallocated amounts due to associates Ao ECFEREE A RIFRIE 8,780 13,710
Unallocated current income tax liabilities AOBEENHAFT S & & 4,301 4,074
Unallocated deferred income tax liabilities ROBLELEFTSHEE 25,487 26,431
Unallocated corporate liabilities Aol XafE 3,786 15,936
Total liabilities per consolidated balance sheet  4R& & E B EXRIZ
waE 348,394 388,318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e)

Geographical analysis of revenues from
external customers and non-current assets

The Group is principally domiciled in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Taiwan. The revenues from
external customers and non-current assets other
than financial instruments located in Hong Kong and
other countries are analysed below:

Hong Kong Eib
Mainland China A B A i
Taiwan &

HBE KR

Other countries

During the year ended 31st March 2023, two
customers individually contributed over 10% of the
Group’s revenue (2022: 1 customer). The revenue
from the customers during the years are as follows:

EPA
EFB

Customer A
Customer B

The customer did not contribute over 10% of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31st March 2022.

L 6-95%:)

(e)

HER @)

REMBEF 2WERIFERD
BEEZHEDH
AEBEBUEFE  FEAM
keBEREft  EURE
B REMBERZREINBEP
WakERnBEE(ERIA
BRINZ AT

Revenue from
external customers

REIMEREF W=
2023 2022
—E-=F oS- =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
44,140 35,316
22,888 25,707
8,542 9,633
- 7,562
75,570 78,218

HeE—_ZT-_=F=A=+—H
HFE ERMEEFESEER

AEEBBI0ORKE(ZETE=—=
F:—FEF) REBEFE
RKERPHWEESIWNT
2023 2022
—=E2-= =T

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
25,092 23,806

8,542 —*

: ZEFRBE_ZT__F=H

S+t -—BEFEIESRAS
I ER 81 0% H Y o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e) Geographical analysis of revenues from
external customers and non-current assets

(Continued)

Hong Kong e
Mainland China == E7RvNpr
Taiwan o
Other countries H A B R

() Assets and liabilities related to contracts with
customers

The Group has recognised the following assets and

Wk oIpER @)

(e) REIIMBEFZWFERIR

BEZHWEDH(E)

Non-current assets
(other than financial assets)

ERBEE(ZRMEERN)

2023 2022
—E=F S

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

428,683 473,445

136,716 171,974

23,700 25,400

- 1,318

589,099 672,137

(l EEFENFBZEERARE

AEEERATNEZFANEA

liabilities related to contracts with customers: HMeEENRERE:
2023 2022
—=s=-= —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Deferred fulfilment costs related to concert FREEE REWEH 2
performance and events organisation iU =D 300 300
Less: provision for impairment of deferred B RIE B AR AS 2 RE
fulfilment costs B (300) (300)
Net deferred fulfilment costs RIE B AR 2N F 5 - -
Receipts in advance from film exhibition and film & 52 kR & & 72 iR 1%
rights licensing and sub-licensing operations i & B8R 2 TRUGRIE 6,488 9,735
Receipts in advance derived from cinema Bhbr R Fr 15 < FAWGRIA
operations 3,762 3,639
Total contract liabilities BHBEERE 10,250 13,374
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

() Assets and liabilities related to contracts with
customers (Continued)

(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
The following table shows the amount of

revenue recognised in the current year that
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities:

mEMBEHRRMEE

WzmkoHBER @

() HEFESHNEHZEEREE
(&)

() FRHEHRRZKZER

TREAFERERR S
TREESHEERRZ

Revenue recognised that was included inthe st AFHIELEE
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of &4 2 B #ER U S

the year
Licensing and sub-licensing of film rights B R
Cinema operations I
Channel operations BEYEEL

%8 -
2023 2022
—E-=F — B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
B RAE 4,759 339
2,076 1,367
- 8,041
6,835 9,747
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() Assets and liabilities related to contracts with
customers (Continued)

(ii) Unsatisfied performance obligations

The following table shows the unsatisfied
performance obligations resulting from fixed-
price channel operations and film rights
licensing and sub-licensing contracts:

Aggregate amount of the transaction price

allocated to contracts that are partially or fully — = #8703k & 28K E
unsatisfied as at 31st March TEHNRFZER
4]

Management expects that 73% (HK$25,601,000)
of the transaction price allocated to the
unsatisfied contracts as of 31st March 2023
will be recognised as revenue during the next
year; 21% (HK$7,434,000) will be recognised
in the financial year ending 31st March 2025
and the remaining 6% (HK$2,135,000) will be
recognised in the financial years ending 31st
March 2026, 2027 and 2028.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5 WakoBER @
() EEFESYEHECEERERE
(&)
(i) FERBHEF

R=A=1+—H%E

TRESIE T ERBEE
%R BEMER KB
BRZRTRENEE :

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
35,170 82,438

EREWE  RZT==
FZRA=+—HOEERX
BITEHNZR %E*%Em
73%(25,601,000% 7T) #%
ET—FERRAEKZ=E
21%(7,434,0007 7T) & 7
—E-_RF=ZA=1+—H
IEHBFERER - 8T
6% (2,135,000/8 7T) &1
ZEZRF B F
N=_F-_NF=ZA=+—
BB B ERER °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EXPENSES BY NATURE

B B SRR Y R

6 BRMESD X

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling, distribution FTASHERAR - HE - BITETIS
and marketing expenses and administrative expenses are HERSZARITBAS 2R 5T
analysed as follows: (N
2023 2022
—EZ=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Cost of inventories FEKAR 150 189
Amortisation of film and program rights (Note 15) B B B hRAE 5
(Kta£15) 25,617 13,873
Depreciation e
— Owned property, plant and equipment -BEWE  MERF
(Note 12) H (i 12) 12,254 11,844
- Right-of-use assets (Note 13) - FREEEWZL13) 5,359 7,031
Provision for impairment of film and program rights, &8 M &0 B MfE - BEh
films in progress and deposits for film and program  BF R EF N &0 E e
rights (Note 15) e 2 RBEEE
(Ktat15) 17,500 3,586
Provision for impairment of property, plant and WE - R REE 2 RE
equipment (Note 12) BiEFaF12) 1,479 5,833
Provision for impairment of right-of-use assets E A E 2R E R
(Note 13) (HfeE13) 3,868 14,005
Provision for impairment of deferred fulfilment costs &1L /& 472N 2 el {8 B 15 - 300
Rent concessions granted as a direct consequence of X COVID-198) & &% R i
COVID-19 EANHESRR - (295)
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z S B &
— Audit services ~- R HRTS 1,868 1,861
- Non-audit services - IERRBURTS 20 =
Direct operating expenses arising from investment EAHSWAZIZREMZE
properties that generate rental income (Note 14) ZHEEEERT
(Ktat14) 1,372 1,415
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ EERNAZ(BIEES
emoluments) (Note 11) Bl &) (Mfat11) 33,761 38,465
Exchange gains bE 5 s (395) (1,371)
Marketing and promotion expenses MEHEREERY 6,750 756
Short-term operating lease rental in respect of BFrRigeEEnie
buildings (Note 13) (Hfet13) 32 31
Production, playout and origination costs BUE - BFBIRASIERCAR 2,785 6,366
Legal and professional fees FERRBERBER 3,766 3,575
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

7 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS - NET

7 Hit(EBE) s - B8

2023 2022
—EB-= —_EF_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&Er
Fair value (losses)/gains on revaluation of investment BFEREMEZ AR E
properties (Note 14) (B518) Wz (Kt 14) (15,277) 9,152
Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at FVPL ~ Z AR EzF ABZHZ 4 &/t
BEZAREERER),
Was (2,975) 153
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note) HE B AR ZEE
(H1aE) - (1,057)
(18,252) 8,248

Note:

On 28 February 2022, the Group terminated a Variable Interest Entity
arrangement (“VIE”) with a 100% controlled subsidiary, 1t R £
M B REAR AT (“JZZX"), and its financial performance
and position were deconsolidated as of the date of termination. As of
the date of VIE termination, JZZX recorded a net liabilities position of
HK$58,513,000, of which HK$56,096,000 represents an amount due
to the Group, and exchange reserve of HK$3,474,000, which was
debited to profit or loss during the year ended 31st March 2022. In view
of the uncertainty over the recoverability of the amount due from JZZX
of HK$56,096,000, a full provision was made as at 31st March 2022
based on management’s assessment (Note 21). As a result, upon such
deconsolidation, the Group recorded a net loss of HK$1,057,000 which
is recognised in “other (losses)/gains — net” for the year ended 31st
March 2022.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A

Hfat

RZZT_—_F-_A=+N\H8 ' A"EBEKRIE—
H100% 32 B B A Bl dt RAEZ MG B
MRIEAER AR ([FELENM]) 2] ERERSE
RT((EERER])  HUBEEERRK
MARRIEEBEEECEGAAR - #EA
BRSAEEKRIEER  ERAMEBAESF
858,513,000/ T + H 156,096,000/ 7T 5
JE 7R & B SR I8 [ SN (% #13,4 74,0007 7T
(ZREEAABHE_ T -_—F=A=+—
AIEFEMBRT) - EREWRELZ MK
1856,096,000/8 0.2 A] I B 12 17 £ e e
MR- E-__F=ZA=+—H " 21
BEREA G2 EEHREE HE21) - B
It EZEUHGZA ARE - AEEREBERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

FINANCE COSTS - NET

Finance income
Interest income on short-term bank deposits

Interest income from the financing components of
contracts with customers

Finance costs
Interest on bank and other borrowings
Interest on bank overdrafts
Interest element of lease liabilities (Note 13)
Interest on the financing components of contracts
with customers

Finance costs — net

8 MMEMAS — FHE

BHEWA
RHIRITERZHE
WA
HEPAHZBMEHEK
#B 2 FEHA

BB R A
RITREMIEEZFE
RITESHE
MEREZNE#ZE13)
HEEFPAHZBMEHEK

BB ZFE

BMERAE - FHE

2023 2022
—E2-= —EF-—

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
315 108

- 211

315 319
(3,415) (3,837)
(298) (457)
(4,528) (5,603)
(15) -
(8,256) (9,897)
(7,941) (9,578)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

9 INCOME TAX CREDIT

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided
as the Group did not generate any assessable profit in
Hong Kong during the years ended 31st March 2023 and
2022. Taxation on other jurisdictions’ profits has been
calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year
at the rates of taxation prevailing in the locations in which
the Group operates.

8B R
HMAAEERBE T =8
S F=-A=Z1+—HLEFEIE
REBELETAERF G - i
B BB GRELEE - HiF
SERERFE 2 B IZ B E R ETIE
AR AR B & AT
ZIRITRIEEH -

2023 2022
—E-=F B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Current income tax BNERFT 1S AR

- Hong Kong corporate income tax - BB EEMEH - -
- Overseas corporate income tax - BN ETISEL 143 90

— Under/(over)-provision in prior years (Note) -BEFERE IR
(EBFBRHE) (M 7) 7 (1,003)
Deferred income tax (Note 28) BRIEFTEE (K7 E28) (4,160) (2,325)
Income tax credit FrisBiEe (3,946) (3,2398)

Note: Hfat -

The over-provision for the year ended 31st March 2022 represented
the derecognition of tax provision of which the time-bar period for
assessment of the relevant provision has expired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

9 FEHER®

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs K&
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the Ra

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continuea)

Hong Kong taxation rate, as follows:

Loss before income tax

Share of losses/(profits) of associates accounted for

using the equity method

Tax calculated at a rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%)

Effect of different taxation rates in other countries

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax assets

were recognised

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised

Under/(over)-provision in prior years

Income tax credit

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic

B 2 BRFTSBipI B 18 < R TR E
KARBMEMGSGE 2 BHmR
BRZERMT -
2023 2022
—E-=F -T2
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
BRETBHATEE (53,102) (42,571)
DR e A AR Z B
NElZ R, (i) 1,293 (2,606)
(51,809) (45,177)
BHRE16.5%(ZE-—

16.5%) 5T & 2 {18 (8,548) (7,454)
HEMBRNERE 2 8 1,217 (3,833)
BERFUA (11,442) (3,771)
A HEAX 8,391 7,603
I R RIR I AT SRR

BE 2 MIEEE 8,620 6,167
FABERERZMIBEE (2,255) (947)
BEFEBEEBETIR

(EBRE R fA) 7 (1,008)
i8R (3,946) (3,238)

10 BRE#E
(a) E&

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$48,915,000 (2022: HK$39,232,000) by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
5,923,739,000 (2022: 5,923,739,000) in issue

during the year.

(b) Diluted

(b)

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31st
March 2023 and 2022 are the same as the basic
loss per share as there were no dilutive potential

ordinary shares.

BRENGEZARREEA
JE (5 E54848,915,000/8 T (==
— 4 :39,232,000/& 7T) K&
WFABBITEBRINEFY
#(5,923,739,000/ (=T = —
F 1 5,923,739,00008) 5+ & -

w8

BRI BB E LR -
HE-_T-_=Fk=-T=-—
A=+ RHLFEZERE
SEBEEGRAREEMER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Wages and salaries
Pension costs — defined contribution plans

(a)

TEEF <

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include two (2022:
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented in Note 35. The emoluments
paid or payable to the remaining three (2022: three)
individuals during the year are as follows:

Basic salaries, allowances and other AR
benefits in kind LIk

Pension costs — defined contribution plans
Bl

All the individuals’ emoluments fell within the band
of HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 for the years
ended 31st March 2023 and 2022.

During the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022,
no emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
two (2022: two) directors or the three (2022: three)
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.
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BKREBRA - FE

o
K

&l

(a)

CRMRHEME

BIKERA - FEHR

11 EETFBIX

2023 2022
—E2-= =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

30,677 33,886

3,084 4,579

33,761 38,465

ANBESHFMAL

FR - AEBRURSHFHA
TH - MBE(ZZEZZF - W
FIERESE  FEZHMEER
fizE352 5 2 AT R - FR
ENENTESHR=-R(ZE
TZF = R)ERaFMAL
ZBemT

2023 2022
—E2-= =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

4,748 4,670

108 104

4,856 4774

HE_T-_-FK-FT-_—

“A=T—HLFE  ZZFA
+ 2 Bl < #i[E &1,000,0018 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

11 EETEFBEXX®

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Emolument policy

The Group’s emoluments (including the directors’
emoluments) are determined by the Board of
Directors with reference to their contributions in
terms of time, effort and their expertise and are
reviewed on an annual basis.

Pension schemes arrangement

The Group provides a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for its staff in Hong
Kong under the requirement of the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(“MPF Scheme Ordinance”). Under the current MPF
scheme, the Group’s contributions are calculated
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as defined
in the MPF Scheme Ordinance up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 per employee per month. The employees
also contribute a corresponding amount to the
MPF Scheme if their relevant income is more than
HK$7,100 per month. All benefits derived from the
mandatory contribution must be preserved until the
employee reaches the retirement age of 65 subject
to certain exceptions. The assets of the MPF
scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in independently administered funds. The total
contribution to the MPF Scheme paid by the Group
during the year amounting to HK$358,000 (2022:
HK$304,000).

(b)

(c)

B & B R

rEEzHMe(BREEFHE)
DHEFSELSEREMTL
ZREIRBN  UEREFEZER
XHAamEE Ye8FR
A °

RS EIZ B

AEERBEEERHEAES
T EVEBI (TR B S 5T 2 1E 51 ))
TZHERERBE TiRM®
HEAEEFEGO((RES
FHEIERAEI]) o RIBIREFHRTE
TFE  AKE ZHFIRRTE
SrFEMEAIFTRE 2 B EEE
WAS%TE R ATEE
& A1,5008 T © fiWfg B 248
AR AEBE A7,100% 7T -
Al EIMAER SRR SR EIfEE
HESE ZH-E - BRETHII
BN - R RATEE 2
2HEIERE BEEEER
FIECSERIRIKRFIR ALE © 8T8
B EERASEE EE
2 AXBIUBEESE
BFA AEERBESE
S{EH 2 48 %8 /358,000
BT (T Z ZF : 304,000
L) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(c)

Pension schemes arrangement (Continued)

The Group also contributes to a defined contribution
retirement scheme (the “Retirement Scheme”) which
provides retirement benefits to its employees who
joined the Group prior to the adoption of the MPF
Scheme and chose not to join the MPF Scheme
after its adoption. The Retirement Scheme’s
assets are held in a provident fund (the “Fund”)
managed by an independent administrator. Under
the Retirement Scheme, both the employer and
the employees are required to contribute 5% of the
basic salary of the employees (up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 per employee) on a monthly basis. The
employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s
contribution after 10 years of completed service,
or at a reduced scale of between 20% and 90%
after completion of 2 to 9 years’ service, in which
case the forfeited contributions are to be used to
reduce the employer’s contributions. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay the related employee benefits.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

11 EETEFBEXX®

(c)

RASFTHEIRZHE

REE M A E HFRIRETE]
(MRARETEIDEH#H R - RIK
Bl AR RTE S AT EIE AR N
BASEARRESFT TN
BN EEEINARESF S 2
B B IRERIKEF o RIKFTE
CEERBABIERATEZ
~E2(E2DEE - BRER
K&t8l - BEREEHEEA
HREBEAFE5%EHHK
(= ABEE1,50087T) °
EERTHRIOFRBGEEES
EREEFEL Z2100%H K -
KR TH2EIF RIE1& © 1RIE
BB ZE B20% E90%1E & f#t
Mo FEUIBRAT » BRI
AR IREZHR - WE
W ERBERHNEEINEH
EERA - A RNEEINEEE
TR ME—FHRK -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

11 EETEFBEXX®

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(c)

Pension schemes arrangement (Continued)

At 31st March 2023 and 2022, there is no forfeited
contributions available to reduce future contributions
under the Retirement Scheme. There were no
contributions payable to the MPF Scheme and the
Retirement Scheme as at 31st March 2023 and
2022.

As stipulated under the relevant rules and
regulations in the Mainland China, the Group’s
subsidiary operating in the Mainland China
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for
its employees. Depending on the provinces of the
employees’ registered residences and their current
region of work, the subsidiary contributes certain
percentages of the basic salaries of its employees
and has no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post retirement benefits beyond the
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans
are responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to the retired employees.

The aggregate employer’s contributions, net of
forfeited contributions, which have been dealt with in
the consolidated income statement in relation to the
Retirement Scheme for the year ended 31st March
2023 amounted to HK$44,000 (2022: HK$53,000).
The total contribution to the social insurance paid
for the state-sponsored retirement plans by the
Group during the year amounted to HK$2,682,000
(2022: HK$4,222,000).

(c)

RASFHEIZHE

RZE_=FR-ZTE-__F=
A=+—8 W& IIR
BRAFTEI 2 RRERZE R
WHERK R _=ZFR_F
TZF=ZA=+—H: &R
g2 8RR RFT &8 2 H

=+
K e

12 R PP B A 2 A B AR R SR AR
ME - AEERTBEAMLEE
MEARARERERER
BB E R IRET SIE H 5K - 1R
FREBTHFPEENRER
RIT{EE - B A RZAEL
HEEBEAHEETEDLH
"X - B EE— T BEFZ
FHFIMRAKR S FTORIKRE
FIERERN - ZFBRE
B RIRET 81 B B R RIKE

EME2EHERAREEE -

ERBE_ET_=F=A=+
—HIEFEZHEAERERANE
B EERRGE 2 ke
B (HBR 22 Wt 50 A44,000
BIL(ZE -4 : 53,000/
TL) c AEBERAFEEREX
BPMENRGTEZNOTE
RER BB RE /R 2,682,00078
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At 1st April 2021

Valuation

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March 2022

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation charge (Note 6)
Impairment loss (Note (g))
Revaluation surplus (Note (g))
Disposals

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 7)
Exchange differences

Closing net book amount

R —FMA-H
fibfE

A
ZHMERAE

SR

HE-2--
SA=T-RIEEE
ENREFE

hE

REER W26

REEENE)

EERBWHE)

HE

HE—RERBLAR MWL)
ERES

FREMIE

12 3% - BBERRE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Freehold Leasehold  fixtures and Motor
land Buildings improvements  equipment vehicles Total
R RER
KAKELH B HENREE # RE @it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
& & & & & &
- 143,012 - - - 143,012
17,694 - 73,471 57,171 6,375 154,711
- - (63,042) (47,634) (6,036) (106,712)
17,694 143,012 20,429 9,537 339 191,011
17,694 143,012 20,429 9,537 339 191,011
- - 228 11,657 - 11,885
- (5,278) (1,851) (4,471) (244) (11,844)
- - (4,270) (1,569) - (6,833)
- 29,238 - - - 29,238
- - - (8,908) - (8,908)
- - - (143 - (143
45 15 667 306 1 1,034
17,739 166,987 15,203 6,420 9% 206,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

At 31st March 2022

Valuation

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March 2023

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation charge (Note 6)
Impairment loss (\ote (6)
Revaluation surplus (Note (a))
Exchange differences

Closing net book amount

At 31st March 2023

Valuation

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book amount

RZE-—%#=f=1-A
&t

AR

BIMERAE

REAE

HE-E-=£=f
=+-HIEER
ENEETE
RE
WEERWito)
REBE W)
BB
EiEE

FRERAE
WZZZ=E=f=1-R
faf

AR

BiHTERAE

AR

12 Y% - EENRRE®)

Furniture,
Freehold Leasehold fixtures and Motor
land Buildings  improvements equipment vehicles Total
RE £ER
KAERELH BF HENERE By RE @t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
- 166,987 - - - 166,987
17,739 - 75,605 60,045 6,411 159,850
- - (60,452) (63,625) (6,315) (120,3%)
17,739 166,987 15,203 6,420 96 206,445
17,139 166,987 15,203 6,420 96 206,445
- - - 3137 16 3,753
- (6,413) (2,659) (3,085) @) (12,254)
- - (1,268) (211) - (1,479)
- 20,526 - - - 20,526
(1,049) (321) (789) (343) - (2,502)
16,690 180,779 10,487 6,518 15 214,489
- 180,779 - - - 180,779
16,690 - 71,929 60,666 6,335 155,620
- - (61,442 (54,148) (6,320) (121,910)
16,690 180,779 10,487 6,518 15 214,489
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(@)

The buildings were last revaluated on 31st March
2023 by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited, an
independent professional qualified valuer. The
building in Hong Kong was valued on a depreciated
replacement cost basis, which is the estimated
current replacement costs of the buildings less
deductions for physical deterioration and all
relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.
The buildings in Mainland China and Taiwan were
revalued using the basis of open market value.
The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred
income taxes was credited to buildings revaluation
reserve through other comprehensive income.

During the year ended 31st March 2023, revaluation
surplus of HK$20,526,000 (2022: HK$29,238,000)
has been credited to the other comprehensive
income.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

12 Y% - EENRRE@)

(@)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

(@ (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy

At 31st March 2023
Recurring fair value measurements
Properties held for own use

— Located in Hong Kong

= Located in Mainland China

— Located in Taiwan

At 31st March 2022
Recurring fair value measurements
Properties held for own use

- Located in Hong Kong

— Located in Mainland China

— Located in Taiwan

RZEZ=F=A=+—H
KEUAREFE

S E=RkES

- (L REE

- IR B A

- frit &g
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fgo o
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EHHE)
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&
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R

|

|
[
ED—E'HJ}/H
=

A

s

|
—
=F

12 Y% - EENRRE®)

(@) (&)

NRIERE

Fair value measurements using

DRETE - HER

Significant
other Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HihbEX BEX
AERYE TUBRHYE
(=) (B=8) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TFET
- 163,659 163,659
12,100 - 12,100
5,020 - 5,020
17,120 163,659 180,779
- 147,957 147,957
13,600 - 13,600
5,430 - 5,430
19,030 147,957 166,987
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% - EENRRE@)
(Continued)
@ (Continued) @ &

Fair value measurements using significant FRAE AR AR >

unobservable inputs (Level 3) AREFTEE=R)
Properties held for own use: FHIEE AW :

At beginning of the year REA]

Depreciation charge TEEH
Revaluation surplus EH AR

At end of the year RER

The finance department reviews the valuations
performed by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited for
financial reporting purpose. These valuation results
are then reported to the chief financial officer and
senior management for discussions in relation to
the valuation processes and the reasonableness of
valuation results.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
147,957 125,012
(5,860) (4,762)
21,562 27,707
163,659 147,957
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

Below is a summary of the key inputs to the

valuation of buildings:

Valuation technique(s)

fhER &

Hong Kong industrial properties

BEEIENE

Depreciated replacement cost method

REEERANE

PRC commercial properties

GETESIES

Direct comparison method

EENEA

Taiwan commercial properties

BEERNE

Direct comparison method

HENEE

Other observable/
unobservable inputs

At EE/ FURRBAHE

Construction unit cost and
depreciation rate

BEBMNARTER

Open market value

NI

Open market value

DRmE

B B SRR Y R

12 Y% - EENRRE®)

(@ (&)
BFEHENEIERHABERE
m
Relationship Range
B &€

The higher the construction unit Construction unit

cost, the higher the fair value cost of
BEBNRAMR - HK$13,300/5q. m

RAEEE (2022:
HK$11,400/sq. m)
and depreciation

rate of 2.25%

(2022: 2.00%)
BEBMHA
GE7K13,300% T
(ZB-—&:
FFAK11,4007 1)
RITEE2.25%
(ZZFZ=F 1 2.00%)

The higher the depreciation
rate, the lower the fair value
WEXHYE - DAERE

HK$1,000 (2022:
HK$1,100) per

The higher the price per square
foot, the higher the fair value

BYARERES - square foot
PAEYS FFHR1,00087T(=
o

FEHR1,100%7T)

The higher the price per square HK$970 (2022:
foot, the higher the fair value HK$1,050) per
BIARERER square foot
RRESE GEHRIT0ET
(ZB-=%F:

FFHR1,050%7T)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(b)

The Group’s buildings are stated at valuation and
other components of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
The carrying amount of the buildings would have
been HK$69,005,000 (2022: HK$71,755,000) had
they been stated on historical cost basis.

At 31st March 2023, the freehold land and certain
buildings with an aggregate carrying value of
HK$21,710,000 (2022: HK$23,169,000) were
pledged as security for banking facilities granted to
the Group (Note 27(a)(i)).

Depreciation expense of HK$12,254,000
(2022: HK$11,844,000) has been included in
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated
income statement (Note 6).

The Group’s cinema operations in Guangzhou
and Tianjin have been adversely affected since the
outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 and were loss
making for the year ended 31st March 2023. In
addition, the Group’s cinema operations are unable
to meet management’s budget. In view of these
impairment indicators, the directors of the Company
have carried out an impairment assessment on
the Guangzhou and Tianjin cinemas, which are
determined as two separate CGUs, and reviewed
the recoverable amounts of these CGUs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

)

(Continued)

Recoverable amounts of these CGUs has been
determined by value-in-use calculation. The
calculations are made with the use of discounted
cash flow model, based on financial budgets
approved by management covering the remaining
lease terms of the cinemas in Guangzhou to 2034
and in Tianjin to 2032. The key assumptions used in
the value-in-use calculation are set out below:

2023
—E-=

Annual growth rate of revenue in 2024

Annual growth rate of revenue extrapolated
beyond 2024

Pre-tax discount rate

U253 &
mﬁuﬂﬂiiﬁﬁ

2022

— =

Annual growth rate of revenue in 2023
Annual growth rate of revenue in 2024

—TNFEFEKRE
;zfm@ézwﬁr;

B B SRR Y R

12 Y% - EENRRE®)

(€)

SE-SEERAERE
—EomErEREEE

Annual growth rate of revenue extrapolated ~ —Z — P4 @: 2 HEER iE

U253 &
iRl EE@%?

beyond 2024
Pre-tax discount rate

Management determines estimated revenue
growth rates based on past performance and its
expectation of market development. The growth
rates projected for 2024 reflect the growth from the
resumption of cinema operations as the operations
during the year ended 31st March 2023 were still
constrained by capacity limit in cinemas and other
unfavourable control measures, in particular the
temporary closure for several months due to the
increase in COVID-19 infected cases since March
2022 in Guangzhou and Tianjin. The revenue growth
projection in 2024 has assumed that the cinemas
would be under full operation with the expectation
that all precautionary measures are removed.
The discount rate is determined with reference
to specific risks relating to the relevant CGU and
country in which the CGU operates.

ZERSELEMNAIKE S
BIRFERAEENEEET - %
ZLHETERINEEREMNER
BEE_ZT-WFERERKRERMRE
B _FH T HABRYE
SEEBHECZYHEERSE
AEENTINE S REENIE
e FREEFEEMAZE
E/RJFHINWT -

Guangzhou Tianjin
BEM P

1 R R 44% 113%
2% 2%

13% 13%
Guangzhou Tianjin
&M R

11% 41%

35% 9%

2% 2%

14% 14%

EEEREBEFRRLEST
158 R 7 T8 BT S AT Uk 2 1
RE B —_ZT-_MFEMER
T% e ARBETIRE

BRNER  AREZE-Z
__E A=+—HILFE®

ZAN & 3 BBk B A9 A BBR
&ﬁ@TﬂaTth@%
LTERARB-ZE-_—_F=A
AR E M K RZHCOVID-19
B HIIE 0 - R B A% B A
A M- _mWFakas
HERTBAE REE RS2 E
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RENBREFHERESEEEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
(e) (Continued)
As a result of the assessment, the Group has

recognised impairment losses for the years ended
31st March 2023 and 2022 as follows:

12

Y - HERFRE®

e #&

BEFHER  AEEERE
ETE—FRNE - F=
A=+—HILFE®BRBEE
BHERIAT :

Property, plant and equipment VE BIERRE
Guangzhou cinema Tianjin cinema Total
ENEKR X8R @5t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Z§-zf  ZZ-- Z§-zf —Z-C ZECZE  ZZ-F
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz &7 FhEr T A7 FET
Net carrying value as at 31st March before RS EAERIN= A
current year's impairment =t-ANERFE 9,929 20,536 95 310 10,024 20,846
Provision for impairment for the year (Note §)  AE B #T A ER &
(Hz6) (1,479) (,791) - () (1,479) (5,833)
Net carrying value as at 31st March after ~ HERR=A=1—HE
impairment FRFE 8,450 14,745 95 268 8,545 15,013
Right-of-use assets EHRZE
Guangzhou cinema Tianjin cinema Total
ENBR RE2ER a3t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-Zf  -E--F ZB-=f€ C-E--fF ZBE-ZE  ZE-Cf
HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TET &7 THET &7 TET
Net carmying value as at 31st March before ~ AEEHERN= A
current year's impairment =T-BREEFE 24,967 38,116 19,946 28,181 44,913 66,297
Provision for impairment for the year (Note ) N5 B jaifE & s
(Hiie) (3,868) (10,178) - (3.827) (3,868) (14,009)
Net carrying value as at 31st March after %R =A=1—HK
impairment FRFE 21,099 27,938 19,946 24,354 41,045 52,292
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

€)

(Continued)
It is inherently difficult to estimate the revenue

B B SRR Y R

12 Y% - EENRRE®)

e #&

RN R IE R RETEFTF
HEEARE - LER - REYH

growth rate in the future. In particular, the extent the
pandemic will impact management’s assumptions is
subject to significant uncertainty. Sensitivity analysis
has been performed by management with details

set out below:

2023

Key assumptions
FERR

If revenue growth rate in 2024
decrease by 10%

185 = = 4 M TRE10%

If pre-tax discount rate increase by 1%

B AR R R IR = 1%

2022

Key assumptions

FERR

If revenue growth rate in 2023 and
2024 decrease by 10%

f=B==FR=BMFH
U 2518 R R REE10%

If pre-tax discount rate increase by 1%

AR IR R IE = 1%

ERERRNYERERIE
ARBFEIE 2 H 8 - ERET
ETRBIEAH - HEWT

—_E-=

Guangzhou cinema

=N R

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$4,938,000
will be resulted
EEBURE X H

1% 514,938,000/ 7T

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$336,000
will be resulted
EEBURE X H

# H1336,0007 7T

Tianjin cinema

REEFR

Impairment charge
of HK$2,435,000
will be resulted
B BURE X
2,435,000 7T

No impairment charge
will be resulted

BEAS B BURE S

—=E=-=

Guangzhou cinema

JE N BB

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$5,897,000
will be resulted

R EBURE X
3#8n5,897,0007% 7T

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$1,032,000
will be resulted

A EEURE S
#701,032,0007% 7T

Tianjin cinema

RAERB

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$1,538,000
will be resulted

1B BURE X H
#101,538,0007% 7T

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$724,000
will be resulted

1B BURE X H

8 91724,0007% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

13 LEASES 13 #HE
This note provides information for leases where the A REAE B ERAEANME
Group is a lessee. EHEEE -
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) RESEEEBEXRBERNESE
balance sheet
2023 2022
—EB-Z=HF —=F_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Right-of-use assets FREEE
Leasehold land and land use rights FHE TR i fFE A 21,777 22,566
Properties S 41,046 52,293
62,823 74,859
There was no addition to the right-of-use assets HET-_=—FRk=-_FT_—_F
during the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022. “A=T—HLEFEIERE
FREEE -
2023 2022
—EB-Z=HF ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
Lease liabilities HEERE
Current mE 7,380 11,438
Non-current FEME 94,296 102,674
101,676 114,112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

13 LEASES (Continuead) 13 #HE®»
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) REERBREINESE
income statement
The consolidated income statement shows the HERRRIRATEHEES
following amounts relating to leases: MR ERE
2023 2022
—EB-Z=HF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FFHEEERNERX
Leasehold land and land use right THE i & b fd R 788 788
Properties S 4,571 6,243
5,359 7,031
Impairment of right-of-use assets (Note 12(e) £ BEE ERE
(K1z#12() 3,868 14,005
Interest expense (included in finance costs) FERZGEARE KA
(Note 8) M) (Hfz#8) 4,528 5,603
Expense relating to short-term leases RAEHENEERZGIA
(included in administrative expenses) (Note 6) 1T BIZ) (Ht716) 32 31

The total cash outflow for leases during the year
ended 31st March 2023 was HK$9,777,000 (2022:
HK$11,961,000).

REBEZE—_ZT_=F=ZA=1+—
HEFE HERSTLHR
B A9,777,0008 L (= E ==
1 11,961,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

13 LEASES (continueqd)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various premises for its cinema
operations and for staff quarter purpose. Rental
contracts are typically made for periods of 1 to 20
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants and leased assets have not
been used as security for borrowing purposes.

The Group also leases certain leasehold land and
land use rights in Hong Kong and the Mainland
China. These leasehold land and land use rights are
in respect of land on which buildings of the Group
are situated on, and are leased for a period of 50
years.

Variable lease payments

Leases of the Group do not contain variable
payment terms that are linked to an index or a rate.

Extension and termination options

Termination options are included in a number of
leases. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in
the Group’s operations.

There is no extension option included in the leases
of the Group.

Residual value guarantees

The Group did not provide residual value guarantees
in relation to leases during the year ended 31st
March 2023 (2022: same).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At fair value
At beginning of the year
Fair value (losses)/gains on revaluation (Note 7)

Exchange differences

At end of the year

The following amounts have been recognised in the
consolidated income statement for investment properties:

Rental income (Note 5)

Direct operating expenses arising from investment
properties that generate rental income (Note 6)

14 REYE
2023 2022
—E2-= =T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
BARE

REA] 226,943 216,499

BEZARE(ER),/
Wz (H1aE7) (15,277) 9,152
PE & =% (2,395) 1,292
RER 209,271 226,943

ATNeBEREEDEMREGS K

R NFER -
2023 2022
—EC=F —ET-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
e WA (B7£5) 7,133 7,389
EERESWAZREME
ZEEBELERY (WiEe6) 1,372 1,415

An independent valuation of the Group’s investment
properties was performed by Memfus Wong Surveyors
Limited, an independent professional qualified valuer who
held a recognised relevant professional qualification to
determine the fair value of the investment properties as at
31st March 2023 and 2022. For all investment properties,
their current use equates to the highest and best use.
The following table analyses the investment properties
carried at fair value, by valuation method.

REEBZRENEHRFBEERA Z
EREXER 2B EERERG
BEENEFEAGEIITAR A FI#ET
BUHE NEEKRBEWER-Z
—=FERZF-_F=H=+—H
ZARE BB IREMEMES -
ERTAZRERERs ARER
® o TRIZHEZEZHUAABEIIR
ZIEYSEEIT N

Annual Report 2023 F%§

165



166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14

The valuation gains or losses is included in “other (losses)/
gains — net” in consolidated income statement (Note 7).
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer. There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and
3 during the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022.

(@) Fair value hierarchy

REWME®
HERSHEED T AGASRER
Rz [E A (E518) Wz — 558 (Mt
7)) c AEBZBUR AN ERER
ZEHRBRELLEBRRAAE
RBERzEAREE - R_F =
=FE-_E-_—F=ZH=+—HIE
FERAYEE—F F_HRE=
Rz -

(@ 2REZRE

Fair value measured at 31st March 2023 using

S

“ECZHEZASH-HZDAAEHE IER
Significant

other Significant
observable  unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HttEK BX
ARZHE TUBEZE
(F=) (B=8) #st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements REUERNAE2
Investment properties: REME
- Commercial units — located in -HEEN -UREE
Hong Kong 11,500 - 11,500
- Commercial units = located in - HEEN - AT A
Mainland China 49,050 - 49,050
= Industrial units = located in - TEEN -UREE
Hong Kong 80,800 16,861 97,661
- Residential units — located in -EEEMN -UREE
Hong Kong 45,000 - 45,000
- Residential units — located in - FEBN - LRFEAM
Mainland China 6,060 - 6,060
192,410 16,861 209,271
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14 REWHE @)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (@) AARBERE#E)

Fair value measured at 31st March 2022 using
RZBZZF=RA=+—BZRrE:=E ' HER

Significant
other Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HESARER SEAPNAHRH
Hg(E=R) BE=R) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET &L FET
Recurring fair value measurements REEDRERE
Investment properties: REME
- Commercial units = located in -BEEN -UREE
Hong Kong 13,500 - 13,500
- Commercial units = located in -BEBEN-URATEAM
Mainland China 55,670 - 55,670
= Industrial units — located in - TEBM-URES
Hong Kong 91,470 15,243 106,713
- Residential units — located in -EEEMN -UREE
Hong Kong 44,400 - 44,400
- Residential units — located in - BN -URTEAM
Mainland China 6,660 - 6,660
211,700 15,243 226,943
Fair value measurements using significant FHE KX T JEHERIE - 2023 2022
unobservable inputs (Level 3) AREFEE=R) —s—= —E——
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHEIT
At beginning of the year REY] 15,243 12,879
Revaluation gains ERalE 1,618 2,364
At end of the year RER 16,861 15,243
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(@) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

14 BREWE @)

The finance department reviews the valuations
performed by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited for
financial reporting purpose. These valuation results
are then reported to the chief financial officer and
senior management for discussions in relation to
the valuation processes and the reasonableness of

valuation results.

Below is a summary of the key inputs to the

valuation of investment properties:

Valuation technique(s)

hET7

Hong Kong commercial and residential properties

BREEREENE

Direct comparison method

BEREEL

PRC commercial and residential properties

PEEXREBNE

Direct comparison method

BERLEEE

Other observable/
unobservable inputs
HttABR/
TABRWAZE

Open market value

RFEME

Open market value

NZIE

168 MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EZREERNEBER DA

(@) 2AEZRBE

MBEHEHERENMTAE
[RAFBMMERE B R MmETT

ZfME -

ZEHEERARS

AP BRAEESEEEARR
H - UABEEBERGESER
ZEMEEITE®

REMEGHENETEHABE

mEMT

Relationship

A%

The higher the price
per square foot, the
higher the fair value
Y HRER

HE - AnfE

B

The higher the price
per square foot, the
higher the fair value

SEHRERMS -

RREES

Range

gE

HK$24,500 -
HK$32,900 (2022:
HK$24,200 -
HK$38,600) per
square foot
BEAR
24,5002
32,9007 7T
(—E-—%F:
24,2008 L2
38,600/ 71T)

HK$1,500 - HK$6,500
(2022: HK$1,600 -
HK$7,100) per

square foot

BYHR1,5008TE

6,500/ T
(ZZ==F:

1,600/ L £7,100/ 7T)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

14 REVHE ©)
(a) ARELEEB®

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(@) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Valuation technique(s)

fhER %

Hong Kong industrial properties

BRIXNE

Direct comparison method

HEL®A

Depreciated replacement cost method

FEBERAL

Other observable/
unobservable inputs
HtUBE/
TABZHAZE

Open market value
ARME

Construction unit cost
and depreciation rate
BEBUKARITEE

(b) At 31st March 2023, certain investment
properties with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$58,000,000 (2022: HK$44,400,000) were
pledged as security for banking facilities granted to

the Group (Note 27(a)(i)).

Relationship

A&

The higher the price
per square foot, the
higher the fair value
Y HRER

BE - DAE
BE

The higher the

construction unit cost,

the higher the fair
value
BEBMNAED
RAEHED

The higher the
depreciation rate, the
lower the fair value
HEXES
AREBE

HK$7,000 -
HK$7,700 (2022:
HK$8,000 -
HK$8,900) per
square foot
FLHR
7,000 L%
7,700/ T
(ZE-—%F:
8,000 TE
8,900 7T)

Construction unit
cost of HK$13,300/
sg. m (2022:
HK$11,400/s9. m)
and depreciation
rate of 2.25%
(2022: 2.00%)
BEBRKA
FF5K18,3007 7T
(—E-—%F:
§¥5K11,400%7T)
RITEZ2.25%
(ZZZZF : 2.00%)

b) A_TE-_=F=A=+—8"
BR T 4858 458,000,000/ 7T (=
T~ —4F : 44,400,000/ 7T) 2
AETREMEERBIERARSE
B pTERIEITRE 2 R (T

FE27()() °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

15 FILM AND PROGRAM RIGHTS, FILMS IN 15 & E’&ﬁﬁ BiRE  BRFPE
PROGRESS AND DEPOSITS FOR FILM REZRE B RERS

AND PROGRAM RIGHTS

Film and program

Deposits for film

rights and films in and program
progress rights Total
FREOERER YREE
BHNEY MR e @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FHET
At 1st April 2021 RZE=—FMA—AH
Cost R 1,234,178 30,237 1,264,415
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZEtEERRE (1,095,795) (3,912 (1,099,707)
Net book amount REFE 138,383 26,325 164,708
Year ended 31st March 2022 HE-T-—F
ZA=T-HILFE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 138,383 26,325 164,708
Additions NE 4,256 1,167 5,423
Transfers =t 1,059 (1,059) =
Amortisation (Note 6) Bi5hite) (13,879) = (13,879)
Impairment (Note 6) WE T E6) (3,586) = (3,586)
Exchange differences EHES 695 10 705
Closing net book amount FREEDFE 126,934 26,443 153,377
At 31st March 2022 RWZZZ-F=A=1+—H
Cost R 1,240,189 30,355 1,270,544
Accumulated amortisation and impairment St ERRE (1,113,255) (3912) (1,117,167)
Net book amount REFE 126,934 26,443 153,377
Year ended 31st March 2023 HE-Z_=F
ZA=T-BILLFE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 126,934 26,443 153,377
Additions NE 6,319 1,87 8,190
Transfers =t 4,077 (4,077) -
Amortisation (Note 6) #i5hite) (25,617) - (25,617)
Impairment (Note 6) B E6) (17,500) - (17,500)
Exchange differences ERLER (1,329) 227 (1,102)
Derecognition of film right deposit (Note (g)) RILERBYRER S (W 6E) - (24,000) (24,000)
Closing net book amount FRERTE 92,884 464 93,348
At 31st March 2023 RZZEZ=F=A=1+—H
Cost KA 1,249,053 4,149 1,253,202
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2 EERE (1,156,169) (3,685) (1,159,854)
Net book amount FmFE 92,884 464 93,348
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

R A R W

FILM AND PROGRAM RIGHTS, FILMS IN
PROGRESS AND DEPOSITS FOR FILM
AND PROGRAM RIGHTS (Continueq)

(@)

Amortisation of HK$25,617,000 (2022:
HK$13,873,000) with respect to film and program
rights has been included in “cost of sales” in the
consolidated income statement.

The carrying amounts of film and program rights,
films in progress and deposits for film and program
rights have been reduced to their recoverable
amounts through recognition of impairment losses
of HK$17,500,000 (2022: HK$3,586,000) which has
been included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated
income statement.

The carrying value of films in progress at 31st March
2023 was HK$5,974,000 (2022: HK$550,000).

In view of the delay in the delivery of film rights and
thus the timing for the Group to realise the return
from a film right deposit, the Group entered into an
agreement with the film right owner, pursuant to
which the Group could redeem the deposit in full
by December 2022 if the film right remained not
readily available by April 2022. As such, the deposit
of HK$24,000,000 was derecognised from film
right deposit, with a corresponding HK$15,042,000
recognised as other receivables and remaining
HK$8,958,000 offset with a payable due by the
Group to the film owner. For the expected credit
loss over the other receivables, please refer to Note
3.1(b)(ii).

EREEZKGTERERE®

(@)

EBEFTREHBEREZ
25,617,000 (=T ==
13,873,000/ 7T) # 88 2 5T A 4R
B EmERANZHEKAE]

BEYROERE BRAE
FREFZRGTERERE 2
FHSECERERBERE
17,500,000 L (=& ==

3,586,000/ 7T) & = £ 7] W [l
TR OBEBEREDFT AL
BWEERRZ[EERA] o

BRPEFg  CERAAER =
TE-_—f=ZA=Z+—H8B%4
5,974,000 L (ZF ==
550,000 7T) °

ERETRELINEE - 3t
AEBEREZRERS O
EREmE  AEEHESE
IREFMBEE S — s
Bt MEZREE_T ==
FUARDATAIE @ AEE
AR T —F+_AFEL
FEEE - At 24,000,000
BITHE SR EFRERS K
IFTERR - HEEAY15,042,000/%8
TTHERAEMEWKIBASRT
8,958,000 T $H 2N & B fE
NEZEXEENRE - A
BEMERFENTEHREES
1B - BRI (D)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 16 REEZE QT 2R
2023 2022
—EB-= —_EF_—

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F&Er

At beginning of the year REH) 10,513 7,863

Share of (losses)/profits FE(h (E548) /% F (1,293) 2,606

Exchange differences PE X =% (52) 44

At end of the year RER 9,168 10,513

Amounts due from associates JE UGBSt 2 2 B FROAR 39,333 39,333
Less: impairment losses on amounts due from pE EH&H@%%’D\ FRIE R

associates EEE (39,333) (39,333)

Movements on the Group’s impairment losses on N5 B B pE Uk B 2 R B SRIE 2 ORUE

amounts due from associates are as follows: EEEHWT

2023 2022

—E-= —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F&ET

At beginning of the year RE] 39,333 38,783
Provision for impairment losses on amounts g NCI B = Py K|

due from associates (Note 3.1(b)) s ia (/5/7‘,5553. 1(b)) - 550

At end of the year RER 39,333 39,333
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(@) Interests in principal associates as at 31st

March 2023 and 2022

Name of entity

ERaR

IST Company Limited (‘1ST”)
ERBARAR(EER))

MAMO Games Limited (‘MAMO”)
XEEMERERAR
(BB EmEE)

IRHTHRETRAT R
BREMAR (‘BIXYL)

IEHFBRER A RERR LA

lazii7 )

Place of business/
country of
incorporation
EXY/

AR LB R

Hong Kong
i

Hong Kong
i

Mainland China
HEIR,

Percentage

of ownership

interest

wERRS

BAL

2023
e

—_F =

28.3%

49.5%

20%

IST, MAMO and BJXYL are unlisted limited liability
companies in Hong Kong and Mainland China.
There is no quoted market price available for their

shares.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interests in associates.

16 RBE RN T z2E= @)

(a) REBZ=FR-EB-"F=
B=1+—H > REEBE QT
2R

Percentage
of ownership  Nature of the relationship Measurement
interest  and principal activities method
AR EER
BAl BEMERIZER STRAE
2022
28.3%  The associate provides playout,  Equity
post production, HD-fim Ew%
restoration, channel
management and mobile
application development
services
FE RARMAR - RAR
{F REERBERAEEE
ARREFHEREARE
R
49.5%  The associate develops or Equity
licenses mobile games ER%
applications
AN )
R
20%  The associate engages in Equity
cinema operation Bk

FBERANERREE

FiRE - XERYER&IER
MEBO AT RTEANL
FLEMBRRR - Eiin I &

mi5ME -

BECAEEASEREZQ

AR IHARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(@) Interests in principal associates as at 31st
March 2023 and 2022 (Continued)

The Group’s associates have the following

commitments:
Capital commitments
Licenses hiR

Summarised financial information for IST

Set out below is the summarised financial
information for IST which is accounted for using the
equity method. The information below reflects the
amounts presented in the financial statements of
the associate.

Non-current assets ERENEE

Current assets MENEE

Non-current liabilities EmBIEE

Current liabilities mBEE

Net assets BEFE

Revenue Uz

(Loss)/profit for the year FA(EER) /FH
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2mE (&R WA RE

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

16 RBE RN T Z2E= @)

MNR-B_=FEN_TBE__F=
B=1+—H  REEKZEQT
ZRER ()

AEBE 2B E QAR BB AT
¥

BXRiE
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
4,792 4,792
BPRBZHEEEHEE

AN BRE R BR A E R
EANRZHMBERBE - AT
B R R BR OB = N B B A R R
P2z &8

IST
ERBE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF -

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
32,181 34,053
9,091 15,451
(1,992) (2,812)
(6,919) (9,649)
32,361 37,043
6,045 23,124
(4,517) 9,198
(4,682) 9,354




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continuead) 16 RBE RN T z2E= @)
(@) Interests in principal associates as at 31st (a) RZSBZ=FR-TFE--F=
March 2023 and 2022 (Continued) B=+—H > REEBZEQT
2R (B
Reconciliation of summarised financial HMESHEEZ SR
information
Reconciliation of the summarised financial FIEFERBYKERME
information of IST to the carrying value of the BEAREEREE AR ERE R
Group’s interests in associates. EE ¥R o
IST Total
BRE et
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f DT == T

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FEIT FET

Opening net assets at REN 2 FENEE
beginning of the year FE 37,043 27,689
Exchange differences P& 3 = 5E (165) 156
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(ER) /7 H (4,517) 9,198
Closing net assets at RERZFREE
end of the year FAE 32,361 37,043
Interest in the associate NG VNCI P 9,168 10,494 9,168 10,494
Interests in other associates NEER AN I - 19
Carrying value as at RERZREE
end of the year 9,168 10,513
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b) Other associates

In addition to the interest in IST disclosed above, the
Group also has interests in a number of associates
that are accounted for using the equity method.

16

RBE N R 2 Em @)

(b) HfttBtE RS
BEXHBRZNERBE
ZmOh - AEBFRREEE D
AR A - X ERAIE
FIBENIR -

2023 2022
—E-=F —E- %
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Aggregate carrying amount of other associates B & A 7] 2 BRI 42 (E - 19
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of: REBEEETIRIEZ
4
Loss from continuing operations SEREEBRZ
[E518 (14) -
Other comprehensive loss Hi2MmEEER (5) =
Total comprehensive loss ZEEEEE (19) =

() The amounts due to associates as at 31st
March 2023 and 2022 are denominated in HKS,
unsecured and interest-free. Except for an advance
from an associate of HK$25,000,000 (2022:
HK$25,000,000) which is not repayable before 31st
December 2024 (2022: 31st December 2023), all
balances were repayable on demand.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

(c) RZBE-_=FK_ZE-__F=
A=+—8  EFBEERTR
HABTLYE  REEFAES
B oo BRIk E — M E QR R
25,000,000 L (=& ==
25,000,000 ) TR =T =
meE+—_A=+—RH(Z=Z=
—EZE-=F+=-—A=+
—B)RIEZEN - TAEEHRY

= oz = ===
BRBRFEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

17 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 17 REELERBEXRB 2 H
JOINT OPERATIONS =
(a) Interests in joint ventures (a) ReetXoEs
2023 2022
—EC-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
At 31st March 2022, 1st April 2022 and R-ZZE-__F=H
31st March 2023 =+—B8 -—%2—_—
MA—BAARZZTZ=
=HA=+—H - -
Amounts due from joint ventures FEU A & FEFRIE 31,809 31,809
Less: impairment losses on amounts O EUA B HEFRIE
due from joint ventures REEE (31,809) (31,809)
(i) Investment in a joint venture as at () R-E_=ZFR-ZF__
31st March 2023 and 2022 F=ZH=+—H RB—H
FELEZRE
Place of business/ Percentage ~ Percentage of
country of of ownership ownership
incorporation interest interest  Nature of the relationship Measurement
Name of entity EEHY/ EFEEESR  (EFAEES  and principal activities method
ERZR EMALEAR BAt BRll BHREEERTEER HERE
2023 2022
—BCCE —E-CEF
THEM Co. Limited (‘THEM’) Hong Kong 85%" 85%"  The joint venture operates an Equity
5 onling advertising platforms Bz

ARELREERLRETR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

17 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND
JOINT OPERATIONS (Continuec)

(@) Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

(i) Investment in a joint venture as at
31st March 2023 and 2022 (Continued)

THEM is an unlisted limited liability company
in Hong Kong and there is no quoted market
price available for its shares.

There are no contingent liabilities and material
commitment relating to the Group’s interests
in joint ventures.

*

The Group entered into a joint control arrangement
with the co-investor of THEM. Although the Group
owns 85% of THEM as at 31st March 2023 and
2022, it did not have control over THEM due
to its limitation in the Board’s representation in
participating in financial and operating policy
decisions.

(b) Interests in joint operations

The Group has entered into certain joint operation
arrangements with certain independent third parties
to produce films for exhibition and distribution in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China. The Group
has participating interests ranging from 8% to
70% (2022: 8% to 70%) in these joint operations.
As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, the aggregate
amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in
the consolidated financial statements relating
to the Group’s interests in these joint operation
arrangements are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

17 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 17 REELERCEER &
JOINT OPERATIONS (continued) = (&)
(b) Interests in joint operations (Continuead) (b) REEXEBzERE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Assets BE
Film and program rights, films in progress BN TG E
and deposits for film and program rights B RERLE B RE
Be 81,884 122,052
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b WSk 5,174 726
87,058 122,778
Liabilities afE
Trade and other payables 5 N HMEMNFRIE (11,815) (1,555)
Contract liabilities EHEE (3,529) (3,809)
(15,344) (5,364)
2023 2022
—E-= =S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue Wz 14,536 9,832
Expenses 2 (42,989) (13,672)
Loss after income tax BrETISHi 12 B 1B (28,453) (3,840)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have

18 ZERE D 2HMBITA
MBTAZEHBREEAR TS

been applied to the line items below: B8 :
Financial
assets Financial
at amortised assets
cost at FVPL Total
R 8 R RARE
STEZHE FABEZ
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
AT FHAT FHET
Assets BE
At 31st March 2023 R-B-=£=H=+-A
Deposits, trade and other receivables Be  BHNREMERIE 34,110 - 34,110
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 19) BRAREF A B MBEE
(H#7£19) - 2,895 2,895
Restricted bank balance (Note 22) XIRHIRITEE SR (H7E22) 881 - 881
Pledged bank deposits (Note 27(a)(ii) BRI TR (W2 27(8)) 13,500 - 13,500
Short-term bank deposits (Note 22()) RESRITER(H7122() 3,924 - 3,924
Cash and bank balances (Note 22(3)) Be RRTER I F220a) 37,528 - 37,528
89,943 2,895 92,838
At 31st March 2022 R-B-=§=ZA=+- EI
Deposits, trade and other receivables Be  BHREMEKZR 28,416 = 28,416
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 19) BRAREFABR 2 ﬂ‘kﬁé
(K97t 19) - 5,893 5,893
Pledged bank deposits (Note 27(a)(ii) BEMBITER W 270)0) 23,500 = 23,500
Short-term bank deposits (Note 22(3)) RESRITER(H7222) 3,309 = 3,309
Cash and bank balances (Note 22(a)) Re RRTERBTF220a) 11,624 = 11,624
66,849 5,893 72,742
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 18 REHE S 2HMBEIR®

(Continued)
Financial liabilities
at amortised
cost
TR 88 B A
HERZ
MKaE
HK$'000
FET
Liabilities =R+
At 31st March 2023 R-ZE-—=F=A=+—H
Bank and other borrowings (Note 27) RITREAMEE (W iF27) 126,105
Lease liabilities (Note 13) HESH f(/fmﬂs) 101,676
Trade and other payables H 5N E MK 70,118
Amounts due to associates f B A B FUR 8,780
306,679
At 31st March 2022 R-ZE-_-_F=A=+—H
Bank and other borrowings (Note 27) RITREMEE (FZE27) 143,340
Lease liabilities (Note 13) HEEE (/f/ﬁfm) 114,112
Trade and other payables H 5 N E AR R 72,395
Amounts due to associates fﬁﬁ?ﬁ%@\ TRIE 13,710
343,557
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 19
Listed securities, at market value: EMES - BmE
— Equity securities - BRARFES

Financial assets at FVPL are presented within investing
activities in the consolidated cash flow statement.

Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
included in “other (losses)/gains — net” in the consolidated

income statement (Note 7).

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their

current bid prices in an active market.

20 INVENTORIES 20
Finished goods SUPK
Less: provision for obsolete inventories B REGFERE

The cost of inventories is recognised as expense and
included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated income
statement (Note 6). No inventories was written-off during
the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022.
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BAREBEFABRZUEE
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2023 2022
—Eg2-= =T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FHET
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BAREFABSZUBEEZR
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2023 2022
—E-=F B %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND 21 ENRE e BESZRHE
OTHER RECEIVABLES b FE U FX TR
2023 2022
—E-=F —_F_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Trade receivables 2 5 RN HIA 36,632 40,331
Less: impairment losses on trade receivables B B REWIEREEE (19,868) (19,868)
Trade receivables — net B Z I8 - F5E 16,764 20,463
Prepayments TERTRIE 5,939 11,986
Other receivables and deposits H bl IE K ige 54,942 73,007
77,645 105,456
Less: impairment losses on other W B FEWGRIE 2 R E
receivables 18 (37,596) (65,054)
40,049 40,402
Less: deposits — non-current portion B EE - ERBED (2,040) (2,198)
Less: prepayments — non-current portion B TERFRIE - IERENE S - (1,831)
Current portion BN D 38,009 36,373
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OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Note:

As at 31st March 2022, other receivables and deposits included an
amount of HK$56,096,000 due from JZZX. Despite the existence of a
repayment plan proposed by JZZX in respect of the repayment of up
to HK$42,500,000, taking into consideration the historical settlement
records, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balance and forward-looking information in the macroeconomic
environment, directors of the Company were of the view that there was
uncertainty on the recoverability of the balance if JZZX failed to improve
its financial position through operation or obtaining additional funding
from financing arrangements. As a result, a full provision for impairment
of the balance was made as at 31st March 2022, and it was included in
“loss on disposal of a subsidiary” in Note 7.

During the year ended 31st March 2023, the Group was notified that
JZ7ZX has procured sufficient investment into the company to repay
the agreed amount of HK$42,500,000. A reversal of impairment of
HK$42,500,000 was thus recorded in the profit or loss during the year.

As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts
of deposits, trade and other receivables approximate
their fair values.

At 31st March 2023 and 2022, all other receivables are
unsecured and interest-free.

The credit terms to trade receivables generally range from
7 to 90 days (2022: 7 to 90 days).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND

FENARE - -%E  -EZRHE
b FE UL SR 3B ()
it -

R-TE-_—_F=A=+—H  HEUWKFKIAE
K% & 8 15 B W 7 48 1)1 55738 A 56,096,000
BT o BEELFNINFLIE RS E 42,500,000
BILIRHENRAE  ERIELEE L

KREE/ABZBEHEBRBERRSBUREE
KOEIRIE THRTIE R E R - MER NN AR EE
FBEBEUNEBE TP EBEINE S AR
EEUBMRR  ARREERBEHZ AR
BREEFEIEEE At R-T——

= A=1+—HEREHEEGHIRBERE -
Wt ABI 7R IHE —EH B AR ZEE] -

BE_Z_=F=A=+—HILFE A&
EEEBANESNMNEIG EHIKEUEE
#15 7E £ §842,500,00078 7T © FAREZRF
$ 15 IR (B 842,500,000/ 7T °

%f77_¢& 2::¢ A=
+—8 %% H 4th i U 3R
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—I— B B HEMERS O 4
HERE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date is as follows:

Current to 3 months
4 to 6 months
Over 6 months

As at 31st March 2022, a trade receivable of
HK$3,553,000 arising from a film right licensing contract
comprised a significant financing component at 6% per
annum. There is no trade receivable which comprised a
significant financing component as at 31st March 2023.

At 31st March 2023, trade receivables of HK$19,868,000
(2022: HK$19,868,000) were impaired and fully provided
for. The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to
a long-outstanding customer, which is in unexpectedly
difficult financial situation.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits, trade
and other receivables are denominated in the following
currencies:

HKS BT
RMB AR
NTD e

BNEAZE =@ A
EpN D3
fa @7 fE A

B B SRR Y R

21 ANNIER RE BERH

b FE W FRIE (2)

ERNBZAMEN 2B 5 RKFIA
fREcDATANT ¢

2023 2022
—EC=F =T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FHET
11,518 12,305
25,114 28,026
36,632 40,331

R-BE-_—F=A=+—H ' &%
IRERLAENEE 2 E S EKRFIE
3,553,000/ 8 L EIEF F6%ME X
BMERD RN _TE-_=F=A=+
—H BMESREAMENSHE
S WA -

R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H &5
JE g FR 18 19,868,000/8 T (—E = —
F 1 19,868,000/8 L) ERE KT 2
ZEEE - ARRERKFKEEE
B HIBER AN R &~
RHRFER -

AEERE BEHREMERFIEA
ZEREEA TP EHEHE -

2023 2022
—EC=F =

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
12,818 8,734
19,125 17,953
2,167 1,729
34,110 28,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND 21 EfRFE - -&E ESZEH
OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuead) b FE UL SR 3B ()
Movements on the Group’s impairment losses on trade rEBEEZRWHFIBREERE CE
receivables are as follows: £ N
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FHET
At beginning of the year REA] 19,868 20,868
Reversal of provision for impairment of B 5 P YR IE R B
trade receivables (Note 3.1(b)) Bl (B17£3.1(b)) - (1,000)
At end of the year RER 19,868 19,868

Movements on the Group’s impairment losses on other

receivables are as follows:

At beginning of the year REA

(Reversal of)/provision for impairment of Hoth fE YR IE 2 R E
other receivables, net (Note 3.1(b)) (BEE) /B3 E

(%17£3.1(b))

At end of the year RER

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of each class of receivable
mentioned above.
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R ER B g E At FE MR IR 2 R (B 1

HEET

2023 2022

—EC=F =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
65,054 8,958
(27,458) 56,096
37,596 65,054

RBEEZ&EREERRA EAE

WA 2 R fE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES, SHORT-
TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED
BANK BALANCE

(@) Cash and bank balances and short-term bank
deposits

Re RBTEH
EHBRTER

Cash and bank balances
Short-term bank deposits

Cash and bank balances and short-term bank
deposits are denominated in the following

currencies:

HKS$ BT
RMB AR
NTD e
Others Eb

As at 31 March 2023, funds of the Group amounting

22 HERBITEER - EHRIT

FRRZRERITEER

(a) RERBITHEBKUREHRIT

X
2023 2022
—E-=F B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
37,528 11,624
3,924 3,309
41,452 14,933

B e MIRTTRESRIA LG HIRTT
FRATIIE’ESIE:

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

1,586 1,174

38,825 11,872

935 1,855

106 32

41,452 14,933

BE-_ET-_=%=A=+—

to HK$38,985,000 (2022: HK$11,958,737) were
deposited in bank accounts opened with banks in
the People’s Republic of China where the remittance
of funds is subject to foreign exchange control.

The effective interest rate on short-term bank
deposits were 1.68% (2022: 1.69%) per annum as
at 31st March 2023. The deposits have an average

maturity of 320 days (2022: 309 days).

B - N&E & £38,985,000/%8
TT(ZFE =% : 11,958,737/8
T FEREFRZEARZAME /Y
MITAMLRITERS, - E€E
HEZBRRAINEE S o

WN-_ZT-_=F=F=+—8 -
RHETHERZCERF R X
A1.68E(ZF=-—%F :1.69
[E) - ZEHBTRZFHHRA
320B (=& =—4 : 309R) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES, SHORT-
TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED
BANK BALANCE (Continued)

(b) Restricted bank balance

Pursuant to a legal proceeding of a subsidiary
of the Group dated 25 September 2022, a court
order was imposed on a bank deposit amounting
to RMB771,000 (equivalent to HK$881,000), which
placed it under regulatory restrictions and are
therefore not available for general use by the Group
as at 31st March 2023 (2022: Nil).

As at 31st March 2023, restricted bank balance is
denominated in RMB (2022: Nil).

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

22 HEeRBITEE - EHERT
GERZREBITEERE

(b) FFRFIRITAEER

BEASE-ZRBATN=
T —FHAA-THAERERE
FR BE—ZFERTERAR
#771,0007T (A8 % #°881,000
BIL)KERIES T & @ %17
REZEERS  AER=—F=
ZFZAZ+—BTERAE
BE—RAR(ZZE ==
/) o

R-ZBE-_=F=A=+—8"
TRHRITEBRUARKTE
(ZZB=—F : §|) -

23 RARKRGRE

(a) Share capital (@) B=&
2023 2022
—E-=F —T--F
Number Number
of shares of shares
RIPEE ROEE
’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
FiE FET Fhz FET
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each FRmEE.02B T2
LR 15,000,000 300,000 15,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each FRmEE.02B T2
LR 5,923,739 118,475 5,923,739 118,475

(b) Share premium

(b) MKADEE

2023 2022
—EC=F =T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share premium &0 @B 407,428 407,428
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25

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 24 U\HﬁﬁiﬁgﬁﬁZH%ﬁt
The Company approved and adopted a share option RARARBERZZE—WFEALA—BE
scheme (the “Scheme”) in the annual general meeting ﬁZHx%i@iKé\.ﬁt/E KR —18
held on 1st September 2014. st 8 (T8l -
As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, there was no options RZBE_=ZFR-_FE-_—_F=ZA=
outstanding. No new shares were granted during the +—H - WERRITEERE -
years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022. HE_Z-_=Fk=-_FT-__F=H
“t+—HLEEFE TEREFR
,T/\ ©
RESERVES 25 &
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Share redemption reserve % 1 & [B1 5 {5 12 12
Other reserve H b (6,380) (6,380)
Contributed surplus (Note (ii)) N BRI £ (i) 189,009 189,009
Exchange difference PEH =58 (4,997) (8,659)
Buildings revaluation reserve BFEMHEHE 124,191 107,114
Accumulated losses REtEE (496,545) (447,630)
(194,710) (166,534)
0] Movements of each component of the reserves are set out in the () FESHO 2 ERH N G EREE
consolidated statement of changes in equity. x o
(i) The contributed surplus of the Group represents the credit arising iy AEEZHABHBEREBEZ—NLANL
from the reduction of share capital during the year ended 31st FZA=+—BHLEFEHRBREARE
March 1999, and the transfer from share premium during the BT —TF=fA=+— EI Jtifgﬁ?}
year ended 31st March 2010. BEROREMEEZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 EZRHMESFIE
2023 2022
—EB-= —ZF——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables B 5 ER5RIE 6,892 8,157
Other payables and accruals (Note) H e FIE R ERTE A
(K15t) 63,916 65,120
70,808 73,277
The ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date is BORNRIBREZEAHIERED
as follows: R
2023 2022
—E-=F B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FHET
Current to 3 months BNERZ =& B 3,464 943
4 to 6 months mZE S E A - -
Over 6 months E 7 fE A 3,428 7,214
6,892 8,157
Note: BtaF -
As at 31st March 2023, amount due to a director of the Company RZBEZ=F=A=+—80 ' EFARA
amounting to HK$2,284,000 (2022: HK$2,460,000) was repayable on —ZEFEHRIA2,284,0008 (=T = —4F :
demand, interest-free, unsecured and its carrying amount approximates 2,460,000 70) AR EREE - 2.8 - &K
fair value. - BEEREEREQALEES °
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27

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 26 EZRHEHMENSRE®
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and AEEEH REMBENKIBZERR
other payables approximate their fair values, and are CREAREESE WA T ER
denominated in the following currencies: ETE :
2023 2022
—EB-=F —EF-_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
HK$ BT 41,927 39,737
RMB AR 28,152 31,156
uUsD ETT - 2,162
NTD A=l 729 222
70,808 73,277
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27 RITREMEE
2023 2022
—E-=E B %
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Bank overdrafts, secured IRITES - HIEHE 10,420 23,056
Secured bank loans — current portion BEPRITER -
mEEB D 20,737 24,216
Total bank borrowings (Note (a)) IRITIE B (@) 31,157 47,272
Other borrowings — non-current portion (Note (b)) HEMEE - ERSEH
(K&t (b)) 94,948 96,068
Total borrowings BEE®E5E 126,105 143,340
The fair values of the borrowings approximate their RZBE_=ZFR-_E-_—_F=ZA=
carrying amounts at 31st March 2023 and 2022. +T—H  BEZARERAKEASE
$H++ ®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 27 RITRHEMEE®

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other AEFEZRITREMEERDENR

borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: TIE’EEHE -
2023 2022

—E-= —ZF——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
HK$ BT 75,532 90,056
RMB AR 50,448 51,568
NTD =kt 125 1,716
126,105 143,340
(a) Bank borrowings (a) HMITHEE

The maturity of the Group’s bank borrowings are as

follows:

Within 1 year or repayable on demand —FARREREEE
Between 1 to 2 years —ZEMEA

Between 2 to 5 years WERFNA

Bank borrowings repayable beyond one year are
classified as current liabilities as they contain a
repayment on demand clause.
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AEBZHRITEEIHA N
T

2023 2022
—E-=F B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
24,437 47,272
2,213 -
4,507 -
31,157 47,272




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

27 BT REMEE®

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(a)

Bank borrowings (Continued)

At 31st March 2023, available facilities amounting to
HK$38,625,000 (2022: HK$50,216,000) granted by
banks to the Group are secured by the following:

() legal charges over certain of the Group’s
freehold land and certain buildings with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$21,710,000
(2022: HK$23,169,000) (Note 12(c)) and
certain of the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying value of
HK$58,000,000 (2022: HK$44,400,000) (Note
14(pb)); and

(i) pledged bank deposits of HK$13,500,000
(2022: HK$23,500,000) of the Group being
placed in commercial banks in Hong Kong and
are pledged against the bank facilities granted
to the Group.

At 31st March 2023, the weighted average effective
interest rate per annum of the Group’s pledged
bank deposits is 2.30% (2022: 0.20%). The pledged
bank deposits are denominated in HK$.

At 31st March 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings
bear floating interest rates from 2.30% to 3.85%
(2022: from 0.78% to 4.00%) and fixed interest
rate of 2.30% (2022: 1.55%) for NTD-denominated
loans. The weighted average effective interest rate
per annum of the Group’s bank borrowings as at
31st March 2023 is 3.65% (2022: 2.50%).

(a)

IRITEEE)
W:E:_i_ﬂ_+—a
4 %8/538,625,0008 L (= ZE =
—4F : 50,216,000/ 7T) 2 7] FB
BMECERITETAERE I
FIATIEB B -

() BRMAEAE21,710,000
B (ZE = =
23,169, ooo/?éyt)2$E
EE T RKAERE LR
**?@?(Bﬁ?m( ) &

B8R E 42 {2 /58,000,000
Brx(ZE = =
44,400, ooo/%rz)zz}»i1§
BETIREME ZEER
L (MEE140) ¢ &

i) ANEESEBERITHER
13,500,000 L (= =
— 4 : 23,500,000/ 7T)
TERR B BB ERTT -
WEERRIERREBME
RRITRE ZER -

R_E_=F=A=+—H -
REBERKPRITFRZ IHE
FHEREMNEF2.30E(Z
ZZF 1 0.20F) - BEARTT
FEFHAETTEHE -

RZETE—_=F=A=+—8"
REB ZIRITIEEZR2.30EE
385EZIFRME(ZEZ
F:0.78EF4.00E):5tE - M

LT e EZERAIRE T

FZE230E(ZZE-—4%F :1.55
B)stB - R-_ZBE-_=F=A
=+—8  AEBERETEE

IEFHERFER R AB3.65E
(ZZE-—fF :250E) -
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)
(b) Other borrowings

As at 31st March 2023, the Group has a borrowing
with outstanding principal of RMB30,000,000
(approximately HK$34,260,000) (2022:
RMB30,000,000 (approximately HK$36,900,000))
and interest of RMB9,775,000 (approximately
HK$11,163,000) (2022: RMB7,525,000
(approximately HK$9,256,000)). The borrowing is
interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 7.50% per annum
(2022: 7.50% per annum) and unsecured. The
principal and interest are not repayable until 31st
October 2024. The lender is a company partially
owned by a brother of the Group’s controlling
shareholder.

At 31st March 2023, the Group also had
another borrowing with a principal amount of
HK$25,000,000 (2022: HK$25,000,000) provided
by IST, an associate of the Group. The borrowing is
unsecured, interest-free and is not repayable before
31st December 2024 (2022: not repayable before
31st December 2023).

At 31st March 2023, the Group had a borrowing
with a principal amount of HK$24,525,000 (2022:
HK$24,912,000) provided by the controlling
shareholder of the Company. The borrowing is
unsecured, interest-free and is not repayable before
31st December 2024 (2022: not repayable before
31st December 2023).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

27 BT REMEE®

(b)

HE &
%:%:EE‘H_+—
B AEBBE-—SXKEERK

% A AR ¥30,000,0007T (49
34,260,000 ) (ZE ==
F : AR%30,000,0007T (%
36,900,000 7T) KA E B AR
ﬁ%9 775, ooo&i(ﬂ711 163, ooo
7,525,0007E(%79,256,000?%
T)MEE - ZIEERETF
FER7E0B(ZE=_—F : &7
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FHEEE-_T-_MNFE+A=
+— ETEE°§$A§ X
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BBEZR

RZTE-_=F=A=+—H -
KEBNTBESE —E£48¢ AR
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B—xEaEArERBREGE -
ZIEEREERR  REREAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED INCOME TAX 28

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when
the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred
income tax liabilities is as follows:

B B SRR Y R

IEFEFR 1B

fie A AT 40K 5% B B 1T R A A5 2 BT
SHREEREMMAEHRAEEN -
REEREMEERABERR -
SRR — Bk T A B AR B B8 4K
WZFEHER MEBELEER
RFRELGEGRRER - QAEERR
BHEERABSEMRAEE - BEX
FIEMEENRBEEMBHEBED T
LI

2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T
Deferred income tax assets to be recovered after A5 RE 1218 A 12 Uk (@]
more than 12 months ZIBEEFIISTREE (6,375) (5,614)
Deferred income tax liabilities to be crystallised after A5 ERE121E A 12 B IR
more than 12 months ZEEFISRAsE 31,862 32,045
Deferred income tax liabilities — net EEMEHAE - F58 25,487 26,431

The net movement on the deferred income tax account is
as follows:

ELEFBHRRE 2 FEEHMT

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF o=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of the year REA] 26,431 23,873
Tax credited to the consolidated RiraWEm R A 2R
income statement (Note 9) (#ta£9) (4,160) (2,325)
Tax charged to other comprehensive income REMEEWENR 2
A 3,449 4,729
Exchange differences IE 3 =5 (233) 154
At end of the year RER 25,487 26,431
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and
liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration
the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction,

is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities

At 1st April 2021

Credited to the consolidated income statement
Charged to other comprehensive income
Exchange differences

At 31st March 2022

Credited to the consolidated income statement
Charged to other comprehensive income
Exchange differences

At 31st March 2023

RZEZ—5MA-A
EElEERTA
REMEZERENR
=R

RZZE-—#=A=1+—H
MEEREEA
REMZERENR
B

RZZE-_=#=f=1+—H

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

28 EEFEHR @

REFARER 2 BB E 8 m i
BB ZFAREMSREESARAR

BEINT
BEFRESHERE
Accelerated
tax Fair value Trade
depreciation gains  receivables Total
MEHIE B5 RN
E  ArEKRE HE Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
5,468 20,776 2,500 28,744
9 (199 (1,374) (1,582)
- 4,729 - 4,729
- 154 3 154
5,459 25,460 1,126 32,045
(2,031) (326) (1,042) (3,399)
- 3,449 - 3,449
- (149) (84) (233)
3,428 28,434 - 31,862
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets

At beginning of the year REH]
Credited to the consolidated income statement
At end of the year RER

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits
is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of
HK$612,483,000 (2022: HK$566,604,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. These tax
losses have not been recognised due to uncertainty of
future realisation. Such tax losses have no expiry date,
except for the tax losses amounting to HK$103,824,000
(2022: HK$101,625,000) which will be expired within 5
years.

RER B e Rt A

B B SRR Y R

28 EEFER @

BEEFMBHEE
Tax losses
BiIEE R

2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(5,614) (4,871)
(761) (743)
(6,375) (5,614)

AR BIEEEAEBARENTAE A
BB BARIRERRAE T AR E
REBERABBELEFEHEE - A%
BB RERIEEE612,483,000
BIL(ZZE -4 : 566,604,000
BID) Al S E A R R 2 JBER TR
WA - AR TREETHEKRES E
W MU ERRZSHEER -
F2103,824,0008 (=& ==
101,625,000/ 7T) < FIBEE B R
FFERNEEI - ZEHIEEBLE
EIHAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 20 HEREER
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) ZEFBHRS
Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash BRETISTRIE B EERSE
generated from operations ® 2 HER
2023 2022
ZECZ=F 2
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Loss before income tax BT AIEE (53,102) (42,571)
Adjustments for: BRE:
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) BREEERE W13 5,359 7,031
Provision for impairment of right-of-use assets (Note 13) EREAE 2 REREWZ13) 3,868 14,005
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 1) mE  WERREINE
(Hit12) 12,254 11,844
Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment 1% - &= RRE 2 MERE

(Note 12) (Hii12) 1,479 5,833
Fair value losses/(gains) on revaluation of investment BERENECDAEEE/

properties (Note 14) (k&) (Wt 14) 15,277 (9,152)
Amortisation of fim and program rights (Note 15) B RETE MERE T H15) 25,617 13,873
Provision for impairment of film and program rights, fims EYREERE  BRPEZ

in progress and deposits for fim and program rights REYREBELRE A

(Note 15) BEhE15) 17,500 3,586
Rent concession granted as a direct consequence of FACOVID- 198 B 4 R M 2= 4 1)

COVID-19 (Note 6) BERE Wit6) - (295)
Share of losses/(profits) of associates EfRBE AR 2B/ (RH) 1,203 (2,606)
Impairment losses on amounts due from associates JEYRE &N R HEEE

(Note 16) (Ht16) - 550
Impairment losses on deferred fulfilment costs (Note 6) ERBOKA AR H6) - 300
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables BEEZEWIERESE - (1,000)
Net reversal of impairment losses on other receivables ERUFE R EERRRF

(Note 21) B(Hiz21) (27,458) =
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets at FVPL BAREFANER HBEEL

(Note 7) RREER/ (W) (Hit7) 2,975 (159)
Interest income (Note 8) FEWMA W 28) (315) (319)
Interest expense on bank and other borrowings (Note &) BROIRAMEENTSER W28 3,415 3,837
Interest expense on bank overdrafts (Note §) RITBIMFIBERHEs) 298 457
Interest expense of lease liabilities (Note 8) REaEINERE WS 4,528 5,603
Interest expense on the financing components of BXPAN REENED 2

contracts with customers MERL 15 =
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHMBARZER - 1,057
Exchange gains B 5 e (1,478) (1,528)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

29 REREER @

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Cash generated from operations (Continued)

Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due to associates and joint ventures
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations

Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and
the movements in net debt for each of the periods

presented.

Net debt

Cash and bank balances

Liquid investments (Note (i)

Borrowings — repayable within one year
(excluding overdraft)

Bank overdrafts

Borrowings — repayable after one year

Interest payable

Lease liabilities

Net debt

BEESED

#E

B 5 L Ef A
ENBAATRALAETE
25 R EM MR
AhaR
LEREHS

(b)

B hERIBS£ER
THEVMERE (F1FE0)
BE-ARN—FANEE

(TEEEY)
RITHEX
BE-ARN—FERESR
FERTFIE
HEaE
B E5E

(i) Liquid investments comprise current investments that are
traded in an active market, being the Group’s financial

assets held at FVPL.

(a)

BERBRE@

2023 2022
—E-=F —g--

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

83 (189)

41,565 9,795

(4,733) 2818

8,148 (12,505)

(2,846) (5,786)

53,742 4,485

B FEZHER

RENF S P 251 & IEHER
FRBIOMREBFERLE

B FE

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
37,528 11,624
2,895 5,893
(20,737) (24,216)
(10,420) (23,056)
(83,785) (86,812)
(11,163) (9,256)
(101,676) (114,112)
(187,358) (239,935)

RBERERENERTISE
B ABKRE  AEEERA
REFABRZHBEE -

Annual Report 2023 F%§

199



200

Net debt reconciliation

Total debt as at 31st March 2021

Proceeds from bank and other borrowings
Repayments of bank loans
Repayments of interest expenses

Principal and interest elements of lease payments

Non-cash items:
Reclassification of borrowings
Interest expenses incurred
Rent concessions granted as a direct
consequence of COVID-19 (Note 6)
Exchange differences

Total debt as at 31st March 2022

Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayments of bank loans
Repayments of interest expenses

Principal and interest elements of lease payments

Non-cash items;
Lease modification
Interest expenses incurred
Exchange differences

Total debt as at 31st March 2023

R-E-—%=f=1+-H¢
Erxas

BITRAMEEZFHETR
EERTER
EEMERX
REFNF AERHEHH

FRSEE

iﬁ“ﬁf
FEENERR
FOOVID-198 E# & R 7Ty
EENRHE W20
EiEE

RZE_—#=fA=+-A¢
Eras

55
FNE »—ll

{TeE 2 FSHE
EERITER

EMEAX
BENH LA RAIE B0

O T

mlm F“a
=B

=28

FREER
HELY
FEENERX
EAER

R-F-ZFZA=1-HZ
EHLE

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A
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(b) BEREFBE2HE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Borrowings  Borrowings
due within due after Interest
Leases 1 year 1 year payable Total
L AT
HE "E #E RIS @it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT
116,224 29,228 71,366 6,242 223,060
- - 15,646 - 15,646
- (6,728) - - (6,729)
- - - (1,561) (1,561)
(11,930) - - - (11,930)
- 1,671 (1,671) - -
5,603 - - 4294 9,897
(295) - - - (295)
4510 40 1,471 281 6,302
114,112 24,216 86,812 9,256 234,396
- 22,000 - - 22,000
- (25,377) - - (25,377)
- - - (1,154) (1,154)
(9,745) - - - (9,745)
962 - - - 962
4,528 - - 3,713 8,241
(8,181) (102) (3,027) (652) (11,962)
101,676 20,737 83,785 11,163 217,361




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 20 HEREER @

(c) In the consolidated cash flow statement, (c) REZEHERERD  HEY
proceeds from sale of property, plant and ¥ HBERIBEZFESNRESE
equipment comprise: IF

2023 2022

—EC-=F B F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Net book value (Note 12) EREFEMR F12) - 8,903
Loss on disposal of property, plant and MEME WSS RERHEZ

equipment — net B8 - ¥ 5 - -

Non-cash transaction (Note) IR 5 (HiE) - (8,908)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand ~ H&E¥3 - =R EREHE 2

equipment Fr8#R - -
Note: Btat -
During the year ended 31st March 2022, the Group disposed REBEE_T_—_F=ZA=+—HILHF
of its property, plant and equipment at HK$8,903,000 to an € - REE LAS,903,00058 7T A — 5 B
associate. The consideration is settled by the offset of amounts ERNRIHEEYE  BEKEE - K
due to associates of the Group. B AN S & A RFKIE -
30 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30 BEAREKIE
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the R ERRBETNVEREECER
reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows: AT :
2023 2022
—E-= —E——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Film and program rights, films in progress and B METEMRE - mRAF
deposits for film and program rights B NEERETE RE
we 48,397 1,919
Licenses hi 42 - 1,399
48,397 3,318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in other notes to the consolidated
financial statements, significant related party transactions,

31 EHEALRS

SR e M B RREMM TR EE
Sh o REBR B EXHBRETET

which were carried out in the ordinary course of the ZERBEEATRZUOT ¢
Group’s business, are as follows:
(a) Sales of services (a) SHERHE
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Rental income received/receivable from rental ~ HFRH A =¥ T B
of office premises to associates ENElzBUYrEMA
WA 1,311 1,311
Management fee income received/receivable B U eI — B N F)
from an associate 2 BEBERA 276 276

Sales of services are transacted at normal
commercial terms that are consistently applied to all

ﬁ%ﬁ’iﬂﬁﬁ“ﬂﬁzg%&f IS ﬁ*ﬁ_
B Z—REFGRTE

customers.
(b) Purchases of services (b) BERK
2023 2022
—E-= —ZE-—

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEr

Post-production and origination services B AT E AR
paid/payable to an associate 218 BBME RSB RS 3,347 4,835

Playout services paid/payable to an associate 21+, FEfT T — B & A 7]
Z PR 336 1,008

Other administrative costs paid/payable Bt/ AT — B E R F)
to an associate 2 HABITERAC A 221 484

Purchases of services are transacted at normal
commercial terms that are consistently applied to all

suppliers.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F
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32

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 31

(c) Other transactions

B B SRR Y R

EBREALTRZZ®
(c) Hit%5

2023 2022
—E-= —ZE——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&Er
Disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWS - WRREH
(Note 29(c)) (Kt:£29(c)) - 8,903

(d) Key management compensation

Key management personnel are deemed to
be the members of the Board of Directors of
the Group who have the responsibility for the
planning, directing, controlling and the execution
of the activities of the Group. Key management
compensation is disclosed in Note 35(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(e) Year-end balances

d EEEEASWE
AEBESTEXREBHERAREE
BIEANE WEEBASE
BR B RATAREZE
%o TBEEEABMEELES
B 7% ¥ 3R MY 5235 (a) ¢ BE ©

(e) FRERR

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FAET
Current liabilities wRBRE
Payables to associates FETHSE & R B IR (8,780) (13,710)
Amount due to a director of the Company i@ N/NE| —% BEX
| (2,284) (2,460)
Non-current liabilities (included in IEmBEREG AHEAM
other borrowings) BEE)
Amount due to an associate (Note 27(b)) FEATHSE & R | IR
( /f/¢5£27(b)) (25,000) (25,000)
Advance from the controlling shareholder JE A5 AR AR SRR IR
(Note 27(b)) (Ktat27(b) (24,525) (24,912)
DIVIDENDS 32 RE

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend in respect of the years ended 31st March 2023
and 2022.

EETERLKBEEE T -_=FK
—E-—HF=ZA=+—HBItFEZ

%8 o

Annual Report 2023 F%§

203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

33 GROUP STRUCTURE - PRINCIPAL 33 KEEBE-TENEAA

SUBSIDIARIES
Percentage of
Particulars of effective interest
Place of issued share capital/ held/controlled
Name incorporation Principal activities registered capital by the Group
rEERE/
BE AR ER
8 HMA LS TERHK BRARE/EREAFHE Aok
Shares held directly by the Company:
RAFERRERD
Mei Ah Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  Investment holding 50,050 ordinary shares of 2023: 100
US$1 each (2022: 100)
ERRRHS RERK 50,050R RAE1ETZ
Shares held indirectly by the Company:
FARBERERE
Cameron Entertainment Company Limited Hong Kong Production of films and 2 ordinary shares of 2023: 100
tele-features HK$1 each (2022: 100)
EEREERAT i TRt ARERAEIETL ZEZZF 0
il (2% :100)
MATV Limited Hong Kong Channel operations 4 ordinary shares of 2023: 100
HK$1 each (2022: 100)
ELERARAH i REEH ARERAEIETL ZEZZFE W
TR (ZB=ZF 100
Mei Ah (HK) Company Limited Hong Kong Provision of corporate 10,000 ordinary shares of 2023: 100
management services HK$1 each (2022: 100)
X0(EB)ARARA &b REGEERRE 10000 BHRAEBIAT, —FZ=F 100
R (CZ-F:100)
Mei Ah Film Production Company Limited Hong Kong Production of films and 2 ordinary shares of HK$1 2023: 100
tele-features each (2022: 100)
ELEYREBRAA & FAREE 2RERABIETL ZEZ=F 0
LER (ZZT=ZF :100)

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F



33

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GROUP STRUCTURE - PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
Name incorporation
&8 RaiTAR R
Mei Ah Investment Company Limited Hong Kong
FRNEREBRAA &b
Mei Ah Entertainment Productions Limited Hong Kong
ELEBREBRAT &k
EMELLEREBRAT Mainland China
(Note (c)(B1:t(c)
B
ELRBEALOLR)BRAH Mainland China
(Note (d)(H/é(d)
REAH
EORAYRERIRERAR Mainland China
(Note (d))(H1:2(d)
REA
EDFWRRERD A Mainland China
(Note (c))(H1:t(c))
B

B B SRR Y R

33 KELZB-TEMEAR®

Principal activities

IRER

Property investment

ESE

Concert performance

RIERENS
BEE

Property investment

ESES

Provision of services

Rt R

Cinema investment

Fhix&

Cinema investment

Fhixg

Particulars of

issued share capital/

registered capital

BRITRE/EMESFE

2 ordinary shares of HK$1

each and 500,000

non-voting deferred

shares of HK$1 each
ARERAEEIETL

L3 12500,0008

BREE1ATL
ERSRETRD

10,000 ordinary shares of

HK$1 each

10,000 FREE BT L

LER

RMB16,000,000

AR#16,000,0007

RMB10,000,000

AR 10,000,007

RMB20,000,000

AR #20,000,0007C

RMB3,000,000

AKH#3,000,00070

Percentage of

effective interest

held/controlled
by the Group
rEERE/
BH 2 BENRER
Btk

2023: 100
(2022: 100)

ZEZ=F 00
(ZE==F:100)

2023: 55

(2022: 55
e 0
e Stk )

2023: 70
(2022: 70
“EC=E0

2023: 100
(2022: 100)
= Sz
(ZZE==F :100)

2023: 100
(2022: 100)
ZEZ=F:100
(ZE=ZF 100

2023: 100

(2022: 100)
SBISE 0
(ZE==F:100)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

33 GROUP STRUCTURE - PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

33 KELZBE-TEMEAR @

Percentage of
Particulars of effective interest
Place of issued share capital/ held/controlled
Name incorporation Principal activities registered capital by the Group
rEEBE/
Bz ENES
2% Bl e TREH BRARA/HMEAHE BAL
BN ERERZHBRAR Mainland China Cinema investment HK$2,000,000 2023: 100
(Note (c)) (Hi(a) (2022: 100)
EI R PhiRE 2,000,000 “ECZE W
(ZB=ZF:100)
FOREERRHERDA Taiwan Sulo-licensing of fim rights 2,000,000 ordinary shares of 2023: 85
and channel operations ~ NTD10 each (2022: 85)
RiE SRBYMERFELEE 2000,000RFHRAE e St Y
1087 8% 2 LRk (ZBz=%:89)
FHEREFEAURERDA Mainland China Distribution of films RMB5,000,000 2023: 100
(Note (c)) (Hi(a) (2022: 100)
B At BIEY AR ¥5,000,000 7T e St 1)
(ZE=ZF:100)

Notes: HiaE -
(@  Other than EFIETEERFEAR AR, ERRMFZE AL @ KBREMEDASBZERAA XD

R)ERAR, EERBFREEEGER)ERAA, EEFMER
EVERAR], BMNHERBRREZHMAERART and ZEHEBRER
2170t R)EBR A A which operate in Mainland China, 3 ap 2
LezE RIS {7 AR A 7] which operates in Taiwan, all subsidiaries
principally operate in Hong Kong.

All subsidiaries listed above are limited liability companies.

Being sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises established
under Mainland China’s laws.

Being wholly foreign owned enterprises established under
Mainland China’s laws.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A

BRI OER)BERAF ~ X5
ERFREECGER)BERAA X5
FW(RB)ERAR - EMFTEER
BRERERABRETERELET
LR BRDBNRPEAMMEE : U
REGREFRBRNEBRARANEE
KEHN FEMBRARZEETEL

-

LRI EHB AR AERRF -

RIRBREARMERRILZFINEE
P

AIRE T B AR EK L ZINEEE
B -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 34 KRRz EEEBRREE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY BE
(a) Balance sheet of the Company (a) ALQFAZEEEEBR
As at 31st March
MR=A=+—H
2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M et FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries and NI Y58 3
amounts due from subsidiaries I EENETE S 577,637 582,060
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TERTRIE 351 351
Cash and cash equivalents RekERBEEEE 55 19
406 370
Total assets BEE 578,043 582,430
Equity =

Equity attributable to owners AAREEARLER
of the Company

Share capital & 23 118,475 118,475
Share premium % 5 (B 23 407,428 407,428
Reserves Gt Note (b)
Htat(b) 52,079 56,462
Total equity HER 577,982 582,365
Liability =R
Current liability REBEE
Other payables and accruals EMENRERERE
H 61 65
Total liability REE 61 65
Total equity and liability HEZREE 578,043 582,430
The balance sheet of the Company was approved AARIZEERBRRR-_ZZ
by the Board of Directors on 30th June 2023 and —FRNA=ZtHEESEZiH
were signed on its behalf. o WREEE -
Li Kuo Hsing Li Tang Yuk
=H B
Director Director
= ==
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of

At 1st April 2021

Loss for the year

At 31st March 2022

At 1st April 2022

Loss for the year

At 31st March 2023

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

the Company

R-ZZ-_—FHA—H

FREE

RZZE-_—_F=A=1+—H

RZZE-_—_FHA—H

FREE

RZE-_=F=A=+—H

34 ARFAIZEEEBRRER

LX)

(b) RRFRZFHERH

Share
redemption  Contributed Accumulated
reserve surplus losses Total
AR e MARE RitE#R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Note ()
(Hat()
12 235,020 (79,171) 155,861
- - (99,399) (99,399)
12 235,020 (178,570) 56,462
12 235,020 (178,570) 56,462
- - (4,383) (4,383)
12 235,020 (182,953) 52,079




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

34 ARAZEEEBRRER

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (Continued)

0

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the par
value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange for the issued share capital of the
subsidiaries and the net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired, the credit arising from
the reduction of share capital during the year
ended 31st March 1999 and the transfer from
share premium during the year ended 31st
March 2010. Under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus shall not be distributable if these are
reasonable grounds for believing that:

(1) the Company is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(2) the realisable value of the Company’s
assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium
account.

LX)

(b) ALQBRzREEEE(E

U)

KRB ZBABBRIEARR
AIABEN B A REETT
BRI EE 1T 2 I D EE R
FTUR BB B A R & EFE
ZERE  REBEE—NN
NEFE=ZA=+—HLFE
BB AR M E £ 2 E R &
RBE-_ZT—ZFF=H=
T—BLEFEEBRNRE
R c RIEBRE
—NN\—FRREEE
1) A AIEIEE A
ET38E - BIZA R
AT DR -

(1) RAFRE LR
A R R A R
B A M A
& %

@ ARBEBEEZAE
BEABEEMDR
HeEBERrREBET
B AR LA KB 15 s B
AR ZHBHN o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BRMEE

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

35 EERANKERS

=

DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=ME
The remuneration of all directors for the years ended BE_Z =K _F——
31st March 2023 and 2022 is set out below: “A=+t—HILFE2®E
ZHMESAT
22
-t

Name of Director

j £3:51

Executive directors &S

LiKuo Hsing ZHA

LiTang Yuk (Chief Executive Offcer) &8 (114

Dong Ming L

Independent non-executive BUFHES
directors

Lam Lee G, P

Guo Yan Jun JEE

Leung Tak Sing, Dominic 38

Ma Fung Kwok (Note (i)

Xu Lin (Note (i)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:

AEARREZ(FRATLTRENEL RN BREL IR ZME -
Other
remunerations
paid or receivable
in respect of
director's other
services in
connection with
the management
Employer's  of the affairs of

contribution to the Company

Discretionary ~ Allowance and aretirement  orits subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses  benefitsinkind  benefit scheme undertaking Total
E=hiEE
LS
HMEAT
Iz EBEMAMBE
BIKER  BXAUEKZE
ik Hé ML RERENAE BELE k) Eh
HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FEr FEr FiEr FEr FiEr FEr FEr
- 3,857 - - 18 - 3875
- 987 - - 18 - 1,005
- 1751 - - 11 - 1,762
80 - - - - - 80
80 - - - - - 80
80 - - - - - 80
80 - - - - - 80
27 - - - - - 27
1 6,505 - - 47 - 6,989

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 EAEBERA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Name of Director

ESfY

Executive directors #7ES

LiKuo Hsing it

Li Tang Yuk (Chief Executive Officer) ~ ZEB(TTRAR)

Dong Ming L

Non-executive director FuTEE

Alan Cole-Ford (Note (j) Alan Cole-Ford

(g

Independent non-executive BUknTES
directors

Lam Lee G. M52

Guo Yan Jun IHE

Leung Tak Sing, Dominic 23

Ma Fung Kok (Nots (i) S )

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of the Company or its subsicliary undertaking:

35 EETARER®

(a) EEME =

2022

—E——
=
PR S

AEABLES(NRRARATANBATXR BHE TR ME :
Other
remunerations
paid or receivable
in respect of
director’s other
senvices in
connection with
the management

Employer's of the affairs of

contribution to the Company
Discretionary Allowance and arefirement o its subsidiary
Fees Salary honuses benefits in kind benefit scheme undertaking Total
EERER
EHBAR
Efz FHEEZHESR
RIVER  EfalEKZE
ik - BEHL  REREDNE FIE 5 fh gz it
HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
- 3,99 - - 18 - 4013
- 952 - - 18 - 970
- 1,794 - - 18 - 1812
80 - - - - - 80
80 - - - - - 80
80 - - - - - 80
40 - - - - - 40
20 6,741 - - 54 - 7,075
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R R

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

()  Deceased on 11th July 2021

(i) Appointed on 1st October 2021

(i) Appointed on 1st December 2022

(iv)  None of the directors has waived any of their
emoluments in respect of the years ended 31st
March 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the years ended 31st
March 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 31st
March 2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available director’s services

During the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022,
no consideration was paid by the Company to third
parties for making available directors’ services.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

35 EET/ARER®

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEME @)

) R-ZE-_—F+A+—H
Bt

iy M-ZTZ—F+H—HE
ZE

iy R—T-Z—=—F+=-A—H
BEE

vy HESEREEE_T—
—ER-ZE-—_F=A=
+— B I FE Z E 7] B

AN
E o

EERAKER

BE" S =FK-"F——

“A=+—BItFE #HES
=B W ER 3k #5 W BUE {A] 3R Ik 48
F o

BEERILERN

B2 -_=FK=-_FT-_—F
“A=+—HBILFE WESE
=B YER KA WERE AT 42 IE 48
I o

NERUEERERE=F1E
HzRE
HEFT-_—FRk=-FT-__F
ZA=+—HLEFE XAF
B IR B E R RS M
F=AXNARE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a Rk M

35 EETARER®

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(e)

(f)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022,
there are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company has a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of 31st March 2023 and 2022 or at any time during
the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022.

(e)

(f)

BRUES E22EH%
EREEERARBAZE
o EERREMRE 2EHR

BE—_ZE_=Frx-_FT_—
“A=1T—HLFE  #\&)
B BEEXEHEERS
HERBAYHAZER £FH
HREMR PLHE -

EERRS  ZHHENFZ
EReilE

KRB EEMERKRRAFAET
VRZIBEZ=FRk T
—A=+—BE&B=ZEE"
T=FR-FT__F=R=
+—BIEFEEARERTNAE
BEHAEEEBBEE 2R
5 BRGNP EELIMEE
HEHEAFZ -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEMBEME

Results

Loss attributable to owners AN 2 TR A

of the Company

Assets and liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity

Year ended 31st March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E=—— —E- 4 —E-FTF —E—-hTF
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FHET
ES
FE(LEE (48,915) (39,232) (58,249) (97,188) (85,428)
As at 31st March
R=A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —FT-—fF ZLT-—F ZETZFF ZET-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT FEIT FHET FHET
EEHEE
BB E 688,100 757,196 780,897 866,909 798,987
FEN=RE (348,394) (388,318) (397,140) (428,014) (259,514)
B 339,706 368,878 383,757 438,895 539,473

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F



SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Address

b 3

Shop 2 on Ground Floor Po Sun Mansion No. 89 Bulkeley
Street Hung Hom, Kowloon
JUREAL Rl
B H 895k
EARE
N 25R AL

Workshop No. 5, Nos. 15-23 and 25-28 on 17th Floor Metro
Centre No. 32 Lam Hing Street Kowloon Bay, Kowloon
NENEE
B B 413255
EEPLITE
55% ~ 15-23%5% & 25-285% T 15

Workshop Nos. 1-2 on 10th Floor Metro Centre No. 32 Lam
Hing Street Kowloon Bay, Kowloon
NENFEE
[ B AT 3255%
ERP 10
1-255 L%

Factory Unit Nos. 23 and 24 on 5th Floor and Car Parking
Space No. V18 on Basement Kowloon Bay Industrial Centre
No. 15 Wang Hoi Road Kowloon Bay, Kowloon

NEESLEEE
= FIE 1655

BEETEAL
512235 K245k T M E AL
Ko b BB V1 85R Bz

Type

el

Commercial

[GES

Industrial

T

Industrial

T

Industrial

T

TEREBUWEHX

Percentage of

Lease term Group’s interests
rEEZ

HOFH EmEIL

Medium 100%

H Hf

Medium 100%

H A

Medium 100%

H Ef

Medium 100%

HHR
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

TEREWENX

Address
I HE
House No. 28 and Car Park Nos. 59 and 60 The Villa Horizon

No. 8 Silver Stream Path, Silverstrand Sai Kung,
New Territories

HAREE
RIREIR R LB
PS

285k FE B N 595k N 6055 FE (L

Units 801-814 on Level 8 of West Tower Yangcheng
International Commercial Center Tiyu East Road, Tianhe
District Guangzhou The People’s Republic of China

i AR HME
B
FAREE R
FHBEBREER L
FIIE8IZ801-814%

Units 2101-2106 on 21/F of Block 3 Zone A1 of Qi Dong

District Guan Yin Shan Guo Ji Shang Wu Ying Yun Zhong Xin

Si Ming District Xiamen

R A RAAE

=

B[R

BE LB @O
R ED[EAT 15
35%1E21/82101-21068 7T

Flat 1 on Level 3 No. 2 Hua Xiao Street Tianhe Ming Ya Court
Tianhe East Road, Tianhe District Guangzhou The People’s
Republic of China

I AR HAE
M
RO [ RO R
KA BB
BTN

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EEREEAKEHR A F

Type

el

Residential

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Residential

=

Percentage of

Lease term Group’s interests
rEEZ

HOFH EmEIL

Medium 100%

# 5

Medium 100%

H Hf

Medium 70%

H A

Medium 100%

f Ef



s= EORXSHSESRLE

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LTD.
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